Software Manual

Program EWS

Version 5.5

Calculation of Borehole Heat Exchangers



Arthur Huber

August 2022

Table of contents

| 1 | Soft | tware | Manual | .5 |
|---|-------------|-----------|---|----------|
| | 1.1 | Con | tent and use of the program EWS | .5 |
| | 1.2 | Wha | at is new about version 5.5 | . 5 |
| | 1.3 | Furt | her literature | .5 |
| 2 | Inst | allatio | on and licensing | .6 |
| | 2.1 | Svst | tem requirements | .6 |
| | 2.2 | Proc | aram deliverv | .6 |
| | 2.3 | Land | guage versions | 6 |
| | 24 | Proc | | 6 |
| | 2.4 | Inet | | . 0 6 |
| | 2.5 | Inote | | .0 |
| | 2.0 | Insta | | . / |
| | 2.7 | inpu | It of the license number | . / |
| 3 | Data | a inpi | ut | . 9 |
| | 3.1 | Basi | ics of the data input | . 9 |
| | 3.1. | 1 | Missing file "Lizenz.ews" | .9 |
| | 3.1. | 2 | Decimal points | .9 |
| | 3.1. | 3 | Default values | .9 |
| | 3.1. | 4 | Pull-down menus | .9 |
| | 3.2 | The | sheet "Boreholes" | 10 |
| | 3.2. | 1 | Selection of the borehole type | 11 |
| | 3.2. | 2 | Boreholes with double-U-pipes | 11 |
| | 3.2. | 3 | Coaxial pipe-systems | 12 |
| | 3.2. | 4 | Selection of the borehole configuration (single borehole or field of boreholes) | 13 |
| | 3.2. | 5 | Input of a particular g-function | 15 |
| | 3.3 | A fre | eely designed borehole configuration: The sheet "Field of boreholes" | 17 |
| | 3.3. | 1 | Inserting a background-map in 4 easy steps: | 18 |
| | 3.3. | 2 | Set coordinates on map | 19 |
| | 3.3. | 3 | Set, dislocate and delete boreholes in a field of boreholes | 20 |
| | 3.3. | 4 5 | Subsequent change of display size | 21 |
| | 3.3. | 5 C | Coloulation of a single barehole in a field of bareholes | 22 |
| | ა.ა. ა.ა | 0 7 | Neighboring boreholes and new borehole configuration in the Dre version | 22 22 |
| | ა.ა. ა.ა | / 0 | Display of ground temperature in the proversion | 23 24 |
| | 3.3. 2.2 | 0 | Location Marker and Neighboring Boreholes with different Load Profiles | 24 25 |
| | 0.0. | э ть - | cheet "Eluid" | -0 |
| | პ.4 ე∥ | i ne 1 | The temperatures in the undisturbed around | 20 |
| | ა.4. ე⊿ | ו כ | Automatically calculated borobole length | ≤1 20 |
| | 3.4. | 2 | | 20 |

| | 3.5 | The sheet "Info" | . 28 |
|---|-------------|--|-----------|
| | 3.6 | The sheet "Earth" | . 29 |
| | 3.6. | 1 Basic Inputs | . 29 |
| | 3.6. | 2 Input of multiple horizontal layers | . 31 |
| | 3.6. | 3 Physical properties of the earth input | .33 |
| | 3.6. | 4 Creation of a user defined geological library | . 34 |
| | 3.7 | The sheet "Extraction" | . 35 |
| | 3.8 | The sheet "Load" | . 37 |
| | 3.8. 20 | Creation of a load profile suggestion in the program EWS | .37 |
| | 3.0. 3.8 | Restoration of an existing borehole field | . 39 |
| | 2.0. | The sheet "Simulation" | . +0 |
| | 3.9 3.9 | 1 Show the sheet "Simulation" | .49 49 |
| | 3.9. | Input of the heat extraction rate and the borehole inlet temperature | . 50 |
| | 3.9. | 3 The active, additional cooling if freecooling is not sufficient | . 50 |
| | 3.9. | 4 Serial connection of boreholes or energy poles | . 50 |
| | 3.9. | 5 Antifreeze (minimal brine temperature) und bivalent heat pump systems | . 50 |
| | 3.9. | 6 The response test | . 50 |
| | 3.10 | The sheet "Water" (Groundwater influence) | . 52 |
| | 3.11 | The sheet "solar collector" (solar regeneration) | . 54 |
| | 3.12 | Dataexport to the program Polysun | . 58 |
| | 3.13 | The sheet "Pressure" | . 60 |
| | 3.14 | The sheet "Parameter" | . 63 |
| | 3.15 | Properties of the heat pump and of the supplementary heating system | . 64 |
| | 3.16 | Direct cooling | . 65 |
| 4 | Exa | mples | . 67 |
| | 4.1 | Selecting and loading the examples | . 67 |
| | 42 | Examples in the Program FWS | 67 |
| _ | | | 70 |
| С | | Discussions | .70 |
| | 5.1 | Diagram of the inlet and outlet temperature of the borehole fluid | .70 |
| | 5.2 | The diagram of the heat extraction rate | .70 |
| | 5.3 | Temperature course over entire simulation period | .71 |
| | 5.4 | Visualization of yearly course (last simulation year) | .72 |
| | 5.5 | Display monthly graphs | .72 |
| | 5.6 | The sheet "Results" | .73 |
| | 5.7 | Report Set Up (Windows 8, 8.1, 10) | .74 |

| 6 | / | ANNE | X A: Description of the model | 77 |
|---|---|--|--|--|
| | 6.1 | Si | mulation area | 77 |
| | 6 | 5.1.1 | The simulation of the time step | 78 |
| | 6.2 | 2 C | alculation grid | 79 |
| | 6.3 | в Н | eat Equation and the thermal response g | 80 |
| | (| 6.3.1 | Heat Equation | 80 |
| | (| 6.3.2 | The radial temperature funnel | 80 |
| | 6 | 6.3.3 | The dimensionless thermal response g | 81 |
| | (| 5.3.4 | The comparison of the models | . 82 |
| | 6.4 | I TI | ne calculation of the g-function with the principle of superposition | . 83 |
| | 6.5 | 5 TI | ne consideration of neighboring boreholes | . 83 |
| | 6.6 | 6 G | eothermal heat flux and temperature gradient | . 84 |
| | 6.7 | 7 TI | he borehole temperature T_b and the fluid temperature T_f | . 84 |
| | (| 6.7.1 | The fluid temperature T _f | . 85 |
| | 6.8 | 3 ТІ | nermal resistances R_a und R_b in the double-U-pipe | . 85 |
| | (| 5.8.1 | The internal borehole resistance Ra by Hellström [4] | . 86 |
| | | ~ ^ ^ | The berehole resistance P. by Hollström [4] | 86 |
| | (| 5.8.2 | | |
| | 6.9 | 5.8.2) TI | nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole | 87 |
| | 6.9 6.9 | 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 | nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a | 87 87 |
| | 6.9 6.9 (| 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 | Mermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b | 87 87 87 87 |
| | 6.9 6.9 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 | Me bolenole resistance R _b by Heistrom [4] nermal resistances R _a / R _b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R _a Modeling of the borehole resistance R _b eat load of groundwater flow | 87 87 87 87 |
| | 6.9 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 0 H | The borehole resistance R_b by Heistrom [4] mermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b meat load of groundwater flow me analytical borehole equation | 87 87 87 87 87 |
| | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2 71 5.9.1 6.9.2 0 H 1 T1 5.11.1 | The borehole resistance R_b by Heistrom [4] mermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b total of groundwater flow me analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances | 87 87 87 87 88 88 |
| |) 6.9 (6.1 6.1 ((| 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 5.9.2 0 H 1 TI 5.11.1 5.11.2 | The bolehole resistance R_b by Heistrom [4] nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b meat load of groundwater flow the analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 |
| | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 6.9.2 10 H 11 TI 6.11.1 6.11.2 6.11.3 | The bolehole resistance R_b by Heistrom [4] nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow the analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 89 |
| | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 1 TI 6.11.1 6.11.2 6.11.3 6.11.4 | The bolehole resistance R_b by Heistrom [4] nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow the analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 89 90 |
| | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 1 TI 6.11.1 6.11.2 6.11.3 6.11.4 6.11.5 | The borehole resistance R _b by Heistrom [4] hermal resistances R _a / R _b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R _a | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 89 90 90 |
| 7 | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 (((((((((((((((((((| 5.8.2) TI 6.9.1 6.9.2 1 TI 6.11.1 6.11.2 6.11.3 6.11.4 6.11.5 ANNE | The borehole resistance R_b by heistron [4] nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow ne analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) Thermal resistance of the earth R_g The analytical borehole equation X B: Input of a particular g-function | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 90 90 91 |
| 7 | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 7.1 | 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 5.9.2 10 H 6.11.1 6.11.2 6.11.3 6.11.3 6.11.5 ANNE E: | The bolehole resistance R_b by heistion [4] nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow ne analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) Thermal resistance of the earth R_g The analytical borehole equation X B: Input of a particular g-function | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 89 90 90 91 91 |
| 7 | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 7.1 | 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 5.9.2 10 H 1.1 5.11.2 5.11.3 5.11.4 5.11.5 ANNE LE: Table | The bolehole resistance R_b by Heiston [4] hermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow he analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) Thermal resistance of the earth R_g The analytical borehole equation X B: Input of a particular g-function tample 1: The input of a g-function by the values of the function | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 90 90 91 91 93 |
| 7 | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 7.1 7.1 8.1 | 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 5.9.2 10 H 1 TI 5.11.1 5.11.2 5.11.3 6.11.5 ANNE ANNE E: Table La | The bole for resistance R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b eat load of groundwater flow the analytical borehole equation The concept of thermal resistances Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator) Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole) Thermal resistance of the earth R_g The analytical borehole equation X B: Input of a particular g-function xample 1: The input of a g-function by the values of the function of symbols | 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 88 90 90 91 91 91 93 93 |
| 7 | 6.9 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 6.1 | 5.8.2) TI 5.9.1 5.9.2 10 H 1.1 5.11.1 5.11.2 5.11.3 5.11.4 5.11.5 ANNE E: Table La 2 G | The bolehole resistance R_b by heistion [4]. nermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole | 87 87 87 87 87 88 88 88 88 90 90 91 91 91 93 93 93 94 |

1 Software Manual

1.1 Content and use of the program EWS

The Basic version of the program EWS calculates the behavior of borehole heat exchangers. This is done by numerically solving the heat equation of the ground and the heat transfer from the boreholes. The program calculates the outlet and inlet temperatures as well as the heat extraction performance of the boreholes (single boreholes or fields of boreholes) with hourly resolution up to a period of 200 years. The program EWS allows to take into account all major influences. The ground can be vertically divided into maximum 10 layers with different types of ground materials and backfills, such as the corresponding properties. Since the program EWS is able to do unsteady calculations of the fluid, it offers the possibility to calculate "start-up processes" and "thermal response tests".

The Full extension version allows graphical input of fields of boreholes on imported schemes (cadastral maps, ground plots, district plans) and entire systems for direct cooling over borehole heat exchangers can be calculated. Based on the return temperature of the building's cooling system (TABS, cooling ceiling and ventilation), it is possible to simulate a hydraulic linking of the borehole heat exchanger with the ventilation or the hydraulic cooling system. Even simulations with complex ventilation schedules are feasible.

The Pro version allows consideration of groundwater influence, solar collectors and neighboring borehole heat exchangers.

1.2 What is new about version 5.5

Version 5.5 has brought, among others, following improvements:

- Free borehole arrangement for up to 150 boreholes (full extension) / 600 (Pro version)
- New, smaller borehole illustration with grids of 5m 50m for the illustration of entire district plans on the original plan (Pro version)
- Consideration of neighboring boreholes (Pro version) with same and different load profile
- Depiction of soil temperature for borehole fields and whole districts (Pro version)
- Display of borehole temperatures for borehole fields over the entire year for the whole simulation duration
- Influence of groundwater for one or two aquifers (Pro version)
- Solar borehole regeneration with thermal solar collectors (Pro version)
- · Double-paged, significant report of the simulation results
- Simulation of restoration measures for overexploited borehole fields
- Detailed pressure calculation of the borehole circuit

1.3 Further literature

During the elaboration of the program EWS it was paid attention highly to the fact, that users with no deeper comprehension of the models or numerical background, should be able to use the program. Hence a default value for each set of input is provided. In most cases these default values lead to reasonable results. The manual does not present all the models that are used in the code. But these models are published in very detailed manner (sometimes even with source code of the program) in scientific reports and publications (including validations). An overview of the publications can be found in the reference list. The program EWS contains the EWS module, which was supported by the Swiss Federal Office of Energy (ref. [5], [6], [9]).

2 Installation and licensing

2.1 System requirements

The following requirements must be fulfilled to ensure a smooth use of the program EWS on your personal computer:

- operating system: Windows 7 / Windows 8 / Windows 10
- free disk space: at least 100 MB
- screen resolution: at least 1024 x 768 pixel

2.2 Program delivery

For legal reasons the program EWS will not be delivered on a physical data medium. It can only be downloaded from the internet or sent by email. It must be unlocked with a license number (download: www.hetag.ch/download).

2.3 Language versions

The program EWS is available in different language versions (English, German, French, Italian, and Spanish). For loading the program EWS in languages other than German, the translation file "Sprache.ews" must be in the same folder as "Ews.exe". The language can be changed anytime by selecting the favored language in the pull-down menu "info".

2.4 Program licenses

The purchase of a program license entitles to install the program EWS on a single workstation of the customer. If the computer is used exclusively by one person, the license can also be installed on a second workstation (e.g. laptop or home PC) at no extra charge. When purchasing a replacement PC, a third license number can be applied for additionally, against payment of a rewriting fee.

In all other cases, supplementary program licenses must be purchased for additional installations. For additional licenses of the same client, there will be a 50% price reduction.

Program licenses are unassignable and must not be resold.

Schools and educational institutes get special conditions. Educational licenses are not allowed to be used for commercial calculations.

2.5 Installation Preparations

After the download of the program from <u>www.hetag.ch/download</u>, the downloaded file needs to be unzipped. The file "EWS.exe" with a torch on a blue background should appear. The EWS.exe file must be saved to a directory with full reading and writing permission (directories "C/program files" and "C/program files (x86)" often do not work since the user does not have full permissions).

2.6 Installation

The program EWS requires no installation. Just copy the file "Ews.exe" into your favored program folder on the computer. The program EWS can be unlocked by the entry of the license number. Thereby, 4 types of license numbers are distinguished:

- 1. license number for test version (4701)
- 2. license number for a Basic installation
- 3. license number for Full version
- 4. license number for Pro version

According to the license number a different functional range is available.

2.7 Input of the license number

The test version, the Basic version, the Full version and Pro version must be unlocked by the input of a license number. The corresponding procedure is described in the following:



Test version:

The word **"Probeversion"** must be written in the designated field instead of the company name to unlock the test version. The license number of the test version is **4701**.

| 🏸 Lizenznummer | |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| This program is licensed for: | |
| Probeversion | |
| Installation number | |
| | |
| Your license number: | |
| 4701 | |
| (number of trial version is 4701) | |
| | |
| Close Installation number | ОК |

The test version offers everybody the complete functional range of the full program version. But there are some restrictions to a part of entries that cannot be changed (e.g. length of the boreholes, substance properties).

Basic, full and pro version:

The installation number is shown by pushing the button "Installation number". This number has a particular and different value for each personal computer. This number has to be sent together with the name of the company by e-mail to *mail@hetag.ch*. The individual license number will be sent back to you within 48 hours.

| 📌 Lizenznummer | |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| This program is licensed for: | |
| | |
| Installation number | |
| 333333 | |
| Your license number: | |
| | |
| (number of trial version is 4701) | |
| Close Installation number | ок |

The license number and the company name should be entered into the designated fields. Keep the license number saved since after a certain time it might be necessary to enter the license number again.

| 🏸 Lizenznummer | |
|-----------------------------------|----|
| This program is licensed for: | |
| Huber Energie Technik AG | |
| Installation number | |
| 333333 | |
| Your license number: | |
| 888888888 | |
| (number of trial version is 4701) | |
| | |
| Close Installation number | ОК |

After the finalization of the installation it is necessary to do one calculation run with the program EWS by using its unchanged default values. Only now it is possible to move on to the data input.

3 Data input

3.1 Basics of the data input

3.1.1 Missing file "Lizenz.ews"

There is no license number entered yet (see chapter 2.7), if the following error message appears during the startup of the program.

| Warning | × |
|----------|---|
| <u>.</u> | Noch keine Lizenznummer eingegeben. Oeffnen Sie INFO! |
| | OK |

If you have already entered the license number and the error message still appears, please assure that the file "Lizenz.ews" is in the same folder as the program "Ews.exe". Is this not the case, copy the file "Lizenz.ews" into the current program folder or enter the license number once more according to chapter 2.7.

3.1.2 Decimal points

It is important that inputs are always entered with decimal points and never with decimal commas. All input information after a decimal comma is ignored by the program and may produce the error message "Floating point division by zero".



3.1.3 Default values

A default value is allocated for each parameter at the start up of the program. These values were chosen carefully with the aim to represent the most common and useful cases. Generally, the calculation can be made with the default value if a simulation parameter is unknown or its meaning is unclear.

3.1.4 Pull-down menus

Various input fields offer a pull-down menu as a help for the data input. Normally, several input parameters are set to the corresponding values by the selection of an option in the pull-down menu. Nevertheless, please note that these input values can still be changed manually, afterwards. In such a case it may happen that the input values do not agree anymore with the pull-down menu. The EWS Program deals with this inconsistency by using the manually entered values and by ignoring the pull-down selection.

→ Generally, the EWS Program does not calculate with the values from the selection in the pull-down menu, but always with input field associated to the input parameter. These input fields can be changed in every case, independently of the pull-down menu.

3.2 The sheet "Boreholes"

The number of boreholes, the borehole depth H, the type of the boreholes and their configuration can be defined on the sheet "Boreholes".

| eingabedaten EWS | × |
|---|---|
| ile Input Import Edition Windows Info | |
| Boreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4Extraction 5 Info Borehole configuration 1.7 Outer pipe diameter [m] 0.0320 Calculation 1.1 Image: State of the sta | - |
| Save 1.3 Number of boreholes 1 | |
| Results 1.4 Borehole depth 20.0 1.5 Borehole diameter 0.120 | |
| Dimensionless thermal response factor g | |
| 1.10 Boundary conditions with g-functions | |
| Close | |
| Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber 🔍 🔍 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich | • |

Fig. 3.1: The sheet "Boreholes" and its default values.

In field 1.4 you enter the depth of the boreholes and in field 1.3 the number of boreholes. Additional input fields appear (see Fig. 3.2), if more than one borehole is entered in the field 1.3. Now the borehole distance can be entered in field 1.6 and in field 1.11 it is possible to choose the borehole configuration.

| 🏓 Eingabedaten El | ws | |
|---|--|----------|
| File Input Import | Edition <u>W</u> indows I <u>n</u> fo | |
| | | ^ |
| Input | Foreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4 traction 5 Info | |
| Calculation | Borehole configuration 1.7 Outer pipe diameter [m] 0.032 32 mm double-U-pipe 1 9 Walk tickness of size [m] | 0 |
| Open | Typ Cooxial CU-pipe 1.9 Heat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] 0.40 | |
| Save | 1.3 Number of boreholes 2 | |
| Results | 1.4 Borehole depth 20.0 1.5 Borehole diameter 0.120 | |
| | 1.6 Borehole distance 10.00 B/H eff: 0.500 1.6a | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response factor g | |
| 1 | .10 Boundary conditions with g-functions | |
| 1 | .11 g-function: | |
| Greph of g-function 1.12 Greph of g-function | | |
| | Input g-function 1.13 C Yes C No | |
| Close | | |
| | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber 🔍 🔍 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich | _ |

Fig. 3.2: On the sheet "Boreholes", additional input fields appear, if 2 or more boreholes are entered in field 1.3

3.2.1 Selection of the borehole type

By selecting one of the options in the pull-down field 1.1 (see Fig. 3.3) the program automatically fills in the default values for the borehole type (double-U- or coaxial pipes, field 1.2), the borehole diameter [2 x r_1] (field 1.5), the outer pipe diameter [2 x r_s] (field 1.7), the wall thickness of the pipe [r_s - r_o] (field 1.8) and the heat conductivity λ_s of the pipe (field 1.9). But these parameters can still be adjusted manually.

| 🤌 Eingabedaten E | ws | |
|-------------------|---|----------|
| File Input Import | : Edition Windows Info | |
| | | <u> </u> |
| Input | Boreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4 traction 5 Info | |
| Calculation | Borehole configuration 1.7 Outer pipe diameter [m] [0.0320 32 mm double-U-pipe 18 Well thickness of pipe [m] [0.0320 | |
| Open | 25 mm double-U-pipe 1.9 Heat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] 0.40 | |
| Save | 40 mm double-U-pipe 1.1 | |
| Results | 63 mm coaxial pipes Geowatt 75 mm coaxial pipes Geowatt 80 mm coaxial pipes Geowatt 32 mm single-U-pipe 40 mm single-U-pipe | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response factor g | |
| 1. | 10 Boundary conditions with g-functions | |
| Close | | |
| | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber 💿 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich | |

Fig. 3.3: The sheet "Boreholes" with its options to choose in field 1.1.

Especially for the borehole diameter there can be bigger deviations from the default value, depending on the ground properties and the used drilling technology. Check the borehole diameter carefully (field 1.5).

3.2.2 Boreholes with double-U-pipes



The borehole disposition can be entered in the following manner:

- field 1.5 Borehole diameter = $2 \times r_1$
- field 1.7 Outer pipe diameter = 2 x r_s
- field 1.8 Wall thickness of the pipe = $r_s r_o$
- field 1.9 Heat conductivity of the pipe λ_s
- field 3.11 Shank spacing = Bu
- field 3.3 Heat conductivity of the filling λ_{Fill}

Fig. 3.4: Double-U-pipe nomenclatures.

 (\blacktriangleright)

3.2.3 Coaxial pipe-systems

The additional input fields 1.22, 1.23 and 1.24 appear if coaxial pipes are selected in field 1.2.

| Z, Englis cultur Er | ** | X |
|---------------------|---|---|
| File Input Import | Edition Windows Info | |
| Input | foreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4 Atraction 5 Info | |
| Calculation | 1.7 Outer pipe diameter [m] | |
| Open | 1.8 Wall thickness of pipe [m] 0.0030 1.2 Typ c coexial C U-pipe 1.9 Heat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] 0.40 | |
| Save | 1.3 Number of boreholes 1 For coaxial bareholes: | |
| Results | 1.4 Borehole depth 20.0 1.22 Diameter of inner pipe [m] 0.0250 | |
| | 7.5 Borehole diemeter [0.120] 7.23 Wall thickness of inner pipe [m] [0.0025] 1.24 Heat conductivity of inner pipe [W/mK] [0.4000] | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response factor g | |
| 1. | 10 Boundary conditions with g-functions C Yes C No | |
| Close | Programm FWS Lizenz für Huber - @Huber Energialachnik AG Zürich | |

Fig. 3.5: The sheet "Boreholes", selecting of coaxial pipes in field 1.2.



Fig. 3.6: Coaxial pipe nomenclatures.

The borehole disposition can be entered as following:

| field 1.5 | Borehole diameter = $2 \times r_1$ |
|------------|--|
| field 1.7 | Outer pipe diameter = $2 \times r_s$ |
| field 1.8 | Wall thickness of the pipe= $r_{\text{s}}-r_{\text{o}}$ |
| field 1.9 | Heat conductivity of the pipe λ_s |
| field 1.22 | Outer Diameter of the inner pipe = $2 \times r_a$ |
| field 1.23 | Wall thickness of the inner pipe = $r_{\rm a}-r_{\rm i}$ |
| field 1.24 | Heat conductivity of the inner pipe λ_w |
| field 3.3 | Heat conductivity of the filling λ_{Fill} |
| | |

| Input | Boreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4 Atraction 5 Info | | |
|-------------|---|----------------------------------|--------|
| Calculation | Borehole configuration 1.7 | Outer pipe diameter [m] | 0.0320 |
| Open | 1.2 Typ C coexial © U-pipe 1.9 | Heat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] | 0.40 |
| Save | 1.3 Number of boreholes | | |
| Results | 1.4 Borehole depth 20.0 1.5 Borehole diameter 0.120 | | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response factor g | | |

3.2.4 Selection of the borehole configuration (single borehole or field of boreholes)

Fig. 3.7: The Sheet "Boreholes" with its default values.

Each type of borehole configuration can be described by its dimensionless thermal response function g (see eq. 6.8). The program EWS sets the outer boundary condition of the simulation area to this thermal response. For single boreholes, a second possibility is the use of the analytical solution for infinite line sources, described by Carslaw & Jaeger [1] (see eq. 6.11). Field 1.10 defines which solution is applied. The program EWS sets the boundary condition with the g-function, if the field 1.10 is set to "yes", otherwise it uses the equation of Carslaw & Jaeger. The boundary condition calculated by Carslaw & Jaeger is only adequate for single boreholes and simulation periods up to the response time from eq. 6.12.

Once the entered number of boreholes (field 1.3) exceeds one, field 1.10 is set to "yes" and the boundary conditions are calculated with the g-functions of Eskilson ([2] and [3]). As a consequence the pull-down field 1.11 appears with a choice of the borehole configurations. There, B/H stands for the ratio of the borehole distance B and the borehole depth H.



Fig. 3.8: The sheet "Boreholes" with the borehole configurations to choose from in field 1.11.

Program EWS, Ver. 5.5

| In | the following | the options | for the borehole | e configuration in | field 1.11 | are explained: |
|----|---------------|-------------|------------------|--------------------|------------|----------------|
| | | | | 0 | | |

| "single borehole": | The g-function for single boreholes by Eskilson is used. |
|---|---|
| 1 x n boreholes, e.g. 1 x 4 boreholes: | i <mark>← B</mark> ∳ ∲ ○ ○ |
| • m x n boreholes, e.g. 2 x 3 boreholes: | |
| 3 boreholes in a triangle: | o ∳ ∲ ¦ < B |
| 7 boreholes in a L-shape: | B ↓ O O O O O |
| 12 boreholes in a square (around a building): | |
| 10 boreholes in a U-shape: | |
| "not defined": | Each borehole is calculated with the equations by Carslaw & Jaeger (eq. 6.11) (single infinite line sources). |
| "special input": | Description see chapter 3.2.5. |

Please pay attention to the following: The number in field 1.3 will not be adjusted automatically if the number of boreholes in the field 1.3 is not consistent with the selection in field 1.11! All calculations are always based on the value in field 1.3.

Each g-function is only valid for a specific ratio of the borehole distance B to the borehole depth H. If the effective B/H_{eff} ratio (field 1.6a) differs from the B/H value of the selected g-function, the g-function will automatically be extrapolated to B/H_{eff} . This extrapolation is based on findings from Huber & Pahud [6]. Since all extrapolations are afflicted to an uncertainty, always use the g-function with the B/H ratio closest to the effective value in the field 1.6a. This extrapolated g-function, which is used for the calculation, will be shown graphically by pressing the button 1.12.



Fig. 3.9: The Sheet "Boreholes" with the graph of the extrapolated g-function.

3.2.5 Input of a particular g-function

The EWS Program offers the possibility to enter a particular g-function as an alternative to the selection of a borehole configuration from the library (field 1.11). There is a number of published g-functions in the literature (e.g. [3]). Additionally, new g-functions can be interpolated from the existing library values. For instance, the borehole configuration 1 x 5 boreholes, if desired, can be interpolated to a sufficient accuracy from the borehole configuration of 1x 4 and 1 x 6 boreholes.

In the following, it is shown how the user can enter a particular g-function. This is only necessary, if the borehole configuration cannot be described by one of the options in the field 1.11. To enter a g-function, chose "special input" in the field 1.11 and then select "yes" in the fields 1.10 and 1.13. Thereafter, the fields 1.14 to 1.21 (see Fig. 3.10) appear on the right hand side.

| 📌 Eingabedate | n EWS | | |
|---------------|--|--|------------|
| Hie Ingut Imp | oort Ealtion <u>Wi</u> ndows I <u>a</u> to | | |
| Input | Boreholes Fluid Earth Extraction Info | | |
| Calculation | Borehole configuration 1.7 ou 1.1 32 mm double-U-pipe 18 w | ter pipe diameter [m] | 0.0320 |
| Open | 1.2 тур с coaxial с U-pipe 1.9 на | an unconess of pipe [M] eat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] | 0.40 |
| Save | 1.3 Number of boreholes 4 | | |
| Results | 1.4 Borehole depth 100 1.5 Borehole diameter 0.120 | | |
| | 1.6 Borehole distance 10.00 B/H eff. 0.100 1.6 | a | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response factor g | 1.14 # | o/H=0.0005 |
| | 1.10 Boundary conditions with g-functions | 1.15 In(t/ts) = -4 | 4.820 |
| | 1.11 g-function: Special input | 1.17 In(t/ts) = 0 | 6.290 |
| | Graph of g-function 1.12 Graph of g-function | 1.18 In(t/ts) = +2 | 6.570 |
| | Input g-function 1.13 C Yes C No | 1.20 Borehole distance of g-function | 6.600 |
| Close | | 1.21 в/н | 0.100 |
| | | | |
| | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber 🛛 © Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich | | |

Fig. 3.10: The Sheet "Boreholes" during the input of a particular g-function.

The fields 1.15 to 1.19 describe the g-function by giving the function values of the data points ln(t/ts) = -4, -2, 0, +2, +3. Published or self-calculated g-functions are always valid for a specific B/H ratio. The B/H ratio in the field 1.21 is calculated from the borehole distance B (field 1.20) and the borehole depth H (field 1.4). First, the field 1.21 must be harmonized with the B/H ratio of the favored g-function. This can be done by adjusting the borehole distance in field 1.20 (The borehole depth in the field 1.4 must not be changed). Thereafter, the function values of the favored g-function on the data points ln(t/ts) = -4, -2, 0, +2, +3 can be entered in the fields 1.15 to 1.19. The g-function is now completely defined by the fields 1.15 to 1.21.

Remarks:

- Field 1.14 shows the ratio of the borehole radius r_b and the borehole depth H. This ratio is 0.0005 for all g-functions in the program library (and for most of the published g-functions). It cannot be changed and it is published for the sake of completeness.
- It is still the effective ratio B/H_{eff} from the field 1.6a (and not the B/H ratio from the field 1.21) that defines the result of the calculation. During the next calculation, the EWS Program will automatically extrapolate the entered g-function to the effective B/H_{eff} ratio.
- If the g-function was entered under "special input" in the field 1.11 as described above, this g-function can be saved and later be reloaded from the option "special input".
- More detailed information about the g-function can be found in the ANNEX.

3.3 A freely designed borehole configuration: The sheet "Field of boreholes"

Only in the Full version (and Pro version) of the program EWS, an additional, smart option is offered to enter any kind of borehole configurations in a field. To take advantage of this option choose "Field of boreholes" in the menu "Input" (see Fig. 3.11).

| 2 E | ingabedaten EW | IS | | | | | | |
|------------|-----------------|-----------------------|------------------------|---------------|-------------------------|--------------|----------------------------------|--------|
| File | Input Import | Edition Win | idows Info | | | | | |
| | Boreholes | | | | | | | |
| | Fluid | | | | | | | |
| | Earth | | Fluid Earth | Extraction | Info | | | |
| - 1 | Simulation | | | | | | | |
| | Baramotor | | e configuration | | | | Outer pipe diameter [m] | 0.0320 |
| | Info | | | | - | | Mellikisha an afaina fail | 0.0020 |
| | Ventilation sch | edule | | | | | wai thickness of pipe [m] | 0.0030 |
| | Direct coooling | , | C coaxial | O U-nine | | | Heat conductivity of pipe [W/mK] | 0.40 |
| | Heat pump | | | | | | | |
| il | pressure drop | | of boreholes | 1 | | | | |
| il 👘 | Dec | | e depth | 20. | 0 | | | |
| 1 | Held of borend | vies vielo a field | e diameter | 0.1 | 20 | | | |
| | | |] | 1 | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | |
| | | Dimensio | onless thermal res | sponse factor | g | | | |
| 1 | | D | | | | | | |
| 1 | | Boundar | / conditions with g-tu | nctions | Yes | C No | | |
|] | | a-function | 1 Special input | | | | - | |
| | | 5 | Topecial input | | | - | | |
| | | Graph of | q-function | | Graph c | f a-function | 1 | |
| | | | - | | | | | |
| | | Input | a-function | | O Yes | | | |
| 1 | | | - | | | C.191 | | |
| | Class | | | | | | | |
| | 0058 | | | | | | | |
| | | Programm F | WS Lizenz für Hubo | r © Huber En | orgiotochnil | AG Zijrich | | |
| | | , logiaintiti E | wo, cizenzi ur Aube | - Whitehen | orgieleunni | CAG, Zurich | | |
| | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 3.11: The selection of the sheet "Field of boreholes" in the menu "input"

The Full version of the program EWS now shows the sheet "Field of boreholes" with a grid. The distance between two grid lines is one meter. Every ten meters there is a thicker grid line. The grid lines correspond to a net of coordinates in which the left, upper corner has the coordinates 0/0.



Fig. 3.12: The Sheet "Field of boreholes" with the grid (1 line per meter).

Inserting a background-map in 4 easy steps: 3.3.1

In the Full version of the program there is the possibility to insert a background-map. This map can be scaled. The picture of the map has to be in the BMP-format and must be stored in the clipboard first (e.g. by getting a "print screen" of one of the existing GIS-browsers) and can then be pasted into the sheet "field of boreholes" by pressing on the middle mouse button (mouse wheel). Macusers (no mouse wheel), may choose "Mac" by clicking Info in the main menu: This will add a button "Clipboard in the Field of Boreholes. In the next step the grid must be scaled to fit to the inserted map. To do so, with the button S8 ("scale") a well-known distance can be inserted in field S9 and defined on the map by marking the starting point Mp1 and the ending point Mp2 with the left mouse button. With the buttons S6 and S7 the map and the grid finally can be set to the favored size on the screen. Now we are ready to define the positions of the borehole as described in 3.3.2. As soon as the first borehole is set, the background map cannot be changed any more. In the following pictures the 4 steps to insert a background map are shown in detail:



Fig. 3.13: 1. step: Store an appropriate map in Fig. 3.14: the clipboard (e.g. by getting a print screen of one of the existing GIS-browsers as www.gis.zh.ch)



Fig. 3.15: 3. step, scaling the map: Choose 2 Fig. 3.16: well known points on the map, define the distance Finalize this step by just clicking into the map.



2. step: By pressing the middle mouse button / mouse wheel into the sheet "field of boreholes" the clipboard is pasted on the screen.



4. step: With the buttons S6 and S7 the map and the grid finally can be set to the favored size of these 2 points (field S9) and mark the 2 points on the screen. Now insert the borehole positions as by pressing the left mouse button on this points. described in 3.3.2. Note: As soon as the first borehole is set, the map cannot be changed anymore!

3.3.2 Set coordinates on map

It is possible to define an own coordinate grid, if a background map was provided (according to chapter 3.3.1). To do so, one must choose the button **S27** "Reference". Two fields with the abscissa (x-axis) and the ordinate (y-axis) appear. These can be changed by the user and the defined reference point can be placed on the map by a left mouse click.



Fig. 3.17: The sheet "Field of boreholes" with the option to set an own coordinate grid.

Now boreholes can be placed according to chapter 3.3.3. The coordinates of the placed boreholes will be defined relatively to the appointed coordinate grid and their position can be exported for subsequent reproduction.



To save the borehole positions, on must exit the field of boreholes window and click the "Import" from the main menu, to then choose "Export borehole locations" and save this file to an appropriate folder.

The location file can later on be imported ("Import" from main menu and "Import borehole locations") in a different EWS project with a different grid background or plan (chapter 3.3.1), before the boreholes are placed. The new reference point must be set to be the same as the original reference point placement, in order to secure the correct borehole placement.

3.3.3 Set, dislocate and delete boreholes in a field of boreholes

It is possible to freely arrange up to 150 boreholes (600 in the Pro version) on a field of boreholes by clicking with the left mouse button. Directly below each of the boreholes appears the borehole number (counting up from 1 in the order of the borehole placement), followed by the x-coordinate and the y-coordinate of the borehole. The x-coordinate and the y-coordinate correspond to the distance in meter from the left, upper corner of the grid. With the button **S4** the grid spacing can be changed from 1 m to 10 m. Each borehole can be set with a precision of 10 cm and can be **dislocated** with the mouse anytime. To dislocate the borehole, select the centre of the borehole with the **left mouse button** and dislocate it, still keeping the left mouse button pressed. It is also possible to **delete** boreholes. To do so, select the centre of the borehole with the **right mouse button**. Thereby, the corresponding borehole disappears. Immediately, all other boreholes are newly numerated.

Clicking on the button **S3**, 3 concentric circles around each borehole appear, whereof the colors give a hint about the g-value of the field of boreholes: Red indicates a high g-value and blue stands for a low value. The color scale is not an absolute scale but a relative one: The highest value in the field of boreholes always has the same red while the lowest value has the same blue. The colors give a hint about the relative distribution of the temperature in the ground around the borehole.

It is possible to zoom in (button **S7**) and to zoom out (button **S6**) of the borehole field if the field of boreholes is bigger than the displayed range. Thereby, the left, upper corner always keeps the coordinate 0/0. The button "delete" (**S5**) deletes **all** boreholes.

By pressing the button **S2** the whole sheet can be copied into the clipboard and thus be used for reporting in other programs, such as Word. The sheet "Field of boreholes" can be quit with the button **S1**, whereby all input data will be saved (number of boreholes, coordinates of the boreholes, distances of the boreholes, g-function). The values of the g-function are transferred to the fields 1.15 to 1.19 of the sheet "Boreholes" and can be checked there.



Fig. 3.18: The sheet "Field of boreholes" with 21 boreholes. The "blue" boreholes give a higher yield, the "red" boreholes give a lower yield.

3.3.4 Subsequent change of display size

If different PCs with different display resolutions are used on the same project, it is possible that the size of the background map needs to be adjusted.



Fig. 3.19: Display of a background map that is too small

In this case the project must be saved and the program EWS closed. In a second step the project must be reopened. In the sheet "field of boreholes" two scaling buttons appear after double-clicking on the map. Sometimes this adds an additional borehole, which can be deleted as described in section 3.3.3 with a right mouse-click and simultaneous dragging.



Fig. 3.20: Scaling the background map with the scaling buttons (arrow buttons).

3.3.5 Optimization of borehole fields

The procedure of the optimization of a field of boreholes shall be illustrated on a example with 5 x 10 boreholes. The blue colored boreholes have the highest yield. Boreholes with lower yields (they are located in the centre of the field where the heat hardly flows to) are purple at the borders and dark red in the centre. The **button 1.12** shows a graph of the g-function which makes the difference easily visible: The g-function can be reduced by 8% with the relocation of the 4 central boreholes. This means that the borehole temperature in the balance condition in the right example will sink 8% less, than the one on the left.



Fig. 3.21: The comparison of 2 borehole fields with 50 borehole of 100m depth and 10m distance.

3.3.6 Calculation of a single borehole in a field of boreholes

There exists the possibility to calculate the g-function of a single borehole in a field of boreholes (see Fig. 3.22) if the borehole field was defined according to the description in chapter 3.3.



Fig. 3.22: The calculation of a single borehole in a field of boreholes.

3.3.7 Neighboring boreholes and new borehole configuration in the Pro version

In the Pro version there is the possibility to consider neighboring boreholes. Thereby the program EWS assumes that the neighboring boreholes have the same thermal load as the ones being used in the present project. The description of the calculations is in Chapter 6.5.

Button **\$10**, called "Neighbor", appears only when a map is inserted according to chapter 3.3.2 in the pro-version. Clicking this button switches you to the "neighbor mode". In this mode all the added boreholes are marked yellow, as neighboring boreholes. Neighboring boreholes do not belong to the present project, but affect the g-function and the calculation result. By pressing the button "Neighbor" again, the mode is set back to normal and boreholes of the present project can be added again. Neighboring boreholes can be moved and deleted just as normal boreholes.



Fig. 3.23: Input of neighboring boreholes (yellow) in the pro-version

In the pro-version an additional display format was implemented, which is suitable for mapping entire districts with up to **600 boreholes**. In this new display format, the boreholes are smaller. The coordinates of each borehole are now only shown when a borehole is being moved with the mouse. The borehole number can be enabled or hidden by pressing button **S18**. The new display format can be activated by choosing the grid size of 5m to 50m with the buttons **S11 up to S17**. The chosen grid size is marked in bold on the corresponding button (S11 to S17).

3.3.8 Display of ground temperature in the pro-version

In the Pro version of EWS, the cooling down (or warming up) of ground temperatures after 50 years in the yearly average can be displayed. Color-wise, a cooling down and a warming up are displayed equally. The seasonal temperature fluctuations near the boreholes, which result from the load profile throughout the year, are not displayed. The fine, black lines mark isothermal lines, the difference between these lines amounts to 1°K temperature difference. The color scale can be set with the buttons **S20 to S26**. Ground temperatures can only be shown, if a map was previously provided as described in chapter 3.3.1. With the button **S27** a continuous fading of the map and of the temperature fields can be set.



Fig. 3.24: Display of ground temperatures after 50 years in the Pro version.

Ground temperatures can only be displayed correctly, if previously the borehole field was calculated with the correct load profile. For this purpose the sheet "Field of Boreholes" must be properly closed with the button S1 after finishing the placement of the boreholes and a new calculation must be carried out. After this the sheet "Field of Boreholes" can once again be opened (see Fig. 3.11). The desired grid size can now be chosen (S11 – S17) and then with the buttons S20 to S26 the ground temperature can be calculated and displayed. Buttons S20 through S26 differ only by the displayed color scale. By pressing button S19 or by changing the grid size, one returns back to the plan view. Attention: The use of screenshot-tools (e.g. SnippingTool) is not supported and can lead to a black screen. We advise the use of the "Copy"-button S2 or the "screenshot-function" of Acrobat Reader.

3.3.9 Location Marker and Neighboring Boreholes with different Load Profiles

If the ground temperature is chosen (Pro version), one can set a location marker with **Button S28** and a mouse-click on a chosen location. A red point appears on this location with the marker "Stao", followed by the coordinates and the temperature cooling after 50 operation years. This is possible as well, in the continuous fade mode (**Button S27**).



Fig. 3.25: Setting the Location marker S28 and display of the temperature cooling after 50 years.

If the marker is set, the yearly temperature cooling at this location can be exported in a file named "Stao.ews". For this, leave the sheet "Field of Boreholes" and on the Menu bar select *Import -> Export Temp Stao*. By doing this, the file "Stao.ews" is written and saved. This is a text file and can be opened with any text editor or Excel.



Fig. 3.26: Export of the temperature cooling at the location of the Stao Marker into the file "Stao.ews"

For a new project planned at the location of the marker, one can now consider the influence of neighboring boreholes by importing the file Stao.ews (*Menu bar -> Import -> Import Temp Stao*). The temperature marginal condition for the simulation subtracts the yearly temperature cooling (4th column in the file Stao.ews), thus, accounting for the influence of neighboring boreholes. The influence of neighboring boreholes with different load profiles and different operation beginnings, can be considered by superposition of the values in the 4th column of the "Stao.ews" file.

3.4 The sheet "Fluid"

The data about the borehole fluid and filling can be entered in the sheet "Fluid".

| 🧷 E | Eingabedater | EWS | | _ & × |
|------|-----------------------------|--|---|-------|
| Fiļe | In <u>p</u> ut <u>I</u> mpo | rt <u>E</u> dition <u>W</u> indows I <u>n</u> fo | | |
| | Input | Boreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth Extraction 5 | Info | |
| | Calculation | 2.1 Properties of fluid: | monoethylenglykol 20% 0°C | |
| | Open | 2.2 Heat conductivity of fluid [W/mK] | 0.50 | |
| | | 2.3 Density of fluid [kg/m3] | 1037 | |
| _ | Save | 2.4 Heat capacity of fluid [J/kgK] | 3905 | |
| | Results | 2.5 Kinematic viscosity of fluid [m2/s] | 0.0000035 | |
| | | Mass flow rate in all boreholes: | | |
| | | 2.6 Temperature difference in-out [K] | 3.0 Mass flow rate [kg/s] 0.080 2.7 | |
| | | Temperatures in the undisturbed earth: | Temperature profile in the earth? O Yes @ | i No |
| | | 2.8 Annual mean air temperature [°C] | 9.0 2.13 | |
| | | 2.9 Additional warming of the surface [*C]: | 0.8 | |
| | | 2.10 Temperature gradient in the earth ["C/m] | 0.030 | |
| | | 2.11 Calculate borehole depth | C Yes @ No | |
| | Close | 2.12 Minimal borehole inlet temperature = | 3.0 °C | |
| | | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber Energietechnik | © Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich | |

Fig. 3.27: The sheet "Fluid".

- field 2.1 By selecting one composition of the fluid in the pull-down field 2.1 all corresponding data (the heat conductivity, the density, the specific heat capacity and the kinematic viscosity of the fluid) are inserted automatically. If the used fluid is not listed in the pull-down field 2.1, there is the possibility to select "not defined" and to manually enter the values of fields 2.2 to 2.5.
- fields 2.6/2.7 The required input in field 2.7 is the designed mass flow rate (cumulated mass flow of all boreholes together). If this mass flow rate is unknown, there is the possibility to enter the temperature difference between the borehole inlet and the borehole outlet temperature in field 2.6. Immediately, the program adjusts the mass flow rate (field 2.7) using eq. 3.1 and the inputs of the heat extraction rate (field 4.4), based on the temperature difference (field 2.6) and the heat capacity of the fluid (field 2.4). It is important to know that the program does all calculations using the value of the mass flow rate (field 2.7). The value in field 2.7 can be changed anytime without causing an adjustment of other variables, while changes of the other variables (fields 2.4, 2.6, 4.4) result in an adjustment of the mass flow rate.

$$\dot{m} = \frac{Q}{\Delta T \cdot c_p}$$
 eq. 3.1

Hence, it is possible that the four variables are inconsistent and do not fulfill eq. 3.1 if the last of the four entries concerned is in field 2.7. In such a case the program neglects the entry in field 2.6 and calculates with the value of the field 2.7. But be aware that if the heat extraction rate (field 4.4) is entered after the designed mass flow rate (field 2.7), the program adjusts the value of the field 2.7 and no longer calculates with the desired mass flow rate. Thus, check the mass flow rate after the three other variables are entered and correct the value, if necessary. It is recommended always to enter the designed temperature difference (field 2.6).

3.4.1 The temperatures in the undisturbed ground

There are 2 methods to insert the data for the undisturbed temperature in the ground (starting condition for the simulation):

1. Entering the annual mean air temperature (field 2.8), the additional warming of the surface (field 2.9) and the temperature gradient ΔT_{Grad} in the ground depth (field 2.10). With the mean air temperature, the dependency on altitude must be taken into account (reduction of some 0.47K per 100m higher altitude). The mean air temperature and the additional warming of the surface are simply added in the program. For the temperature gradient ΔT_{Grad} , the geothermal heat flux \dot{q}_{geo} and the thermal conductivity of the earth λ_{Earth} exists the following correlation:

$$\dot{q}_{geo} = \lambda_{Earth} \cdot \Delta T_{Grad} \quad [W/m^2]$$
 eq. 3.2

2. Directly entering the temperature profile in the undisturbed ground in a maximum of 10 points (fields 2.15). The surface temperature will in this case be extrapolated linearly out of the first two inserted values and the temperature in the depth out of the last two inserted values.

To change from method 1 to method 2, field 2.13 must be set to "Yes". In this case, the input fields 2.8 - 2.10 will disappear and the fields 2.15 and button 2.14 ("Graph") will appear instead. With these, the temperature profile in the earth can be defined.



(Example from a measurement of Dr. U. Schärli / E. Rohner [19]).

3.4.2 Automatically calculated borehole length

The program EWS is able to automatically calculate the necessary borehole length according to the norm SIA 384/6 [23], [24]. To do so, the simulation period in field 4.8 or field 10.15 has to be set to **50 years** and the minimal borehole inlet temperature in **field 2.12** and the temperature difference over the borehole in **field 2.6** have to be set according to the norm SIA 384/6 (minimal mean temperature of the brine must add up to -1.5°C, e.g. minimal borehole inlet temperature in **field 2.12** set to -3.0°C and the temperature difference in **field 2.6** set to 3.0 K). To start the calculation, the **field 2.11** must be set to "Yes" and the calculation can be started with the button "Calculation". The program EWS now calculates the minimal borehole length with which the imposed conditions are respected. The resulted length can be read in **field 1.4**.

3.5 The sheet "Info"

This sheet helps to specify the project, to describe the variant and to name the author as well as to add some remarks (**Buttons 5.1-5.4**). This project description also appears on the Report-print (see chapter 5.7). Additionally, using **Button 5.5**, an image in JPG or BMP format can be uploaded. Alternatively, with **Button 5.6**, an image in image in the clipboard can be pasted. The image appears in the report as well, which can be started with **Button 5.7** (only Windows 8, 8.1 or 10)

🥖 Eingabedaten EWS File Input Import Results Windows Info example 5 1 Earth Info Extraction Boreholes Fluid Project info 5.2 Example Report in Program EWS, Version 5.3 Input Description 5.3 Heat Demand 8 kW, 190m x 40mm duplex Author Calculation 5.4 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zuerich Comment 5 5 mage imported Open Picture (*.JPG / *.BMP) 5.6 Save Clipboard 5.7 Results Print **XIX AND** AAA The seal Close Programm EWS, Lizenz für Arthur Huber C Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich

Programm EWS, Lizenz für Artnur Huber Pluber Einergietechnik /

Fig. 3.29: The sheet "Info".

3.6 The sheet "Earth"

On the sheet "Earth" the thermal properties of the ground and the filling material can be defined. Furthermore, the number of horizontal layers in the earth are defined on this sheet (field 3.1, maximum 10 layers). The thermal borehole resistances R_a and R_b are entered in the fields 3.4 and 3.5. If the borehole resistances are unknown, they can be calculated from the borehole geometry and the properties of the filling material using two methods (see chapter 6.8). The relevance of the borehole resistances is described in [13].

3.6.1 Basic Inputs

| | Boreholes Fluid Earth Extraction | Info | |
|------------|--|---|--|
| Input | Number of horizontal layers: 1 3.1 | External earth data SwEWS 3.11 | Borehole resistances Pipe distance ('Shank spacing') 0.080 [m] |
| alculation | Properties of the earth: | Properties of the filling: | Contact resistance Rd 0.000 [mK/W] |
| Open | 3.2 λ[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 2.40 2600 1000 | 3.3 λ[W/mK] ρ[kg/m3] cp [0.81 1180 304 | J/kgK] Ra (mK/W] Rb (mK/W) Rc (mK/W) 0 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 |
| Save | 3.7 | a la contra contra | |
| Results | C Non equal layers C Inhomogeneous earth | 3.9 C Inhomogeneous filling | 3.10 (* Model of Helistrom C Input of thermal resistances |
| 3.14 | Image: Key mark P cp real [kg/m3] [J/kgK] bis 20.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 3.19 3.16 3.17 3.18 | _ | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |

Fig. 3.30: The sheet "Earth" (with a single, horizontal layer).

3.1

First, the user defines the number of horizontal layers in the earth. The calculations are executed using equal layers (see below). Calculations with only one horizontal layer (and averaged properties) save computing time but provide less accurate results (because of the coarse calculation grid). Nevertheless, this is often precise enough for boreholes up to a depth of 100 m or for a first, rough dimensioning.

Due to numerical reasons the program EWS internally calculates with a uniform calculation grid in the vertical direction of the boreholes, even if in field 3.7 unequal layers are selected (which is possible only in the full version of the program). The program EWS than internally averages the physical properties of the earth for every vertical calculation layer (field 3.14 - 3.19). The averaging is done prior to every calculation run. Thus, even in the case of a variation in the borehole depths, there is no need for adjustments of the earth's definition.

3.2 "Properties of the earth": The averaged physical properties of the earth (heat conductivity λ [W/mK], density ρ [kg/m³] and specific heat capacity cp [J/kgK]) can be entered in the field 3.2 if in the field 3.7 "equal layers" and in the field 3.8 "homogeneous earth" are selected. In this case, the values are transferred automatically to the fields 3.16 - 3.18. The program EWS always computes internally with the values from the fields 3.16 - 3.18. If the user adjusts the values in the fields 3.16 - 3.18 in a later phase, it might happen that the inputs (field 3.2 and fields 3.16 - 3.18) are no longer consistent. In such a case, the values in the field 3.2 are ignored and they are adjusted in the next calculation run.

Furthermore, the program EWS calculates the arithmetic mean of the "properties of the earth" for the whole borehole depth during each run. The results are showed after the run in field 3.2.

Hence, on the one hand, fields 3.2 are an input assistance and on the other hand they are an output field for the arithmetic mean of the physical earth properties for the whole borehole depth. In no case a further calculation is made with these values.

- 3.3 In field 3.3 the "properties of the filling" (heat conductivity λ [W/mK], density ρ [kg/m³] and specific heat capacity cp [J/kgK]) can be entered if in field 3.9 "homogenous filling" is selected (what usually is the case) or if the calculations are done with a single horizontal layer. The "properties of the filling" are used for the calculation of the thermal borehole resistances R_a and R_b (see chapter 6.8).
- 3.13 The contact resistance R_d is an additional resistance between the borehole hole and the filling. The value of R_d is always added to the value of R_b .
- 3.4 3.6 The borehole resistances R_a , R_b , R_c can be found in the fields 3.4 –3.6. The definition of the resistances R_a , R_b , R_c are given in chapter 6.8.

The default setting of the program EWS calculates the borehole resistances with the equations given by Hellström (see chapter 6.8, option field 3.10). In this case the inputs in the fields 3.4 - 3.6 are ignored (there is no need for an input). The borehole resistances are calculated prior to each run using the equation by Hellström and considering the properties of the filling material (field 3.3), the mass flow rate in the code case (field 2.7) and the distance between the pipes in the borehole (field 3.12). The calculated values for R_a, R_b and R_c are showed in the fields 3.4 - 3.6 after each run.

The internal resistance R_a (field 3.4) and the resistance of the borehole R_b (field 3.5) can be entered if in the field 3.10 "Input of thermal resistance" is selected. In this case R_c (field 3.6) must be set to zero. Otherwise the value for R_c (field 3.6) is used to calculate R_b (eq. 6.33) and the input of R_b will be replaced by this new R_b . In case of any adjustment of the mass flow rate (field 2.7), R_a and R_b (but not R_c) are set to zero and recalculated with the new mass flow rate (eq. 6.33), since R_a and R_b depend on the flow velocity of the fluid (by the heat transfer rate α). The detailed calculation and all possible options are given in [5].

- 3.10/3.12 There is no need to enter the values of the thermal resistances in the field 3.4 3.6 if "Model of Hellström" in field 3.10 is selected. In this case, the program EWS calculates the thermal resistances in the next run. But the distance between the upgoing and down-going pipe (shank spacing, field 3.12) must be entered (see chapter 3.2.2) using the "Model of Hellström". Generally, the default value for the pipe distance can be used. The default value for the pipe distance is calculated from the borehole diameter and the pipe diameter under the assumption that the pipes are placed at the borehole's wall. However, a later adjustment of the borehole diameter is not automatically considered for the pipe distance.
- 3.11 With button 3.11 earth data of the Swiss molasses basin can be imported from the program SwEWS [11].

Caution: The number of horizontal layers must always be entered before property data from a SwEWS are imported.

3.6.2 Input of multiple horizontal layers

The earth is divided into multiple horizontal layers by entering the corresponding number (>1) in field 3.1 (see Fig. 3.31). The maximal number of layers which can be defined is 10. The layers are equally spaced if "equal" is selected in field 3.7. The option "unequal" in field 3.7 must be selected to enter layers with variable depths (**available only in the full version**). The selected number of layers also corresponds to the number of layers in the numerical calculation but these layers are always equally spaced over the borehole depth (see chapter 3.6.1). The depth of the deepest geological layer must always be \geq the borehole depth.

| Number of horizontal layers: 6 3 | External earth data Borehole resistances |
|---|---|
| | 3.11 Pipe distance 0.080 [m] 3 SwEWS ("Shank spacing") 0.080 [m] 3 |
| Properties of the earth: | Properties of the filling: Contact resistance Rd 0.000 [mK/W] 3.4 3.5 3.6 |
| 3.2 λ[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 2.40 2600 1000 | 3.3 λ[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Ra [mK/W] Rb [mK/W] Rc [mK/W] 0.81 1180 3040 0.000 0.000 0.000 (f) unknown, leave blank] (f) unknown, leave blank] (f) unknown, leave blank] (f) unknown, leave blank] |
| C Equal latters 3.7 | 3 9 • Homogeneous filling 3 10 • Model of Hellström |
| Non equal layers | C Inhomogeneous filling C Input of thermal resistances |
| λ [W/mK] P cp Depth real [kg/m3] [J/kgK] 20.0 m 12.400 2000 | |
| 60.0 m 2.40C 2600 1000 | |
| 90.0 m 2.40C 2600 1000 | |
| 120.C m 2.40C 2600 1000 | |
| 150.C m 2.40C 2600 1000 | |
| 180.C m 2.40C 2600 1000 | • |
| 3.16 3.17 3.18 3.19 | |
| | |
| | A Properties of the earth: 3.2 a [W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 2.40 2600 1000 C Equal layers 3.7 1000 Popth real [kg/m3] (J/kgK) 30.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 60.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 60.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 30.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 120.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 120.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 150.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 180.0 m 2.400 2600 1000 3.16 3.17 3.18 3.19 |

Fig. 3.31: The sheet "Earth" with 6 horizontal layers of variable thickness.

Caution: The depth does not indicate the thickness of the corresponding layer but the distance from the deepest point of the layer to the surface of the earth.

After defining the number of horizontal layers, data about their respective properties can be entered into the suitable fields. It is possible to define layers which are deeper than the borehole itself. These layers are neglected as long as the borehole does not reach them. Therefore, it is recommended to enter the entire data of the known geology. This allows a later variation of the borehole depth without a need for adjustment in geology.

A horizontal variation of the filling material can be entered by selecting "inhomogeneous filling" in field 3.9. This option is only available if the layers are equally spaced what implies the selection of "equal layers" in field 3.7. Similar to the division of the earth, a field with additional lines appears, that can be used to enter the properties of the filling material (field 3.20) as well as of the borehole resistances (field 3.21) (see figure below)

The default values are taken from the field 3.3 and 3.4 - 3.6.

- 3.16 The physical properties of the filling material can be entered directly into these cells.
- 3.17 The procedure to set the values of the borehole resistances R_a , R_b and R_c is analog to the one for the fields 3.4 3.6 in chapter 3.6.1.
- 3.3 3.6 The arithmetic averages of field 3.20 and 3.21 are shown after each run in the fields 3.3 3.6.

| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | | | _ | | | |
|-------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|--------------------|--------|-------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|---|----------------|-------------------|
| Input | Number of ho | rizontal la | yers: | ⁶ 3.1 | Extern | al earth d vEWS | ata 3.11 | Bore Pipe o ('Shar | hole resista distance hk spacing') | nces 0.08 | 0 [m] |
| Calculation | Properties of | the earth: | | | Proper | ties of the | e filling: | Cont | act resistance 3.4 | Rd 0.00 | 0 [mK/V 3.6 |
| Open | 3.2 Homogeneous | λ [W/mK] 2.40 | p[kg/m3] 2600 | cp [J/kgK] 1000 | 3.3 | λ [W/mK] 0.81 | p[kg/m3] 1180 | cp [J/kgK] 3040 | Ra [mK/W] | Rb [mK/V | V]Rc[mK∧ 0.000 |
| Save | Equal layers | ; | 3.8 ⊙ Ĥ | omogeneous earth | 3 | .9 _{C Hom} | ogeneous fill | ing 3 1 | Mode | el of Hellströ | im |
| Results | C Non equal l | ayers | | homogeneous eart | n | Inhor | mogeneous l | illing J. I | C Input | of thermal | resistances |
| | λ | W/mK] real [kc | Р ср ұ/m3] [J/kgK | 1 | | λ [₩/mK] | p [kg/m3] | cp [J/kgK] | Ra [mK/W] | Rb [mK/V | V]Rc[mK∧ |
| | bis 3.3 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | - | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | bis 6.7 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | - | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | bis 10.0 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | • | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | bis 13.3 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | • | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | bis 16.7 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | • | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | bis 20.0 m | 2.400 26 | 600 1000 | | - | 0.81 | 1180 | 3040 | 0.000 | 0.000 | 0.000 |
| | 3.14 | 3.16 3. | .17 3.18 | 3.19 | | | 3 | .20 | | 3.21 | |

Fig. 3.32: The sheet "Earth" with an inhomogeneous filling of the borehole.

3.6.3 Physical properties of the earth input

A field for each horizontal layer appears, to enter its properties. Either the properties can be entered directly (field 3.15 to 3.18) into the cells or an earth type can be selected from the pull-down menu. The earth types in the pull-down menu are linked with the appropriate physical properties (see Fig. 3.33).

| | Boreholes Fluid Earth Extraction | Info |
|-------------|---|---|
| Input | Number of horizontal layers: 6 3.1 | External earth data Borehole resistances SwEWS 3.11 (Shank spacing) 0.080 (m) 3.12 |
| Calculation | Properties of the earth: | Properties of the filling: Contact resistance Rd 0.000 [mK/34] |
| Open | 3.2 λ[W/mK] ρ[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 0.80 2000 800 | 1/2 2/2 |
| Save | | O Homogeneous filling O Model of Hellström |
| Results | Non equal layers | C Inhomogeneous filling 3.10 C Input of thermal resistances |
| | Image: Wight of the second state of the sec | ✓ ✓ 3.19 |

Fig. 3.33: The sheet "Earth" offers a selection of rocks in the pull-down menu.

The program EWS also offers the option to enlarge the library in the pull-down menu by adding new earth types with their own names and physical properties (see Fig. 3.34). This can easily be done by entering the data manually into the suitable cells (field 3.19). After a run, the new defined earth types appear at the bottom of the pull-down menu.

| 1 | Boreholes 2 Fluid 3 Earth 4 Extraction | 5 Info water | |
|-------------|--|---------------------------------------|--|
| Input | Number of horizontal layers: 6 3.1 | External earth data SwEWS 3.11 | Borehole resistances Pipe distance ('Shank spacing') 0.080 [m] |
| Calculation | Properties of the earth: | Properties of the filling: | Contact resistance Rd 0.000 [mK/W] 3.13 |
| Open | 3.2 a[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 0.80 2000 800 | λ[W/mK] ρ[kg/m3] o 3.3 0.81 1180 3 | sp[J/kgK] Ra[mK/W] Rb[mK/W]Rc[mK/W] 3040 [0.450 [0.118 [0.082 |
| Save | C Equal layers 3.7 | 3 0 🕫 Homogeneous filling | G Model of Hellström |
| Results | Non equal layers | C Inhomogeneous filli | ng C Input of thermal resistances |
| | λ [W/mK] P cp Depth eff real [Kg/m3] [J/KgK] 30.0 m 0.80 0.800 2000 900 dyrubble 60.0 m 1.50 1.50c 2200 800 humid clay 90.0 m 3.10 3.10c 3000 1000 Special Stone 120.c m 2.40 2.40c 2600 1000 1500 180.c m 2.40 2.40c 2600 1000 1500 180.c m 2.40 2.40c 2600 1000 1500 3.14 3.15 3.16 3.17 3.18 3.16 3.17 3.18 | ▼ ▼ ▼ 3.19 ▼ | |

Fig. 3.34: The sheet "Earth", nomenclature of rocks and the input of their property data.

If groundwater must be considered, and W1 in the field groundwater is clicked, an additional column 3.15 appears with the "effective thermal conductivity" λ_{eff} . λ_{eff} is the apparent thermal conductivity when considering the groundwater influence. λ_{eff} can for example be defined by a thermal response test (TRT), whereas λ_{real} (thermal conductivity without groundwater influence) is defined e.g. by measuring a rock sample. With groundwater, λ_{eff} is used for calculations inside the simulation radius and λ_{real} is used for calculations of the g-functions, because in this area the groundwater is accounted for separately.

3.15

3.6.4 Creation of a user defined geological library

The program EWS offers the possibility to create a user defined, geological library with a maximum of 30 different earth types and their physical properties. Once the library is established, it is loaded automatically when the program is started and the entries appear in the pull-down menu (field 3.19).

The first step to establish a library is to create a table in excel with the name of the earth/ground types and the appropriate physical properties (see Fig. 3.35). The names and the properties must be entered below the header (row 2 –31). The names must be entered in the first column, the λ -values in the second column, the p-values in the third column and the specific heat capacity in the fourth column. There are two different types of limestone (limestone region Baden and limestone region Jura) defined in the example given below (see Fig. 3.35). The table must be saved as a text file (*.txt) with the name "Geologie.txt" in the **same folder as the program EWS**. In a next step it must be renamed to "Geologie.ews". Thereafter, the created library is available in the pull-down menu (see Fig. 3.36).

Caution: The program EWS can only deal with decimal points (no decimal commas). Entries with decimal commas cause an error.

| Hint: | Change country | / settings to | German | (Switzerland) |) |
|-------|----------------|---------------|--------|---------------------------------------|---|
| | | | | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | |

| 1 | name | lambda | rho | ср | |
|----|-----------------|--------|------|------|--|
| 2 | Limestone Baden | 2.6 | 2400 | 1100 | |
| 3 | Limestone Jura | 2.8 | 2500 | 1350 | |
| 4 | rock 3 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 5 | rock 4 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 6 | rock 5 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 7 | rock 6 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 8 | rock 7 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 9 | rock 8 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 10 | rock 9 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 11 | rock 10 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 12 | rock 11 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 13 | rock 12 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 14 | rock 13 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 15 | rock 14 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 16 | rock 15 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |
| 17 | rock 16 | 2.4 | 800 | 2200 | |

Fig. 3.35: Definition of the user-defined, geological library in the excel sheet "Geologie.ews"

| 🏓 Eingabedaten El | NS | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|--|--------------------------|----------|---------------|--------|----------------|---------|-------------------------|-------------|------------------------------|--|-------------------------------|---------------|---------|-----|
| File Input Import | Edition | W | gindows | In <u>f</u> o | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Input | Boreh | oles | 2 Fluid | d 3 | Earth | ktraction 5 | Info | | | | | | | | |
| | Num | hor | of hori | zontal | avore. | | . 1 | E | External ea | arth data | 3.11 | Borehole | resistanc | es | |
| Calculation | | iber | 01 11011 | zontar | uyers. | º . | 3.1 | | | SwEWS | | Pipe dista | nce 3.1 | 2 0.080 | [m] |
| Open | Pro | Properties of the earth: | | | | | | F | Properties | of the filli | ng: | ('Shank spacing') 3.1 3.5 3.6 | | | |
| Save | 3.2 x[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] Homogeneous 2.65 2425 1163 | | | | | | 3.3 | λ [W/mK] 0.81 | p[kg/m3] | cp [J/kgK] 3040 | Ra[mK/W] Rb[mK/W]Rc[r 0.424 0.117 0.076 | V] Rc [mK/W | a | | |
| | 3.7 | | | | 3.8 | | | | 3.9 | | | (if unknow | n, leave bla | ank) | |
| Results | O E | qual | layers | | ОНо | omogeneous ea | uth | | Home | ogeneous fi | Iling | Mode | l of Hellstri | im | |
| | Unequal layers Inhomogeneous earth | | | | | | C Inhon | nogeneous | filling | Input of thermal resistances | | | | | |
| | Depth A[W/mK] p[kg/m3] cp [J/kgK] | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 3.14 | 5.0 | m | 2.80 | 2500 | 1350 | Limestone Jure | a. | - | | | | | | | |
| | 20.0 | m | 2.60 | 2400 | 1100 | Limestone Bac | den | - | | | | | | | |
| | 60.0 | m | 2.40 | 2600 | 1000 | | | • | | | | | | | |
| | 90.0 | m | 2.40 | 2600 | 1000 | | | • | 3.19 | | | | | | |
| | 120.0 | m | 2.40 | 2600 | 1000 | | | ¥ | | | | | | | |
| | 200.0 | m | 2.40 | 2600 | 1000 | | | - | | | | | | | |
| | | | 3.16 | 3.17 | 3.18 | } | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 3.36: The sheet "Earth" with the properties from the user-defined library "Geologie.ews"

3.7 The sheet "Extraction"

The load profile of the boreholes is entered in sheet "Extraction" (see. Fig. 3.37).

| 🟓 Eingabedaten E | WS | | | | | | | _ & × | | | | |
|-------------------|---|--|-------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|----------|----------------|--|--|--|--|
| File Input Import | <u>E</u> dition <u>W</u> indows | I <u>n</u> fo | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Description - Date | le Fout Extrac | tion 1. (.) | | | | | | | | | |
| Input | orenoies 2 Fluid | 3 Earn 4" | 5 Into | | | | | | | | | |
| Calculation | Create new load profile with the following values? (if 'no' the data from the input file will be taken) 4.1 • Yes • No | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Load profile taken out of the monthly heat extraction? | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Open | (if 'no' is chosen, the daily running time must be given) 4.2 C Yes • No | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Save | Daily running time or monthly heat extraction (negativ for cooling) | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | January | 12 [h/d] | | July | 2 | [h/d] | | | | | | |
| Results | February | 11 [h/d] | | August | 2 | [h/d] | | | | | | |
| | March | 9 [h/d] | 4.3 | September | 3 | [h/d] | | | | | | |
| | April | 7 [h/d] | | October | 7 | [h/d] | | | | | | |
| | Мау | 3 [h/d] | | November | 9 | [h/d] | | | | | | |
| | June | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Heat extraction rate out of boreholes: | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Heat extraction | n rate (in heating case | 9) [KW] | 4.4 1.0 |) | (positiv sign) | | | | | | |
| | Heat injection | rate (in cooling condit | ion) [KW] | 4.5 1.0 | 1.0 (positiv sign) | | | | | | | |
| | Number of day | ys of peak load in Feb | oruary | 4.6 ² | | | | | | | | |
| | Heat extraction | n rate in peak load [k\ | ~] | 4.7 1.0 | 00 | (peak load in February) | | | | | | |
| | Simulation pe | riod: | Simulation perio | od [y 4:8]3 | | max. 60 years | | | | | | |
| Close | Freecooling: | Freecooling by neg. heat extraction | O Yes 🖲 N | • 4.9 | | borehole inlet temperatu | re 20.00 | •₀ 4.10 | | | | |
| | Programm EWS, Liz | enz für Huber Energie | technik © Huber E | inergietechnik A | G, Zürich | | | | | | | |

Fig. 3.37: The sheet "Extraction" with the input of the daily running time of the heat pump.

- 4.1 If the question "create new load profile with the following values?" is answered with "yes", a load profile with the input data, which must be defined, is created. If the answer is "no", the program uses the hourly input data from an external predefined input file and a new input is futile.
- 4.2 There are two options to create a load profile: The input of daily running time of the borehole heat pump or the input of the monthly heat extraction.
- **4.3** The fields 4.3 require a daily running time (different for each month), if "no" is selected in the field 4.2. A minus must be added to the running time in the correspondent months in which the boreholes are used for cooling (which implies that heat is transferred to the borehole).
- **4.11** If "yes" is selected in the field 4.2, the fields 4.11 require a monthly heat extraction as an input (see Fig. 3.38). The cooling load must be written with a minus in this option, as well.
- 4.4 The heat extraction rate in the heating case must be noted with a positive sign. If the heat extraction rate is changed, the mass flow rate in field 2.7 (in the sheet "fluid") is adjusted automatically (see description 2.6/2.7).
- 4.5 The heat injection rate in cooling condition must be noted with a **positive** sign, too.

4.6/4.7 There is an option to simulate the peak load in the heating case by calculating a non-stop heating period. The duration of this period is defined in days with the input in field 4.6. The period always is simulated at the end of February which is the coolest period of the year. The field 4.7 defines the heat extraction rate during this period (which is normally equal the heat extraction rate in field 4.4).

| 📌 Eingabedaten E | WS | | | | | | | | _ 8 × | | | |
|---|--|---------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|----------------|------------|------------------------------|-------------------------|-------|--|--|--|
| File Input Import | t <u>E</u> dition <u>W</u> indows | I <u>n</u> fo | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | 1 | | | | | | | | | | |
| Input | Boreholes2 Fluid | 3 Earth | 4 ^{xtraction} | ' <mark>5</mark> Into | | | | | 1 | | | |
| Calculation | Create new lo (if `no` the data | ad profile w from the inpu | tfile will be | lowing values? taken) | 4.: | 1 • Y | íes C No | | | | | |
| Open | Load profile t (if `no` is chose | aken out of en, the daily ru | the month Inning time | 4.2 | 4.2 • Yes C No | | | | | | | |
| Daily running time or monthly heat extraction (negativ for cooling) | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | January | 372 | [kWh] | | July | | 62 | [kWh] | | | | |
| Results | February 334 | 334 | [kWh] | | August | | 62 | [kWh] | | | | |
| | March | 279 | [kWh] | 4.11 | Septern | ber | 90 | [KWh] | | | | |
| | April | 210 | [kWh] | | October | r | 217 | [kWh] | | | | |
| | Мау | 93 | [kWh] | | Novem | ber | 270 | [KWh] | | | | |
| | June | 60 | [kWh] | | Decem | ber | 341 | [kWh] | | | | |
| | Heat extraction rate out of boreholes: | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | Heat extractio | n rate (in heati | ng case) [k | W] | 4.4 | 1.0 | (posi | tiv sign) | | | | |
| | Heat injection | rate (in coolin | g condition |)[kW] | 4.5 | 1.0 | (posi | (positiv sign) | | | | |
| | Number of day | ys of peak loa | d in Februa | ary | 4.6 | 2 | _ | | | | | |
| | Heat extractio | n rate in peak | load [kW] | | 4.7 | 1.00 | (peal | (peak load in February) | | | | |
| | Simulation period: Simulation period | | | | | 3 | max | . 60 years | | | | |
| Close | Freecooling: | l by traction | 🔿 Yes 🖲 No | 4.9 | | boreł | nole inlet temperature 20.00 | ° 4.10 | | | | |
| | Programm EWS, Liz | enz für Huber | Energietecl | hnik ©HuberEn | ergietech | nik AG, Zi | irich | | | | | |

Fig. 3.38: The sheet "Extraction" with the input of the monthly heat extraction

4.9 /10 Field 4.9 activates a maximum limit for the borehole inlet temperature, which is defined in field 4.10. If the borehole inlet temperature exceeds the defined limit, the program EWS reduces the cooling rate until the maximum temperature condition is met. On the rate-output-graph the desired rate is marked purple, the provided rate is marked green, resulting in the "Coverage of the cooling demand" on the result page. The function is identical with the fields 10.28 and 10.29 on the page "Load".



Fig. 3.39: Limitation of the maximum borehole inlet temperature in the cooling case.
(\mathbf{b})

3.8 The sheet "Load"

3.8.1 Creation of a load profile suggestion in the program EWS

The full version of the program EWS offers alternatively to the direct input of the heat extraction in the sheet "Extraction" (chapter 3.7) another possibility to enter the borehole load. Thereto, the sheet "Load" can be opened under the pull-down "Input" (see Fig. 3.40). The sheet "Load" requires the monthly heating energy as an input, to calculate the heat extraction of the boreholes using the given COP of the heat pump. The sheet "Load" cannot be combined with the sheet "Heat pump".

| 🥖 E | ingabe | daten EV | vs | | |
|------|--------|--------------|---------------|---------|------------|
| File | Input | Import | Edition | Windows | Info |
| | Bore | eholes | | | |
| | Fluic | I | | | |
| | Eart | h | | Fluid | I E |
| | Simu | ulation | | | |
| _ | Extr | action | | new l | oad pro |
| | Para | meter | | he dat | a from the |
| | Info | | | rofile | taken o |
| | Vent | tilation sch | nedule | s chos | en, the di |
| | Dire | ct cooolin | g | | |
| | Heat | t pump | | unning | g time or |
| | pres | sure drop |) | y | 360 |
| | Load | tt | | | |
| | Field | l of boreh | oles | ary | 360 |
| | sing | e borehol | le in a field | | 270 |
| | | | A | April | 210 |
| | | | N | /lay | 90 |

Fig. 3.40: The selection of the sheet "Load".

The sheet "Load" appears (Fig. 3.41) and the sheet "Extraction" is hidden.

| Input | Flui | d <mark>3</mark> Earth • | 10 ^{Load} 5 ^{In} | fo | | | | | |
|-------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|----------------|----------------------|------------------------------------|---|--------------------|------|
| Calculation | Create new (if `no` the da | load profile wit ata from the input f | h the following ile will be taken) | values? | | Yes | s O No 1 | 0.1 | |
| Open | 10.2 heating ene | rgy without tap wa | ter 1800 | [kWh] | COP at full load | ^{3.80} 10.8 | full load heating ra | ite 1.3 | [kW] |
| Save | 10.3 heating ene | rgy for tap water eating energy | 0 | [kwn] [kWh] | COP for tap water | ^{2.80} 10.9 4.20 10.30 | heating power par | tload 1.3 | [kW] |
| Results | 10.5 cooling ene | rgy without base I | oad 1200 | [kWh] | EER for cooling | 3.00 10.10 | cooling capacity | 2.5 | [kW] |
| | 10.6 base load c 10.7 days of pea | k load | 2 | [days] | Simulation p | eriod [years] | 3 max. 60 | years 10.15 | |
| | Monthly hea | iting and coolin | ig energy (with | out tap v | vater, always as | positive numb | per): | | |
| | 10.16 January | heating of 333 | cooling) [KWh] | | July | heating c | 200ling 420 [KWh] 1 | 0.22 | |
| | 10.17 February | 270 |) [kWh] | | August | 0 | 360 [kWh]1 | 0.23 | |
| | 10.18 March 10.19 April | 252 |) [KVVN]] [KWh] | | September October | 180 | 120 [KVVh] 1 0 [KWh] 1 | 0.24 0.25 | |
| | 10.20 May | 27 | 50 [KVVh] | | November | 252 | 0 [kWh] 1 | 0.26 | |
| | 10.21 June | | 240 [kWh] | | December | 315 | 0 [kWh] 1 | 0.27 | |
| | Freecooling | I: O Yes O N | 10.28 | boreho | le inlet temperature | 20.00 *C | 10.29 | | |

Fig. 3.41: The sheet "Load" with the input of the heating energy.

In the sheet "Load" the monthly heating and cooling energy demand is defined. In contrast to the sheet "Extraction", the heating and the cooling energy in the sheet "Load" are in kWh and both with a positive sign. The program EWS calculates a load profile for an intermittent mode under consideration of the COP, the energy demand and the heating and cooling load of the heat pump. Excluded from this intermittent load is the base load (field 10.4 and field 10.6) which influences the load profile independently of the installed heating or cooling power. In the heating case, the borehole heat extraction rate is reduced by the compressor power load which can be calculated with the COP. The heat injection rate in cooling condition is increased by the compressor power and is calculated with the EER (COP-1).

The mass flow rate (field 2.7) is adjusted to the heat extraction rate considering the eq. 3.1 and the temperature difference (field 2.6) (this means a variable mass flow rate).

- **10.1** If the question "Create a now load file with the following values?" is answered with "yes", the load profile is calculated with the values from the fields 10.2 – 10.27. If the answer is "no", the load profile is taken from the input file and the inputs 10.2 - 10.29 are ignored.
- **10.7** Duration of the peak load (non-stop operation) at the end of February.
- **10.8** COP of the heat pump during the full load (10.11). Corresponds to the code case (full load).
- **10.10** Input of the EER of the cooling machine (= cooling-COP_c, i.e. the ratio of the cooling energy and the consumed electric power). There a high value should be entered (e.g. 999) if the freecooling option in field 10.28 is selected.
- **10.11** The performance (rate) during the maximal load, end of February. The duration is defined in the field 10.7.
- **10.13** The performance (rate) during a part load. This heat extraction rate is rounded so the total heating energy of 10.16 - 10.27 can be met.
- **10.15** The duration of the simulation (maximal 200 years). Always the last year of the period is evaluated.
- **10.28** The cooling temperature of the borehole inlet is limited if the freecooling option is selected. The percentage of coverage of the cooling demand can be seen on the sheet "Results". This can also be used, to limit the borehole inlet temperature in the case of active cooling.
- **10.29** The borehole inlet temperature in the freecooling case. Attention: The borehole inlet temperature mostly is lower than the return temperature of the cooling loop (because of the heat exchanger).
- **10.30** Mean COP of the heat pump in the heating period (at part load 10.13).



Bed_EWS55_Eng.doc

 (\blacktriangleright)

3.8.2 Input of own load profile in hourly steps

The program EWS offers the possibility to create hourly load profiles for the heat withdrawal from the boreholes. This can be done following the next steps:

| | Boreholes | Fluid | Earth | Loa | be | Info | | | | |
|-------------|------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|---------|-------|
| Input | Create ne (if `no` the d | w load profil lata from the in | e with the put file will | e following be taken) | values? | | Yes | C No | | |
| Calculation | heating ene | ergy without tap |) water | 1800 | [kWh] | COP at full load | 3.80 | full load heating rate | 1.3 | [kW] |
| | heating energy for tap water | | | 600 | [kWh] | COP for tap water | 2.80 | tap water heating rate | 1.3 | [kW] |
| Open | base load heating energy | | 0 | [kWh] | COP for heating | 4.20 | heating power part load | 1.3 | [kW] | |
| | cooling ene | ergy without ba | se load | 1200 | [kWh] | EER for cooling | 3.00 | cooling capacity | 2.5 | [kW] |
| Save | base load c | ooling energy: | | 0 | [kWh] | m Kühlfall [kg/s] | 0.000 | Spez. Sondenbelastung | 47.89 | [W/m |
| Results | | | | | | | | | 7.9 | [kWh |
| | days of pea | ak load | | 2 | [days] | DT im Kühlfall [K] | 3.00 | Simulation period [years] | 3 | |
| | days of pea | ak load in Augu | st | 0 | [days] | EER at full load | 3.00 | full load cooling rate | 2.5 | [kW] |
| | Monthly h | eating and o | ooling er | nergy (with | out tap w | ater, always as p | ositive numi | ber): | | |
| | January | 333 | | | | | neauny | | | |
| | February | 270 | 0 | Informatio | on | | | | | × |
| | March | 252 | 0 | | Berechn | ung unter dem Nar | men "C:\Use | rs\huber\Desktop\Exp.txt" | gespeic | hert! |
| | April | 171 | 0 | | | | | | | |
| | May | 27 | 60 | | | | OK | | | |
| | | , | | | | | | | | |

Fig. 3.43: Input of own load profile: 1. Save Calculations.

In a first step all the inputs for the calculation are defined and the calculation is saved. In this case, it's the file "Exp". After this the program EWS is closed.

In the next step the saved file, "Exp", is opened with Excel. Important is to notice it is a .txt file.

| XII Öffnen | | | | | × |
|---|--------------------------|---------|----------------|-----------------|---------|
| \leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow \blacksquare \ll huber $>$ | Desktop > Example File ~ | Ū | "Example File" | ' durchsuche | n ,o |
| Organisieren 👻 Neuer Ordne | er | | | i== ▼ [| • • |
| Benutzer ^ Nar | me | Änder | ungsdatum | Тур | |
| arthur | Exp.txt | 19.01.2 | 2018 14:29 | Textdokun | nent |
| huber | | | | | |
| .pdfsam | | | | | |
| .VirtualBox | | | | | |
| 🧊 3D-Objekte | | | | | |
| 🔜 Application 🌱 < | | | | | > |
| Dateiname: | Exp.txt | \sim | Textdateien (| *.prn;*.txt;*.c | sv) ~ |
| | Tools | - | Öffnen | Abbr | rechen: |

Fig. 3.44: Input of own load profile: 2. Open saved file in Excel.

The saved file can be opened with Tabstopps as separation sign:

| Textkonvertierungs-Assistent - Schritt 1 von 3 | ? | × |
|---|--------------------|---------------|
| Der Textkonvertierungs-Assistent hat erkannt, dass Ihre Daten mit Trennzeichen versehen sind. | | |
| Wenn alle Angaben korrekt sind, klicken Sie auf 'Weiter', oder wählen Sie den korrekten Datentyp. | | |
| Ursprunglicher Datentyp | _ | |
| Gertennet Gertennet | | |
| • Eelder sind in Spalten ausgerichtet mit Leerzeichen zwischen iedem Feld. | | \mathcal{I} |
| | \sim | |
| Import beginnen in Zeile: 1 🚔 Dateiursprung: Windows (ANSI) | | \sim |
| | | |
| Die Daten haben Überschriften. | | |
| | | |
| Vorschau der Datei C:\Users\arthur\Desktop\Beispiel5\Bsp5.txt. | | |
| 125 0 Version des Augsbefiles Dregnam FWG | | |
| 2 13 x 140, 40 mm doppel-U, 95 kW Heizleistung, aktive Kühlung | | |
| 3 EWS Kurs: Beispiel 5 | | |
| 5 | | ~ |
| < | | > |
| | | |
| Abbrechen < Zurück <u>W</u> eiter > | F <u>e</u> rtig st | tellen |

Fig. 3.45: Input of own load profile: 3. Saved file with Tab stops

In Germany and Austria Excel settings must be changed to the decimal point (in Switzerland this is not necessary). For this, open "Data" in Excel, then "Options", "Advanced", "Editing Options" and

Remove the selection "Use system separators", then add the decimal separator ".".

| Excel Options | | ? | × |
|----------------------|--|------|-----|
| General | Editing options | | ^ |
| Formulas | ✓ After pressing Enter, move selection | | |
| Proofing | Direction: Down 🗸 | | |
| Save | Automatically insert a <u>d</u> ecimal point | | |
| Language | Places: 2 | | |
| Advanced | Enable fill handle and cell <u>d</u> rag-and-drop | | |
| | Alert before overwriting cells | | |
| Customize Ribbon | Allow <u>e</u> diting directly in cells | | |
| Quick Access Toolbar | Extend data range formats and formulas | | |
| Add-Ins | Enable automatic percent entry | | |
| Trust Center | Enable AutoComplete for cell values | | |
| | ✓ Automatically <u>Flash Fill</u> | | |
| | □ <u>Z</u> oom on roll with IntelliMouse | | |
| | \checkmark Alert the user when a potentially time consuming operation occurs | | |
| | When this number of cells (in thousands) is affected: 33,554 🗭 | | |
| | Use system separators | 1 | |
| | Decimal separator: | | |
| | Thousands separator: | | ~ |
| | ОК | Cano | cel |

Fig. 3.46: Input of own load profile: 4. Changing Excel settings to decimal point (if necessary).

 (\mathbf{b})

The calculation parameters are in the first 1000 lines of the file. Starting form line number 1001 the hourly values follow.

| | Α | В | С | D | E | F | G | н | I. | J |
|------|----------|----------|----------------|------------------|---------------|----------|--------|----------|-----------|----------------|
| 992 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 4. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[4] | | | | |
| 993 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 5. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[5] | | | | |
| 994 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 6. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[6] | | | | |
| 995 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 7. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[7] | | | | |
| 996 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 8. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[8] | | | | |
| 997 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 9. Schicł | Starttemperat | ur[9] | | | | |
| 998 | 0 | °C | Starttemperat | ur der 10. Schi | Starttemperat | ur[10] | | | | |
| 999 | 6.00E+01 | °C | Warmwasser - | Temperatur | WWTemperat | ur | | | | |
| 1000 | 0.00E+00 | W/mK | scheinbares La | mbda Erde der | lambdaErde_e | ff[10] | | | | |
| 1001 | Step | M [kg/s] | TSink max [°C] | Qsoll [kW] | TSource [°C] | TMonitor | p [Pa] | laminar? | Qeff [kW] | TSink eff [°C] |
| 1002 | 1 | 4.187 | 7.488 | 49.234 | 10.501 | 11.71 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.502 |
| 1003 | 2 | 4.187 | 7.186 | 49.234 | 10.2 | 11.5 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.2 |
| 1004 | 3 | 4.187 | 7.007 | 49.234 | 10.021 | 11.36 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.021 |
| 1005 | 4 | 4.187 | 6.873 | 49.234 | 9.886 | 11.25 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.887 |
| 1006 | 5 | 4.187 | 6.761 | 49.234 | 9.775 | 11.15 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.775 |
| 1007 | 6 | 4.187 | 6.664 | 49.234 | 9.678 | 11.06 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.678 |
| 1008 | 7 | 4.187 | 6.582 | 49.234 | 9.596 | 10.99 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.596 |
| 1009 | 8 | 4.187 | 6.507 | 49.234 | 9.521 | 10.92 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.521 |
| 1010 | 9 | 4.187 | 6.438 | 49.234 | 9.452 | 10.86 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.452 |
| 1011 | 10 | 4.187 | 6.376 | 49.234 | 9.39 | 10.8 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.39 |
| 1012 | 11 | 0 | 9.375 | 0 | 11.978 | 11.98 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 11.978 |
| 1013 | 12 | 0 | 11.963 | 0 | 12.424 | 12.42 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.424 |
| 1014 | 13 | 0 | 12.409 | 0 | 12.639 | 12.64 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.639 |
| 1015 | 14 | 0 | 12.623 | 0 | 12.774 | 12.77 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.774 |
| 1016 | 15 | 0 | 12.759 | 0 | 12.878 | 12.88 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.878 |

Fig. 3.47: Input of own load profile: 5. Starting from line 1001 the hourly hours are saved.

The hourly mass flow rate (total value in kg/s) is shown in column B, the maximum borehole inlet temperature (limit value upwards) is shown in column C and the hourly withdrawal rate (positive prefix) or energy insertion (negative prefix) in the boreholes (total value over the hours in kWh) are shown in column D. These can now be adapted.

| 1 | A | | 8 | с | D | E | F | G | н | 1 | 3 |
|------|-------|-----|----------|-------------------|---------------|---------------|----------|--------|----------|-----------|----------------|
| 992 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 4. Schick | Starttemperat | ur[4] | | | | |
| 993 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 5. Schick | Starttemperat | ur[5] | | | | |
| 994 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 6, Schick | Starttemperat | ur[6] | | | | |
| 995 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 7. Schich | Starttemperat | ur[7] | | | | |
| 996 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 8. Schich | Starttemperat | ur[8] | | | | |
| 997 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 9. Schick | Starttemperat | ur[9] | | | | |
| 998 | | 0 | *C | Starttemperatur | der 10. Schi | Starttemperat | ur[10] | | | | |
| 999 | 6.008 | +01 | × | Warmwasser - Te | enperatur | WWTemperat | ur | | | | |
| 1000 | 0.008 | +00 | W/mK | scheinbares Lami | bda Erde dei | lambdaErde_e | ff[10] | | | | |
| 1001 | Step | / | M [kg/s] | TSink max [°C] Qs | soll [kW] | TSource [*C] | TMonitor | p [Pa] | laminar? | Qeff [kW] | TSink eff [°C] |
| 1002 | | 1 | 4.187 | 7.488 | 49.234 | 10.501 | 11.71 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.502 |
| 1003 | | 2 | 4.187 | 7.186 | 49.284 | 10.2 | 11.5 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.2 |
| 1004 | | 3 | 4.187 | 7.007 | 49.234 | 10.021 | 11.36 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 7.021 |
| 1005 | | 4 | 4.187 | 6.873 | 49.234 | 9.886 | 11.25 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.887 |
| 1006 | | 5 | 4.187 | 6.761 | 49.234 | 9.775 | 11.15 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.775 |
| 1007 | | 6 | 4.187 | 6.664 | 49.234 | 9.678 | 11.06 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.678 |
| 1008 | | 7 | 4.187 | 6.582 | 49.234 | 9.596 | 10.99 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.596 |
| 1009 | | 8 | 4.187 | 6.507 | 49.234 | 9.521 | 10.92 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.521 |
| 1010 | | 9 | 4.187 | 6.438 | 49.234 | 9.452 | 10.86 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.452 |
| 1011 | | 10 | 4.187 | 6.376 | 49.234 | 9.39 | 10.8 | 9832 | TRUE | 49.234 | 6.39 |
| 1012 | | 11 | 0 | 9.375 | 0 | 11.978 | 11.98 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 11.978 |
| 1013 | | 12 | 0 | 11.963 | 0 | 12.424 | 12.42 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.424 |
| 1014 | | 13 | 0 | 12.409 | 0 | 12.639 | 12.64 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.639 |
| 1015 | 1 | 14 | 0 | 12.623 | 0 | 12.774 | 12.77 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.774 |
| 1016 | | 15 | 0 | 12.759 | 0 | 12.878 | 12.88 | 0 | FALSE | 0 | 12.878 |

Now the adapted load profile can be saved. Excel will ask if the file shall be saved as "Text File", this must be answered with "Yes"



Fig. 3.49: Input of own load profile: 7. Saving new load profile as .txt file.

Now Excel can be closed. Now Excel will once more ask you if the file shall be saved in "Excel Format". This must be answered with "Don't Save"

| Microsoft | Excel | × |
|-----------|---|---|
| | Do you want to save the changes you made to .xlsx'? | |



Now open EWS once more and load the previously saved text-file.



Fig. 3.51: Input of own load profile: 9. Load saved Text File in EWS

 (\blacktriangleright)

Now go to the page "Load" and set 10.1 to "No"

| | Boreholes | Fluid | Earth | Load | H | Info | | | | | |
|-------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|------------------------|------------|--------------------|-------------|----------------------|---------------|-------|--------|
| Input | Create ne (if `no` the d | w load profil ata from the inp | e with the out file will be | following • etaken) | values? | | C Yes | ⊙ No | 1 | 0.1 | |
| Calculation | heating ene | rgy without tap | water | 1800 | [kWh] | COP at full load | 3.80 | full load hea | ting rate | 1.3 | [kW] |
| Calculation | heating ene | rgy for tap wat | er | 600 | [kWh] | COP for tap water | 2.80 | tap water he | ating rate | 1.3 | [kW] |
| Open | base load h | eating energy | | 0 | [kWh] | COP for heating | 4.20 | heating pow | er part load | 1.3 | [kW] |
| | l cooling ene | rgy without bas | e load | 1200 | [kWh] | EER for cooling | 3.00 | cooling capa | acity | 2.5 | [kW] |
| Save | base load c | ooling energy | | 0 | [kWh] | m Kühlfall [kg/s] | 0.000 | Spez. Sonde | enbelastung | 47.89 | [W/m] |
| Results | | | | | | | | | | 7.9 | [kWh/n |
| | days of pea | k load | | 2 | [days] | DT im Kühlfall [K] | 3.00 | Simulation p | eriod [years] | 3 | |
| | days of pea | k load in Augu | st | 0 | [days] | EER at full load | 3.00 | full load cool | ing rate | 2.5 | [kW] |
| | Monthly h | eating and c | ooling ene | rgy (witho | ut tap w | ater, always as po | sitive numb | er): | | | |
| | January | 333 | | [kWh] | | July | 0 | 420 | [kWh] | | |
| | February | 270 | 0 | [kWh] | | August | 0 | 360 | [kWh] | | |
| | March | 252 | 0 | [kWh] | | September | 0 | 120 | [kWh] | | |
| | April | 171 | 0 | [kWh] | | October | 180 | 0 | [kWh] | | |
| | May | 27 | 60 | [kWh] | | November | 252 | 0 | [kWh] | | |
| | June | 0 | 240 | [kWh] | | December | 315 | 0 | [kWh] | | |
| | | , | | | | | , | | | | |
| Close | 10.2 Ereccoling | | No | horehole i | nlet tempe | erature 20.00 °C | Feld Au | fteilen [.] | You G. No. | | |

Fig. 3.52: Input of own load profile: 10. Page "Load", Nr. 10.1 set to "No".

If the temperature of the borehole inlet should be limited upwards, Freecooling must be set to "Yes" (10.28). If the maximum borehole inlet temperature must be taken from the input file, 6.18 on the page "Simulations" must be set to "Yes"

| 🌽 Eingabedaten File Innut Imi | EWS nort Results Windows Info example |
|----------------------------------|--|
| ine input ing | |
| | Boreholes Fluid Earth Load Info Simulation |
| | Steady or unsteady calculation of the fluid |
| Input | Steady calculation? |
| Calculation | Input of borehole inlet temperature or heat extraction rate? |
| Open | Iteration of borehole heat extraction rate? (heat extraction rate given) |
| Save | Serial linking up of boreholes Number of boreholes linked up 1.0 |
| Results | Antifreeze: C Yes © No |
| | Minimal borehole inlet temperature = -3.00 *C COP at minimal borehole temperature 9999.00 supplementary heating system ID kWh |
| | Calculation of thermal response? |
| | Thermal response? C Yes No Heat extraction step: 0.96 KW |
| | Duration of thermal response C 1 h C 1 month Temperature step: 20.00 °C |
| | Size of input file: |
| | Number of time steps on the input file 8760 Format Metenorm: Standard • Yes O No |
| | Simulation period: |
| | Estimate the temperature starting condition (fast calculation with less precision) |
| | additional cooling (if freecooling is not enough) |
| Close | Max. TSink from input-file? |
| | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber Energietechnik AG 💿 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich |

Fig. 3.53: Input of own load profile: 11. Set 6.18 to "Yes" on page Simulation.

 \triangleright

If the simulation is now started, the inputs to the page "load" are ignored and the values for the load profile in the external load file are considered. This is also visible in the graphical output. In our example in the first week of January a constant heat performance of 50 kW was set for the energy insertion into the borehole and the maximum borehole inlet temperature was set to 21°C. This leads to the fact that after the third day the 50kW heat performance are not delivered entirely.



Fig. 3.54: Input of own load profile: 12. Calculation

3.8.3 Restoration of an existing borehole field

In the following section an example is shown on how an overloaded borehole field can be restored with solar-thermal collectors after 20 years of operation. The load profile must be changed to a different profile for the 21st year and the following.

In a first step the load profile for the first 20 years needs to be defined:

| Create new (if `no` the dat | load profile a from the inpu | with the ut file will be | following v taken) | | | C No | | | |
|--------------------------------|---------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|---------------------|--------------------|-------------|---------------------------|---------|--------|
| heating energ | y without tap (| water | 52000 | [kWh] | COP at full load | 5.15 | full load heating rate | 28.0 | [kW] |
| heating energy for tap water | | | 12600 | [kWh] | COP for tap water | 2.90 | tap water heating rate | 28.0 | [kW] |
| base load heating energy | | | 0 | [kWh] | COP for heating | 4.80 | heating power part load | 28.0 | [kW] |
| cooling energ | y without base | e load | 0 | [kWh] | EER for cooling | 3.00 | cooling capacity | 2.5 | [kW] |
| base load coo | oling energy | | 0 | [kWh] | m Kühlfall [kg/s] | 0.000 | Borehole load | 1128.16 | [W/m] |
| | | | | | | | | 2471.1 | [kWh/m |
| days of peak | load | | 1 | [days] | DT im Kühlfall [K] | 3.00 | Simulation period [years] | 20 | |
| days of peak | load in August | : | 0 | [days] | EER at full load | 3.00 | full load cooling rate | 2.5 | [kW] |
| Monthly hea | ating and co | oling ene | rgy (witho | ut tap w | ater, always as po | sitive numb | er): | | |
| | heating | cooling | | | | heating | cooling | | |
| January | 9620 | 0 | [kWh] | | July | 0 | 0 [kWh] | | |
| February | 7800 | 0 | [kWh] | | August | 0 | 0 [kWh] | | |
| March | 7280 | 0 | [kWh] | | September | 0 | 0 [kWh] | | |
| April | 4940 | 0 | [kWh] | | October | 5200 | 0 [kWh] | | |
| May 780 0 | | | [kWh] November | | 7280 | 0 [kWh] | | | |
| June | 0 | 0 | [kWh] | | December | 9100 | 0 [kWh] | | |

Fig. 3.55: Load profile prior to restoration measures



Fig. 3.56: After 20 years of operation a minimal borehole inlet temperature of -5.8 °C is reached.

 (\mathbf{b})

| | 🥬 Speichen | n unter | | | × |
|---|---------------------|--------------------------|------------|--------------|-----------|
| | Speic <u>h</u> em | vor_Sanierung | • + | • 🗈 💣 🎫 | |
| | Name | ^ | Änderungs | Тур | Größe |
| | Berechn | ung_vor_Sanierung.txt | 26.09.2020 | Textdokument | 522 KB |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | | |
| l | | | | | |
| | Datei <u>n</u> ame: | Berechnung_vor_Sanierung | g.txt | | Speichem |
| | Dateityp: | Textdateien | | • | Abbrechen |
| L | | | | | / |

This simulation-case is saved as "prior to restauration measures":

Fig. 3.57: Saving case with load profile "prior to restauration measures".

In a second step the load case for the restauration measures are defined and saved under a new file name. In the shown example, 100 m2 unglazed solar-thermal collectors shall be used to recuperate the bore hole (menu \rightarrow Windows \rightarrow solar collectors):

| Boreholes | Fluid | Earth | Load | Info | Kollektoren | | |
|-------------|--------------------|------------------|----------------|-------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------|----------|
| solar col | lector | Energie Solai | e Kollektor AS | (SPF C1209) | Weather data from Meteonorm | Meteo d | ata |
| calculate | with solar colle | ectors | Yes C | No | Offset weather data | 0 | [h] |
| 10% inc | dude the losse | 5: | Yes C | No | glazed collectors | | |
| unglazed | collector | | Yes C | No | collector coefficient Eta0 | 0.925 | |
| absorber | area total | | 100.00 | [m2] | collector coefficient a1 | 0.00 | [W/m2K] |
| | | | 100.00 | [2] | collector coefficient a2 | 0.0000 | [W/m2K2] |
| absorber | area of 1 colle | ctor | 1.986 | [m2] | unglazed collectors | , | |
| number o | f paralel conne | cted collectors | 1.0 | r | collector coefficient bu | 0.0120 | [s/m] |
| azimuth d | lirection of colle | ectors | 45.0 | [*] | collector coefficient b1 | 11.260 | [W/m2K] |
| inclination | angle of colle | otora | 45.0 | [1] | collector coefficient b2 | 2.450 | [Ws/m3K] |
| inclination | angle of colle | CIOIS | 45.0 | 11 | domestic bot water | | |
| cp of coll | ector fluid | | 3900 | [J/kgK] | calculate solar water heating? | Yes (• | No |
| wind spee | ed u | | 1.5 | [m/s] | 1st priority on tap water | C Yes (| No |
| | | | | | temperature of domestic hot water | 60 | [°C] |
| system ir | ntegration | | | | size of solar heat exchanger | 9.0 | [m2] |
| A ×k oftł | ne borehole he | at exchanger | 1000000 | [W/K] | A * k per m2 solar heat exchanger | 100.0 | IW/Km21 |
| counter fl | ow of heat exc | hanger | 0.50 | | | 100.0 | [] |
| temperatu | ure difference o | of heat exchange | 0.00 | [K] | size of solar storage tank | 1000 | [Liter] |
| max. bore | ehole inlet temp | erature | 53.0 | [°C] | losses of solar storage tank | 0.010 | [1/h] |
| collector | flowrate | | 1.11 | [kg/s] | demand of domestic hot water | 700 | [kWh/a] |
| propositio | n of collector f | lowrate | Calculation | | solar generated hot water | 0 | [kWh/a] |

Fig. 3.58: Definition of the system after the restauration measures (e.g. 100m2 unglazed solar collectors)

 (\blacktriangleright)

🥖 Speichern unter \times ▼ 🗕 🖻 🖛 nach_Sanierung Speichem Name Änderungsdatum Тур Berechnung_nach_Sanierung.txt 26.09.2020 18:33 Textdoku < 5 Dateiname: Berechnung_nach_Sanierung.txt Speichem Abbrechen Dateityp: Textdateien Ŧ

This case is now saved as "after restauration measures":

Fig. 3.59: Saving case (load profile) after restauration measures

In a third step the simulation of the first years is imported as "hourly data" to the current case. This is done by navigation in the menu to "Import" \rightarrow "input hourly data" and select the case "prior to restauration measures":

| 🤔 Eingabedat | ten EWS | | | | | _ | | > |
|---|--|---|--|--|--|--|---|---|
| File Input Ir | mport Results Windows Info exa Existing calculation Earth properties (SwEWS) | Imple Maps Offset | weather data ifo Kollektoren | | | | | |
| Input Calculation Open Save Results | Weather data from Meteonorm TRT Export Polysun Export borehole locations Import borehole locations Input hourly data absorber area of 1 collector number of paralel connected collect | Kollektor AS (SPF Image: Yes C No Image: Yes C No | C1209) Veather data Offset weather glazed colle collector coel collector coel collector coel unglazed co collector coel | a from Meteonorm er data ficient Eta0 ficient a1 ficient a2 ilectors ficient bu | Meteo dat 0 0.925 0.00 0.000 0.0120 | a [h] [W/m2K] [W/m2K2] [s/m] | | |
| 🖋 Öffnen Suchen in: | azimuth direction of collectors | ▲50 [*] ▼ ¢ | • € ∩ ⊞ ▼ | incient DT | × | [w/mzk] | 1 | |
| — Name | ^ | Änderungs | Тур | Größe | | | | |
| Berech | nung_vor_Sanierung.txt | 26.09.2020 | Textdokument | 522 KB |] | | | |
| Datei <u>n</u> ame: | Berechnung_vor_Sanierun | ng.txt | | Öffnen |] | | | |
| Datei <u>t</u> yp: | Textdateien | | • | Abbrechen | | | | |

Fig. 3.60: Importing simulation prior to measures as hourly data

 (\blacktriangleright)

In a last step, it must be defined after how many years of operation the load profile should switch to the load profile with restauration measures. This is done in the menu: Windows \rightarrow Parameters:

| File Input I | mport Results | Windows Info example | Maps | Offset weath | er data | | |
|--------------|---------------|-----------------------------------|---------------|--------------|-------------------|-------------------------------|------------|
| | | System | | 1 | | | |
| | Boreholes | Graph | .oad | Info | Parameter | Kollektoren | |
| | Simulation | Results | | Axial p | artition: see pag | ge `Earth` | |
| Input | Simulation | g-function | | 2.50 | | | |
| Calculation | Number o | Simulation | \downarrow | 5 | bet | ween 4 and 12 | |
| | Grid facto | Parameter | \mathcal{D} | 2.000 | _ | | |
| Open | Simulation | pressure | 1 | - | | | |
| | Borehole | Groundwater | | 60 | has | to correspond with input file | |
| Save | Fluid time | solar collector | | 4.0 | rec | ommended: 4 | |
| Davida | Earth time | step ("security 2") | _ | 2.0 | rec | ommended: 2 | |
| Hesuits | Time step | of outer boundary conditions [v | /eeks] | 1 | rec | ommended: 1 | |
| | Stop crite | rion for the iteration | | | | | |
| | accuracy | of iteration [°C] | | 0.010 | 00 | | |
| | Number o | f lines in the output file: | | | | | |
| | Write resu | Its in output file? | | (• Y | es 🔿 No | File TEarth.ews: | C Yes 🖲 No |
| | Number o | f simulation steps per output val | Je | 1 | | | 730 |
| | Monitor p | pint in axial direction | | 1 | | | |
| | Monitor p | pint in radial direction | | 1 | | Code example | |
| | Write all s | imulation years in output file? | | CY | es 🖲 No | max 30a | |
| | Write star | ting conditions on file? | | ΟY | es 🖲 No | Hourly data starting from | r: 21 a |
| Close | Varia: | | | | | Start with hourly dat | |
| | Recalcula | ate Rb in each timestep? | | 0 Y | es 🖲 No | | |

Fig. 3.61: Sheet "Parameters": Starting the simulation with hourly data (prior to restauration measures) and a new load profile for the 21st year of operation and following.



Fig. 3.62: Change of load profile after 20 years of operation (addition of solar collectors to recuperate the boreholes). Minimum borehole inlet temperature rises to -2.3 °C after a total of 50 years.

3.9 The sheet "Simulation"

3.9.1 Show the sheet "Simulation"

Various special calculations can be done with the sheet "Simulation". Open the sheet "Simulation" with the pull-down menu "Windows" from the menu bar and select "Simulation" (see Fig. 3.63).

| 🍠 Eingabed | aten EV | VS . | | |
|-------------|---------|----------------------------|--|--|
| File Input | Impo | rt Results | Windows Info | example |
| | 1 | Boreholes | System Graph | oad Info Simulation |
| Input | | Steady or | Heat Pump | nuta 5 6 |
| | | Steady ca | Results | • Yes C No |
| Calculation | 1 | Input of L | Simulation | heat extraction rate? |
| Open | | Iteration c (heat extr | Parameter | © Yes © No 6.2 |
| Save | | Serial lin | pressure Groundwater | r 1.0 o co |
| Besults | | Antifreez | solar collecto | or 6.13 |
| | | Minimal b | orehole inlet temperatu | ture = 3.00 *C6.15 COP at minimal borehole temperature 9999.00 6.16 |
| | | Calculatio | n of thermal respo | onse ² supplementary heating system U KWh O. I / |
| | | Thermal re | esponse? | O Yes ⊙ No 6.3 Heat extraction step: 0.96 kW 6.5 |
| | | Duration o | of thermal response | C 1 h © 1 month 6.4 Temperature step: 20.00 °C 6.6 |
| | | Size of in | put file: | |
| | | Number of | <i>i</i> time steps on the inp | put file 8760 6.7 Format Metenorm: Standard • Yes • No 6.12 |
| | | Simulatior | n period: | |
| | | Estimate ti (fast calcu | he temperature starting Ilation with less precisi | ng condition C Yes © No 6.8 sion) |
| | | additional (if freecoo | cooling ling is not enough) | C Yes ⓒ No 6.9 COP (heating) of add. cooling 3.50 6.10 On if coverage is beneath 0.70 (00.95) |
| Close | | Max. TSin | ık from input-file? | C Yes © No 6.18 6.11 |
| | F | rogramm EWS | i, Lizenz für Huber Ene | nergietechnik AG 👘 🔍 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich |

Fig. 3.63: The opening of the sheet "Simulation".

The following, special calculations can be executed with the sheet "Simulation":

- The unsteady calculation of the fluid (field 6.1). The default setting of the program does steady state calculations of the fluid like it can be found in ref. [5] and [6].
- The input of the extraction rate, e.g. forced by the heat pump or the borehole inlet temperature (e.g. direct cooling). For these cases, the field 6.2 must be selected ("yes"). The default setting calculates the needed outlet and inlet temperature of the borehole fluid to generate the wanted extraction rate of the heat pump.
- The calculation of the thermal response (response test, field 6.3). More details can be found in chapter 6.3.3.
- The size of the input file (field 6.7). The default setting calculates 8760 steps of 60 minutes. But it is possible to calculate a time period of less than one year and hence, to calculate with a smaller input files. **Note**: There are max. 8760 time steps possible.
- The estimation of the start temperature (field 6.8). This option results in a shorter calculation time for long simulation periods (>10 years). But the results are less precise and they should only be used for rough estimations.

3.9.2 Input of the heat extraction rate and the borehole inlet temperature

The borehole inlet temperature in field 6.6 or in field 4.10 is taken as a base for the calculations of the possible heat extraction rate (i.e. the heat extraction rate is not determined by the heat pump) if in field 6.2 "no" is selected.

3.9.3 The active, additional cooling if freecooling is not sufficient

If in the field 6.9 "yes" is selected, there is an additional cooling machine installed which uses the boreholes as a back cooling. The cooling machine is activated if the freecooling covers less than a certain fraction of the total cooling demand (the fraction is defined in the field 6.11). In this case, the boreholes have to absorb the compressor power of the cooling machine which is calculated with the heating COP (=EER +1) of the cooling machine (field 6.10).

3.9.4 Serial connection of boreholes or energy poles

With short boreholes and energy poles, it can happen that with a parallel connection the flow turns out to be laminar. This can reduce the performance bigly. To avoid this, usually the boreholes or energy poles are connected serially. This increases the flow rate. This is considered and reproduced in the program EWS in the field 6.13, with the input of the number of boreholes which are connected serially.

3.9.5 Antifreeze (minimal brine temperature) und bivalent heat pump systems

To ensure the anti-freeze protection and to take into account bivalent heat pump systems, a minimal brine temperature can be set in field 6.15. To activate the anti-freeze protection, the field 6.14 must be set to "Yes". Now when the brine temperature falls below the minimal temperature in field 6.15, the heat pump reduces its work and there is no heat extraction from the borehole any more. In order to be able to calculate the missing heat when the heat pump stops to work, the COP of the heat pump at the minimal brine temperature must be given in field 6.16. In field 6.17 the missing heat production of the heat pump is added up after the calculation of the system.

3.9.6 The response test

Open the sheet "Simulation" (menu bar "Windows") to check the thermal response test (see Fig. 3.63).

Select the thermal response on the sheet "Simulation" (field 6.3). This automatically changes various default values:

- It is only possible to calculate reasonable results for the unsteady borehole fluid. Therefore, field 6.1 is set to "no".
- The calculation of the thermal response must be done with the maximal number of ground layers. Thus, the number of horizontal layers in the earth is set to 10 (field 3.1).
- The time steps for the simulation of the fluid and of the earth are reduced. For this purpose the time step factor of the fluid (field 7.5, "security 1") is changed from 4 to 40 and that of the earth (field 7.6, "security 2") from 2 to 20.
- The time step to calculate the boreholes is set to 1 minute (field 7.4) if the duration of the thermal response is set to 1 h (field 6.4).
- . The size of the input file for the thermal response (field 6.7) is adapted to the duration of the thermal response.

The classical case of the thermal response test extracts or adds a constant heat rate from the ground. This rate must be entered in field 6.5. Thereby, to the convention of the signs must be paid attention to:

- positive sign: -> heat extraction from the earth
- negative sign: -> heat induction to the earth

The temperature step (field 6.6) is ignored in this type of response test.

Do not forget to enter the correct mass flow rate of the borehole (field 2.7)!

Fig. 3.64 illustrates the first 60 minutes of the thermal response of a borehole (40mm double-Upipe, depth: 150 m, mass flow rate: 0.7 kg/s of 33% Monoethylenglykol, heat input of 10kW). The first temperature maximum after 6.5 minutes is clearly visible (Halftime of the borehole cycle). This maximum is a consequence of the piston-effect of the fluid.



Fig. 3.64: The example of the thermal response of a borehole during the first hour.

There is another type of the thermal response test which is less frequently used. In this type the borehole inlet temperature is constant and the borehole outlet temperature and the borehole heat extraction rate is analyzed. For this type of response test field 6.2 ("Iteration of borehole heat extraction rate? (Heat extraction rate given)") must be set to "no" and the constant borehole inlet temperature must be entered in field 6.6. This type of thermal response test ignores the "heat extraction step" (field 6.5).

3.10 The sheet "Water" (Groundwater influence)

The sheet "water" is only available in the Pro Version of the program and it allows the consideration of groundwater influence in the earth such as the seasonal fluctuation at the surface. The sheet "water" is chosen in the dropdown from the menu bar "Windows".

The program EWS uses a balance method for the consideration of the groundwater influence. For this the stream cross section under the influence of the borehole is defined. For this the groundwater flow direction must be defined in the sheet "field of boreholes". This can be done by adding two Isohypse-lines (equal height lines) with the groundwater surface. Groundwater usually flows perpendicularly to its surface isohypse. By pressing the button S27 the field S28 appears, in which the absolute height of the first isohypse can be added. After the beginning and end point of the isohypse line can be added (left mouse click), a third click anywhere on the map will confirm the isohypse line. This process is to be repeated with Button S29 and field S30 for the second isohypse line. If these two lines are not parallel to each other, the programs calculates the stream cross section based on the angle bisector line and the stream direction perpendicular to it. The boreholes are now projected perpendicular onto it and the largest distance is calculated. This distance plus 4m, multiplied with the depth of the aquiferous layers (field W16-W19) results in the cross section stream area of the aquiferous layer which is influenced by the borehole. The program EWS assumes that the groundwater temperature is always equal to the untouched ground temperature of the correspondent ground layer. On the outer layer of the simulation area (see chapter 6.1) the energy balance is made and the average ground temperature is calculated based on the sum of the extracted energy from the boreholes and the net heat inflow of the groundwater with help of the g functions (see Eq. 6.21). In accordance with this model, the effective thermal conductivity λ_{eff} is used inside of the simulation radius (with groundwater, input in field 3.15, see chapter 3.6.3), yet λ_{real} is used for the marginal conditions (without groundwater, input in field 3.16).



Caution: the groundwater influence is not applicable if neighboring boreholes have been defined (see chapter 3.3.7)

| 🥬 Eing | jabedat | en EW | /S | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---------|---------|-------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|---------------|--------------|-----------|--------|---------|--------------|-----------------|--------------|---------|-------|--------------|
| File Ir | nput | Impor | t Results | Windows | Info | example | Off | set we | ather o | data | | | | | |
| | | | 1 | Syste | m | | 6 | 7 | | 8 | W | ĸ | | | |
| | | | Boreholes | Grap | h | | -traction | Info | | Simulation | water | Kollektoren | | | |
| | | | Hudraulie | Heat | Pump | | oundwater | امرما | | | | | | | |
| lr | nput | | Tryardunc | Resu | lts | | oundmatch | | _ | | | | | | |
| | 1.0 | | calculate in | g-fu | nction | | • Yes | O No | W | 1 | | | | | |
| Laic | ulation | | hydraulic c ⁱ | Simu | Ilation | | 5.0E-0002 | m/s | W2 | gravel | | • | W5 | | |
| Ο | nen | | hydraulic c | Para | meter | | 5.0E-0008 | m/s | W3 | clayey silt | | • | W6 | | |
| | | | hydraulic c | press | ure | | 5.0E-0005 | m/s | W4 | fine grained | d sand | • | W7 | | |
| S | ave | | Darcy verk | Grou | ndwate | er | 8.2E-0004 | m/s | W8 | unner level | of groundwate | er 1 | 1.00 | m | W16 |
| | | | Darcy veric | solar | collect | or | 8.2E-0007 | m/s | wg | upper level | of groundwate | ar 2 | 2.00 | | |
| Re | esults | | Darcy verlo | city of layer (| 3 | | 8.2E-0009 | m/s | w10 | | | | 2.00 | | |
| | | | influenced a | area bu groui | ndwater | 1 | 0.0 | m2 | 10/4 4 | upper level | or groundwate | ero | 3.00 | m | W18 |
| | | | initiacheed (| lica by grou | amator | | 0.0 | mz | VV 11 | lower edge | of groundwate | er 3 | 4.00 | m | W19 |
| | | | influenced a | area by grou | ndwater | 2 | 0.0 | m2 | W12 | ground leve | el | | 400.000 | m.ü.M | W20 |
| | | | influenced a | area by grou | ndwater | 3 | 0.0 | m2 | W13 | groundwate | er contour line | 1 | 452.600 | m.ü.M | W21 |
| | | | pressure gra | adient i of the | e ground | dwater | 0.01633 | m/m | W14 | groundwate | er contour line | 2 | 452.200 | m.ü.M | W22 |
| | | | direct input (instead of g | of the hydr. graphic input | pressure) | drop | C Yes | 🖲 No | V | V15 | | | , | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | Heat flux f | rom the bas | ement in the | ground | | |
| | | | Include se | easonal ch | ange o | of soil temp | erature: | | _ | basement a | irea | | 0.0 | m2 | W26 |
| | | | seasonal ch | hange of soil | tempera | ature: | C Yes | No | W23 | U-value of I | the basement | | 1.0 | W/m2l | K W27 |
| | | | Amplitude o | f soil temper | ature | | 9.5 | K | W24 | Temperatur | e of basemen | t in summer | 10.0 | °C | W28 |
| CI | lose | | Coldest day | of the year | | | 15 | d | W25 | emperature | of basement i | n winter | 10.0 | °C | W29 |

Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber Energietechnik AG 👘 🔍 Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich

Fig. 3.66: Sheet "water" for the consideration of groundwater influence and seasonal fluctuation.

- W1 Groundwater Influence is only considered if field W1 is set to "yes"
- W2–W7 The hydraulic conductibility kf (permeability parameter) is a property of the aquiferous layer. The pulldown menus W5-W7 suggest typical values, yet calculations are always made with values of W2-W4.
- W16-W19 The aquiferous layers are defined by depth under ground level in fields W16-W19. It is assumed that the ground until the first aquiferous layer is without water. The example on the right represents the situation described in Fig. 3.66.



W23-W25 The seasonal fluctuations of

the earth surface can optionally be added. This makes sense especially in the case of strong groundwater flows or not very deep boreholes or energy poles. In this case the ground temperature is corrected according to following equation, depending on the depth z:

$$T = T_{mo} - \Delta T_o \cdot \exp\left(-z \cdot \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{a \cdot t_a}}\right) \cdot \cos\left(\frac{2\pi}{t_a}t - z \cdot \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{a \cdot t_a}}\right)$$
eq. 3.3

W26-29 If the heat flow of a building over energy poles should be calculated, according to eq. 6.21, the fields W26-W29 are to be filled.

3.11 The sheet "solar collector" (solar regeneration)

The sheet "solar collector" is only available in the Pro Version. It allows the calculation of solar borehole regeneration, according to the schematic in Fig. 3.67. This example is based on a published validation project in Mettmenstetten [15].



Fig. 3.67: Schematic of the solar regeneration.

The solar yield of the collectors is newly calculated in hourly steps, under consideration of the heat pump operation and the borehole temperatures.

For the choice of the weather data (solar radiation and air temperature), collector slope, azimuth and horizon shadowing the Standard-Format of the Meteorological Norm [19] can be imported with the button K12. In this case the Standard-Format data of the Meteorological Norm is imported and the fields K8 and K9 disappear from the sheet "collectors". The weather only influences the solar yield but not the load profile of the heat pump.

 \triangleright

| Standort Standortname Locarno Standorttyp Städte Höhe [m] 20 Geogr. Länge [*] 8. Geogr. Breite [*] 40 Lage Meer/See Zeitzone Zeitzone Zeitreferenz [min.] | Daten Strahlungs Standard (\$ Temperatu Standard (\$ Modell für Perez Zeitperiod Temperatu Strahlung 1.00 | modell Stunde) Stunde) Stunde) geneigte Flächen i 1996-2005 i 1981-2000 ttl. Extremwerte | nat gabeformate ndard nut Neigung 30 zontdatei | Auswertung Resultate gespeichert Einheiten Temperatur P[C] [F] Einheiten Strahlung [W/m2] [MJ/m2] [KV/h/m2 m] [KV/h/m2 d] | Weiter |
|---|---|---|---|--|--------|
| Standort | Daten | Format | Auswertung | Exit | |
| Ausgabeformate — Meteonomi Standard User detine Meteo | Gebäudi TRI CH HEL | esimulation PV - NSYS F Meteo F JOS-PC F | VSOL VSyst VS | Flächenausrichtung Azimut <mark>45</mark> Neigung <mark>30</mark> | |

Fig. 3.68: Input of weather data, Azimuth (east= -90, south= 0°, west= 90°), slope and horizon in the program METEONORM [19]

If no meteorological data is imported, the default is the DRY-Database for Zürich SMA. Azimuth and slope of the collectors must then be imported to fields K8 and K9.

| File | Input | Import | Results | Windows | Info | example | Maps (| Offset we | ather da | ta | | | |
|------|------------|--------|--------------|--------------------|----------|-------------|-----------|-----------|--------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|---------|------------|
| | | | 1 | Syster | m | | 5 | 6 | | Κ | | | |
| | | В | oreholes | Grank | | | raction | Info | Ko | llektoren | | | |
| | | | ممامد ممال | Orapi | _ | | - | | K 4 | Т | | | |
| | Innut | | solal coll | Heat | Pump | | | | | ' | __ K12 | Meteo d | ata |
| | mpor | | calculate | Result | ts | | • Yes | O No | K2 | Offeet weather data | | 0 | [b] |
| C. | -levietien | | calculate | g-fun | ction | | | | | Oliset Wedther data | NIS | U | [1] |
| | alculation | | 10 % loss | Simul | ation | | Yes | ⊖ No | K3 | glazed collectors | | | |
| | Onen | | unglazed | Paran | neter | | G Yes | C No. | K4 | collector coefficient Eta0 | K14 | 0.925 | |
| | open | | - | | | | ,0 103 | - | | collector coefficient a1 | K15 | 15.65 | W/m2K1 |
| | <u> </u> | 1 | absorber - | pressu | ure | | 10.00 | [m2] | K5 | collector coofficient c2 | KIJ KIJ | 0.000 | D.(1~2K2) |
| | Save | | absorber (| Grour | ndwate | er | 10.000 | [m2] | K6 | | K16 | 0.0000 | |
| | | | number of | solar | collect | or | 1.0 | | K7 | collector coefficient bu | K17 | 0.0120 | [s/m] |
| I | Results | | number of | | | | -11.0 | _ | i.v | collector coefficient b1 | K18 | 11.200 | Tu//m2K1 |
| | | | azimuth di | rection of coll | ectors | | 45.0 | [*] | K8 | collector coefficient b? | 1410 | 2.450 | Dula (m2K1 |
| | | | inclination | angle of colle | ectors | | 45.0 | [*] | K9 | collector coefficient bz | K19 | 2.450 | [ws/max] |
| | | | on of colle | eter fluid | | | 2000 | | KK10 | domestic hot water | K20 | | No |
| | | | cp or cone | ctor haid | | | 13300 | | | calculate solar water heating? | | \$71035 | |
| | | | wind spee | du | | | 1.5 | [m/s] | K11 | 1st priority on tap water | | C Yes 🖲 | No |
| | | | | | | | | | | temperature of domestic hot w | /a <mark>k€21</mark> | 60 | [°C] |
| | | | system in | tegration | | | | | | size of solar heat exchanger | K22 | 9.0 | [m2] |
| | | | A * k of th | e borehole he | eat excl | hanger | 1000000 | [W/K |] K28 | A × k norm2 color boot oucho | | 100.0 | D.(//w.2) |
| | | | counter flo | w of heat exc | change | : | 0.50 | _ | K29 | A ik per niz solar near excha | | 100.0 | [W/NIIZ] |
| | | | temperatu | re difference i | of heat | exchanger | 0.00 | | K30 | size of solar storage tank | K24 | 1000 | [Liter] |
| | | | may hore | hole inlet tem | | | 40.0 | - Inci | K24 | losses of solar storage tank | K25 | 0.010 | [1/h] |
| | | | max. Dorei | ioic inilet territ | Selature | 5 | 40.0 | | NJ I | demand of domestic hot wate | K26 | 700 | [kWh/a] |
| | Close | | collector fl | owrate | | | 0.10 | [kg/s | K32 | | N20 | 0 | |
| | 0.000 | | proposition | n of collector I | flowrate | e | Calculati | on | K33 | solar generated hot water | K27 | U | [kWh/a] |
| | | Prog | gramm EWS | , Lizenz für H | luber E | nergietechn | ik AG 💿 | Huber Er | hergietech | nik AG, Zürich | | | |

Fig. 3.69: Sheet "solar collectors" for the calculation of solar regeneration.

- K1 Pulldown-Menu for the choice of a limited amount of solar collectors. Not obligatory input, since calculations are always based on characteristic collector values.
- K2 To enable solar regeneration, K2 must be set to "Yes".
- **K3** If K3 is set to "Yes", the solar yield has a 10% loss, which accounts for thermal losses in the collector pipes and a real regulation.
- K4 If K4 is set to "Yes" (unglazed collectors), the collector constants in fields K14-K16 are to be filled out, with glazed collectors this is the case for fields K17-K19.
- K5 K5 is the input field for the net absorber area, not the gross collector area
- K11 The wind speed is only considered in the case of unglazed collectors. The wind speed is not taken from the weather dataset, but as a constant from field K11 for the entire year.
- **K13** For the solar yield it is substantial, if the heat pump runs during the day or the night. In the standard load profile (Offset = 0h) the heat pump runs until midnight for domestic warm water and after midnight for the heating demand, as long as it needs to reach the total daily heat demand. With the offset, the running time of heat pump can be transferred into daytime. E.g. with an offset of 10h the heat pump runs until 10 a.m. for the domestic warm water heating and after 10 a.m. it runs for the heating demand. The offset can be defined in the main menu under "Offset weather data".
- **K14-K16** Parameters for the determination of the efficiency of glazed collectors, without wind influence, related to the absorber surface:

 $\eta = \eta_o - a_1 (T_m - T_a) / G - a_2 (T_m - T_a)^2 / G$

with G = irradiance $[W/m^2]$ T_m = average fluid temperature [°C] T_a = ambient air temperature [°C]

K17-K19 Parameters for the determination of the efficiency of unglazed collectors, with wind influence (with wind speed u [m/s]), related to the absorber surface. The collector constant η_o (K14) must also be entered for this purpose:

$$\begin{split} \eta &= \eta_o \left(1-u \ b_u\right) - \left(b_1+u \ b_2\right) \left(T_m-T_a\right) / G \\ T_m &= average \ fluid \ temperature \ [^\circ C] \\ T_a &= ambient \ air \ temperature \ [^\circ C] \end{split}$$

- K20-K27 The calculation of the direct use share for the solar domestic water pre-heating is merely an approximation. The heat demand for domestic warm water use which must be generated by the heat pump (field 10.3 on the sheet "Load") must be reduced by the amount in field K27.
- **K28-K29** The size of the heat exchanger to the borehole circuit (between the collector circuit and the borehole circuit) is defined by the heat exchanger area A [m2] and the heat transfer coefficient k [W/Km], as well as the countercurrent ratio K29. Simplified, the value A*k can be estimated from the heat exchanger's transfer capacity [W] divided by the heat exchanger's temperature-grade [K] between the borehole circuit and the collector circuit. Good heat exchangers achieve a countercurrent ratio of 85-90%. If there is no separation between the two circuits, A*k can be set to a very high value (e.g. 99999999) and the countercurrent ratio can be set to 1.
- **K30** The temperature difference of the heat exchanger (temperature-grade, [K]) between the collector circuit and the borehole circuit is a result of the calculation and is only displayed after the calculation.

K31 To protect the geothermal boreholes, a bypass of the heat exchanger to the borehole circuit is often installed, with which the maximum return temperature to the boreholes can be limited. If there is no such bypass, the value should be set to 999 (= no limitation).

Attention: As soon as collectors are used (K2 set to "yes"), the temperature limitation "Freecooling" (10.29) on the sheet "Load" will be overwritten with the value of K31.

K32-K33 The massflow in the collector circuit [kg/s] can be defined in field K32. For a quick design it is possible that the program EWS proposes a default value for the collector massflow. For this you can press the button "Calculation" K33.

The temperatures in the collector circuit can be displayed on the graphical output, month by month for the last calculation year:



After saving a calculation including a solar collector, the weather data used (outside temperature Ta and global radiation Gk) are saved in the EWS – file, starting at line 1002 and can be edited there (cf. chapter 3.8.2). The global radiation Gk [MJ/m2] is normalized to an inclination of 45° and an azimuth of 45°. If the effective values of the global radiation on the correspondingly aligned and shaded area are entered in the column of Gk, the azimuth and the inclination in K8 and K9 must be set to 45° so that the radiation data is used directly, without further conversion.

| | А | В | С | D | E | F | G | Н | I. | J | |
|------|------|----------|--------------|------------|--------------|---------|------------|----------|--------|----------|---|
| 1001 | Step | M [kg/s] | TSink max [° | Qsoll [kW] | TSource [°C] | Ta [°C] | Gk [MJ/m2] | TMonitor | p [Pa] | laminar? | 1 |
| 1002 | 1 | 55.879 | 25 | 704.748 | 9.945 | 3.2 | 0 | 10 | 6905 | FALSE | |
| 1003 | 2 | 55.879 | 25 | 704.748 | 9.546 | 2.9 | 0 | 9.73 | 6905 | FALSE | |
| 1004 | 3 | 55.879 | 25 | 704.748 | 9.309 | 2.4 | 0 | 9.57 | 6905 | FALSE | |
| 1005 | 4 | 55.879 | 25 | 704.748 | 9.16 | 2.3 | 0 | 9.46 | 6905 | FALSE | |

Abb. 3.70: The weather data Ta and Gk, stored in the EWS – file, can be adjusted.

3.12 Dataexport to the program Polysun

In order to export the borehole date to the program Polysun [27] navigate to "Import" \rightarrow "Export Polysun" and save this export-file:

| 🥖 Eingabeo | daten EWS | |
|-------------|--|---------------------------|
| File Input | Import Results Windows Info example | Maps Offset weather data |
| | Existing calculation Earth properties (SwEWS) | Load Info Para |
| Input | Weather data from Meteonorm TRT | ving values? n) |
| Calculation | Export Polysun | 00 [kWh] COP at full load |
| | Export borehole locations | 00 [kWh] COP for tap wat |
| Open | Import borehole locations | [kWh] COP for heating |
| | No hourly data | [kWh] EER for cooling |

Fig. 3.71: Export of borehole and geological data for the import into the program Polysun

| 🥖 Speicherr | n unter | | × |
|-------------|--------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------|
| Speichern | Export_Polysun | ▼ ⇐ 🗈 📸 ▼ | |
| Name | ^ Polysun.txt | Änderungsdatum 26.09.2020 22:26 | Typ Textdoku |
| < | | | > |
| Dateiname: | Export_Polysun.txt | | Speichem |
| Dateityp: | Textdateien | • | Abbrechen |

Fig. 3.72: Save the export file with borehole and geological data.

The interface between EWS and Polysun exports the data for the properties of the earth and filling (layerwise), as well as the thermal borehole resistance, borehole geometry, number and layout of the boreholes from to the further use in Polysun. For the borehole layout the calculated g-functions are exported. The load profile are not exported as it is defined separately in the program Polysun.

The exported data can be imported by the program Polysun. Double click on the borehole symbol, and a menu will appear. In the menu choose "EWS-Datei" and set this to "Ja". Afterwards choose the "EWS Projekt-Datei" and choose the corresponding EWS export file.



| • | | T C | | | | | | | |
|-------------|--|-----------------------------------|-------------|-----------------|-------------|--------|--------|-----------|---|
| @ 1 | Name | | | Wert | Einheit | Schema | | | |
| B A K | Beschreibung Inzeige in Rep Greislauf-Besc | oort chreibung | | 2 ▼ sichtbar | | | | | |
| S A | Sondenlänge Inzahl Erdwär | mesenden | | 294 2 | m | | _ | _ | |
| | WS-Datei | | | ▼ Ja | | | | | |
| S Ji | WS Projekt-L condenvorlauf ährliche Entzi | latei Idauer Igsenergie dei | r Sonde | 0 58.800 | Jahr KWh | | ÷ | | |
| 0 | Öffnen | | | | | | | | × |
| | Suchen in: | Export_P | olysun | | | | × 🗖 🎦 | | |
| Zu | uletzt verw | Export_P | olysun.txt | | | | | | |
| | Desktop | Dateiname: | Export_P | olysun.txt | | | | Öffnen | |
| | E) | Dateityp: | TXT (*.txt) |) | | | \sim | Abbrechen | |

Fig. 3.74: Choose the EWS export file for the import of the borehole data to Polysun.

 \triangleright

3.13 The sheet "Pressure"

To open the sheet "Pressure", open the pull-down menu "Windows" from the menu bar and select the sheet "Pressure" or open the pull-down menu "Input" from the menu bar and select "Pressure drop".

This option is only available in the complete version of the program EWS.



Fig. 3.75: Error message, if no full version of the EWS Program is available.

In the sheet "Pressure" it is possible to calculate the pressure drop in the borehole. Additionally the flow regime is calculated (laminar or a turbulent flow regime in the pipes). A more detailed description of the used model is given in reference [12].

| Huid Earth Simulation | | Fluid Earth Load Info | Simulatio Par | amete Druck | | | | | | |
|--|---------------------------|------------------------------------|------------------|-------------|------------|--------|------|--|--|--|
| Extraction Parameter Info | | ıre drop | <mark>8.1</mark> | Calcula | te | | | | | |
| Ventilation schedule | | re drop to be calculated? | 8.2 | • Yes C | e Yes C No | | | | | |
| Field of boreholes | | pressure drop in evaporator [Pa] | 8.3 | 8000 | | | | | | |
| Single borehole in a fi Profile from geotherm | ield nal heat transfer | nass flow in evaporator [kg/s] | 8.4 | 2.200 | 7.637 | [m3/h] | | | | |
| Mass flow rate [kg/s] Heat exchanger / Dry | / cooler | pressure drop in manifold [Pa] | 8.5 | 5000 | | | | | | |
| Peak cooling load | | nass flow in manifold [kg/s] | 8.6 | 1.800 | 6.249 | [m3/h] | | | | |
| Results | nominal | pressure drop in counter [Pa] | 8.7 | 5500 | | | | | | |
| nominal | | I mass flow in counter [kg/s] | 8.8 | 2.300 | 7.985 | [m3/h] | | | | |
| | | pressure drop in valve [Pa] | 8.9 | 1200 | | | | | | |
| | nominal | I mass flow in valve [kg/s] | 8.10 | 2.500 | 8.679 | [m3/h] | | | | |
| | horizont | tal extension to the boreholes [m] | 8.11 | 25 | | | | | | |
| | length c | of inlet pipe [m] | 8.12 | 15.00 | | | | | | |
| | number | of inlet pipes | 8.13 | 1 | | | | | | |
| | inner dia | ameter of inlet pipes [m] | 8.14 | 0.057 | | | | | | |
| num | | of bows | 8.15 | 6 | | | | | | |
| | Pressur | e drop | 8.16 | 44314 | Pa | 8.18 | Info | | | |
| Close | turbuler | nt flow regime | 8.17 | turbulent | | | | | | |

Fig. 3.76: The sheet "Pressure".

- 8.1 After each change of the input data, the button "Calculate" must be clicked to calculate the new results.
- 8.2 If field 8.2 is set to "yes", the pressure drop in the borehole pipes (without the supply pipes) is calculated for each time step and written into the result file (one per hour). Hence, the pressure drop in the result file represents only the pipe itself, without the supply pipe and without the pressure drop in the evaporator, etc.



Projekt Erdwaermesonden Programm EWS, Ver 5.5 mit Default-Werten

Fig. 3.77: Display of the results in the borehole circuit

- 8.3-8.10 The input of the nominal pressure drop of single components at nominal mass flow rates. The nominal mass flow rate can vary for each component. The conversion to the effective pressure drop is done with the parable approach.
- 8.11 Length of the borehole extension (usually the distance from the borehole head to the borehole manifold, only length of one pipe). The longest borehole extension must be specified. The program EWS assumes that the borehole extension has the same pressure drop per meter as the geothermal borehole per meter (e.g. De 50mm PN16 for boreholes De 40mm PN16, combined with Y-piece). If the specific pressure drop in the borehole extension is different from the geothermal borehole, the borehole extension must be calculated as a borehole feed line (8.12 8.14).
- 8.12 Length of the borehole supply pipe (inlet pipe, usually from the manifold to the heat pump, only enter the length of one pipe). If the specific pressure drop in the borehole heat exchanger differs from the borehole extension, the borehole extension can also be entered here as a borehole supply pipe.
- 8.13 Number of borehole supply pipes (inlet pipes). As a rule, 1 should be entered here (one borehole supply pipe, only inlet pipes are counted). If, exceptionally, the borehole extensions are entered as supply pipes, the number of parallel borehole extensions to the manifold must be entered here (without return flow).

- 8.14 The inner diameter of the supply pipes (normally from the manifold to the heat pumpe). The inner diameter of the inlet pipe DN 40 usually is 0.032 m (for DN 50 it is 0.037 m).
- 8.15 The number of bows in the borehole loop (enter the number of the total bows in the inlet AND outlet pipe). The pressure drop is calculated with:

$$\Delta p = \zeta \, \frac{\rho_{Sole}}{2} \, v^2 \qquad \qquad \text{eq. 3.4}$$

in which $\zeta = 2$ is entered for each bow.

8.16 The pressure drop for the whole borehole loop. Please note that after each change of any input data, the button "Calculate" must be pressed to adjust the result.

The pressure drop Δp of the flow in the borehole and in the inlet pipe is calculated with:

$$\Delta p = \xi \frac{2H}{D_i} \frac{\rho_{Sole}}{2} v^2 \qquad \text{eq. 3.5}$$

In the laminar case (Re < 2'300), ξ is calculated with:

$$\xi = \frac{64}{\text{Re}}$$
 eq. 3.6

In the turbulent case (Re > 2'300) the approach by Petukhov is used:

$$\xi = [0.790 \ln(\text{Re}) - 1.64]^{-2} \qquad \text{eq. 3.7}$$

All other pressure drops are converted from the nominal mass flow to the effective borehole mass flow using the parabolic approach.

- 8.17 Information about the flow regime in the borehole (laminar or turbulent). The transition from laminar to turbulent flow occurs at a Reynold's number of 2'300.
- 8.18 Press the "Info" button to display the results of the pressure loss calculation according to Fig. 3.77.
- 8.19 Pressure drop of the geothermal borehole heat exchangers, excluding feed pipes and borehole heat exchanger extensions.
- 8.20 By pressing the "Copy" button, the figure Fig. 3.77 is copied to the clipboard and can then be copied to a word-document in a second step.

3.14 The sheet "Parameter"

Select the sheet "Parameter" from the pull-down menu "Windows" in the menu (see Fig. 3.78). The simulation grid, the simulation time steps and the stop criterion for the iteration can be defined in the sheet "Parameter".

Additionally the option to write the results in the output file can be chosen.

Normally, the user has no need to fill in the sheet "Parameter", since it can be calculated with the default values for most cases.

| 1 | Eingabe | daten EV | VS | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|-----|------------------------------------|----------------|------------|-------------------------|---------------------|--------------|-------------------|------------------------|----------|-----------------------------------|--------|----------------------------|----------------------|--|--|
| Fi | e I <u>n</u> put | <u>I</u> mport | Edition | Windows | In <u>f</u> o | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | System | | | | | | | | | | | |
| | | | | Graph | | | 8 - | | | | | 1 | | | |
| | Inpu | ıt | Foreho | Heat Pu | ımp | arth | Extraction | 5Info | 6 | nulation Pay | ameter | · | | | |
| - | | | Sim | a-functi | ion | | | | | Axial partition: see page 'Earth' | | | | | |
| | Calcula | ation | Sir | Simulati | on | | | | 7.1 | 2.50 | _ | | | | |
| - | | | | Parame | ter | bits | | | 7.2 | 5 | - | between 4 ar | nd 12 | | |
| | Ope | n | Gri | procesa anacioi, raa | naraneo | don: | | | 73 | 2.000 | - | | | | |
| 1 - | | | o. | | | | | | | 1 | | | | | |
| | Sav | e | Sim | ulation time | e step: ctop [mi | 5 n1 | | | | 60 | - | hac to corroc | nand with input file | | |
| IF | _ | | | | areb [iiii | | | | 7.4 | 160 | | nasio conespona warmputile | | | |
| _ | Results Fluid time step ('security | | | | ty 1') | | | 7.5 | 4.0 | j recon | | commended: 4 | | | |
| | | | Ea | rth time step |) ('secur | ity 2') | | 7.6 2.0 recommended: 2 | | | | | | | |
| | Time step of outer boun | | | | | ndary | conditions [w | /eeks] | 7.7 | · 1 | | recommende | ed: 1 | | |
| | Stop criterion for the its | | | | | | on | | | | | | | | |
| | | | ac | curacy of ite | ration [* | C] | | | 7.8 | 0.01000 | - | | | | |
| | | | Num | horofling | na in th | | utfile | | 7.0 | | | | File TEarth.ews: | | |
| | | | Wri | ite results in | outout fi | e ouq le? | ut me. | | 70 | C Yes | € No | | C Yes @ No | | |
| | | | Nu | mber of simi | ulation s | tens n | er outnut vali | Ie. | 7.9 | - 1 | - | | 720 | | |
| | | | Ma | nitor point in | avial di | raction | | - | 7.1 | 0 ' | _ | | 1,20 | | |
| | | | inio La | | r axiai ai | rection | | | 7.1 | 1! | | | | | |
| | | | Mo | nitor point in | i radial c | lirectio | n | | 7.12 | 2 | | | | | |
| | | | Wri | ite all simula | ation yea | ars in o | utput file? | | 7.1 | 3 C Yes | © No | | | | |
| | Clos | e | Wri | ite starting c | ondition | s on fil | ∋? | | 7.14 | C Yes | • No | | | | |
| - | | | Re | calculate Rt | b in eacl | n times | tep? | | 7.15 | C Yes | No | | | | |
| | | | Program | nm EWS, Lia | zenz für | Probe | version © | Huber E | nergiete | chnik AG, Zi | irich | | | | |
| | | | Program | nm Evva, Liz | zenz iur | Proper | /ersion © | muper ci | nergiete | Chriik AG, Zi | unen | | | | |

Fig. 3.78: The sheet "Parameter".

In field 7.15 is defined whether the thermal borehole resistance R_b is recalculated for each calculation step. The borehole resistance R_b (thermal resistance between borehole and fluid) is basically a parameter which is influenced by geometrical factors of the borehole, by the properties of the filling material and by the pipes. Additionally, it includes the heat transfer coefficient α (from the piping wall to the fluid) which depends on the mass flow rate in the pipes. Since the program EWS offers the option to simulate a variable mass flow rate, the user gets two options: Either the heat transfer coefficient α (and thereby the thermal borehole resistance R_b) is recalculated for each calculation step or R_b is kept constant for the whole simulation. If the field 7.15 is left on the default setting ("no"), R_b is calculated at the beginning of the simulation on the basis of the design mass flow rate (field 2.7). This choice has an influence on the computation speed.

3.15 Properties of the heat pump and of the supplementary heating system

The complete version of the program EWS is able to include additional information about the heat pump as well as about the additional heating system. Select the sheet "Heat pump" from the pulldown menu "Windows" in the menu bar (see Fig. 3.79). In the following, the sheet "heat pump" appears (see Fig. 3.80). The sheet "Heat Pump" cannot be combined with the sheet "Load".

| 🚽 🥕 Eingabedate | en EWS |
|-----------------------------|---|
| File Input Im | port Edition Windows Info |
| | System |
| Input | Boreho Heat Fump anth Extraction Info Sim Results |
| Calculation | Pre g-function Simulation is Parameter calculated? |
| Open | pressure ne mma pressure and in evaporator (Pa) |
| Save | nominal mass flow in evaporator [kg/s] |
| Fig. 3.79: The op | ening of the sheet "heat pump". |
| | |
| 2 Wärmepumpe | |
| line terrene e | |
| Heat pumpe p | roperties and supplementary neating system: |
| Calculate heat extraction | n rate with heat pump properties? |
| 9.1 C Yes © No | Heating power of heat pump at 0°C 1.5 9.5 KW |
| 9.2 COP at -5°C = 2.50 | Minimal borehole inlet temperature = -10.0 9.6 *C |
| 9.3 COP at 0°C = 3.00 | COP at 10°C = 4.00 9.7 (optional input) |
| 9.4 COP at 5°C = 3.50 | COP at 15°C = 4.50 9.8 (optional input) |
| Borehole circulation pur | np: |
| El. power consumption of bo | orehole pump = 50 W 9.9 |
| Bivalent heating system | ? |
| 9.10 C Yes © No | Power of supplementary heating system: 0.0 KW 9.11 |
| 9.12 Calculation 9.1 | 3 Graph 9.14 Close |

Fig. 3.80: The input mask of the heat pump properties and the additional heating system.

9.1 The inputs from this mask are used for the calculation, if the question "Calculate heat extraction rate with heat pump properties?" is answered with "yes". In a first step, the program checks the consistency of the input data in field 9.5 (heating power of the heat pump), in field 9.3 (COP at 0°C borehole outlet temperature) and in field 4.4 (evaporator power, extraction rate). In the case of inconsistent input data, the program EWS asks if the input in field 4.4 should be adjusted. If then the field 4.4 is not adjusted, field 9.5 is ignored for all further calculations.

The extraction rate Q_{outlet} (field 4.4) is taken as the evaporator performance at 0°C borehole outlet temperature if "yes" is selected in field 9.1. In each calculation step the effective evaporator performance is adapted to the effective COP. Thereby, the program EWS assumes a constant heating power (corresponding to the input in field 9.5).

- 9.2-9.4, 9.7-9.8 In these fields the COP of the various fluid temperatures are entered. The inputs in field 9.7 and 9.8 are optional. If these values are not known, these fields can be set to zero and the program calculates them by linear extrapolation.
- 9.9 The electric power consumption of the borehole pump ought to be entered in this field.
- 9.10/9.11 In case of a bivalent heating system, the power of the supplementary heating system can be entered in the field 9.11. The field 9.10 must be set to "yes" (applied only in the case of a complete "system simulation").

3.16 Direct cooling

The complete version of the program EWS offers the option to enter data about direct cooling. Select the sheet "System" from the pull-down menu "Windows" in the menu bar (see Fig. 3.81). In the following the sheet "Systemdefinition" appears (see Fig. 3.82).



Fig. 3.81: Selection of the input mask "System" of direct cooling.



Fig. 3.82: The input mask "Systemdefinition" for direct cooling systems (without HP).

- 15. The following data must be entered in field 15 (top down): The degree of the efficiency of the heat recovery system, the temperature rise in the supply air ventilator, the desired temperature of the supply air, the condensation limit (minimum supply temperature) and the installed cooling power of an additional chiller (not shown).
- 16. The regular air flow and the air flow in cooling condition are entered here.
- 17. Field 17 requires the characteristics of the various heat exchangers in the system (3 units). Additionally, there are 4 pumps available for which the mass flow rate can be entered.
- 18. The input in field 18 defines the heating and cooling limits. If the outdoor temperature is higher than the cooling limit, the system is in cooling mode, if the outdoor temperature is lower than the heating limit, the system is in heating mode.

- 19. The program offers the option to protect the heat exchanger to the borehole loop against freezing by controlling the flow rate in the intermediate loop between the air heat exchanger and the borehole heat exchanger. To activate this, put the "Antifreeze" option button field 19 to "on".
- 20. The return temperature of the cooling system in the building, in function of the outdoor air temperature can be defined in field 20. Set the value for the return temperature, if the outdoor air temperature is 20°C and if it is 30°C. In between, the system interpolates linearly. Below 20°C outdoor air temperature and above 30°C outdoor air temperature a constant return temperature of the cooling system is assumed.
- 21. In field 21 it is defined whether it is calculated without a limit of the direct cooling rate, or with the maximal cooling rate from the input file or if the maximal heating and cooling load should be calculated with data from the sheet "Extraction". This option should always be checked when calculating variants.
- 22. If "yes" is selected in field 22, all calculations are done with the data from this input mask. If "no" is selected, the inputs of this sheet are ignored and the calculations are based on the inputs of the page "Extraction".



23. Click on the button "Ventilation schedule" to define a ventilation schedule.

Fig. 3.83: The input mask "Ventilation schedule".

24. The program EWS is able to generate a ventilation schedule. It exists also the possibility to define an hourly ventilation schedule for the whole year in the input file.

4 Examples

4.1 Selecting and loading the examples

In the Pro-Version of the program EWS there is a collection of calculation examples which can be selected directly into the program. The examples can serve as base for own calculations. These examples are described in Chapter 4.2. These can be seen and calculated with, by selecting "example" in the main menu bar.



4.2 Examples in the Program EWS

Following examples are available in the Pro-Version of the EWS program:





| E> | cample 8: | | Heating and active cooling with GW influence |
|----|---|-------------------|--|
| • | Amount of boreholes: | 12 | |
| • | Borehole length: | 120 m | |
| • | Borehole type: | 40 mm duplex | Q, = 95 KW / 65 KW |
| • | Heat output heat pump: | 95 kW | |
| • | Heating demand: | 110'000 kWh | |
| | COP neating: Heat demand domestic water: | 4.0 20'000 kWb | |
| | COP domestic water: | 20000 kWii | |
| • | Coooling capacity chiller: | 85 kW | |
| • | Cooling energy demand | 120'000 kWh | $\square \square $ |
| • | EER (=COPc) Cooling: | 4.5 | |
| • | Depth groundwater (GW): | 8 m | hydr Latth Jiolas I. Warneletf Michelle X. 🕁 🕁 🗸 Max=40°C |
| • | Material GW-Layer: | Gravel | hýdr.cenductivnýk keat conductivity λ 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 |
| | Ressure gradient GW: | 0.05 m/s | Morane 1.6 1.6 10 0 222 1222 1223 1 1223 1 1223 |
| • | Eff. thermal conductivity Gravel | | Kies 55-2 28 18 16 m XX X X X 10 m 10 m 10 m 10 m |
| | (with GW influence, from TRT): | 2.8 W/mK | |
| • | Thermal conductivity Gravel | | Teinscringer 56-5 22 18 4 m |
| | (w.o. GW influence): | 1.8 W/mK | andstein 2.5 2.5 100 m |
| E> | cample 9: | | 36 Energy pole (cement pales) in groundwater |
| • | Amount energy poles: | 36 Pcs. | |
| • | Amount poles in series: | 6 Pcs. | |
| • | Length energy poles: | 20 m | |
| • | Pole type: | Cement, 50cm | |
| • | "Borehole resistance" Rb: | 0.15 Km/W | |
| • | Heat output Heat pump: | 40 kW | |
| • | Heating demand: | 50'000 kWh | je 6 in Serie |
| • | COP Heating full load: | 4.5 | 36 concrete piles, 50 cm x 20m 6 in a row |
| | COP Heating average: | 20'000 kWb | Rb = 0.15 Km/W |
| | COP domestic water: | 35 | burt Leilfähinkeit Wärmeleiffähinkeit och |
| | Depth groundwater (GW): | 5.5 8 m | hydr. conductivity heat conductivity k [m/s] λ_{eff} λ_{ead} |
| • | Material GW-Laver: | Gravel | Moráne 1.6 1.6 4 m |
| • | hvdr. conductivity GW-Laver: | 0.05 m/s | Kies 55-2 28 18 8m 5 5m |
| • | Pressure gradient des GW: | 0.019 m/m | |
| • | Eff. therm. conduct. gravel (w. | GW): 2.8 W/mK | Teinkomiger 5E-5 2.2 1.8 4 m 4 |
| • | Therm. conductivity gravel (w.o | . GW): 1.8 W/mK | Peinsandsten 2.5 2.5 ‡ 2 m |
| E۶ | ample 10: | | Borehole Regeneration with Air-heat-exchanger |
| _ | Amount of borobology | 1 | Zürich SMA |
| | Rorehole length | - 180m | 40 KW |
| | Borehole type: | | (DT = 15K / ENV 1048) |
| | Borehole distance: | 9m | |
| | Heat output heat pump | 30 kW | 🗢 2.0 kg/s |
| • | Heating demand: | 42'000 kWh | |
| • | COP Heating: | 5.5 | 15 kW/K 70% Gegenstrom Qh =30 kW / 42'000 kWh |
| • | Heat demand domestic water: | 33'000 kWh | 70% counter flow 70% contre-courant Qww = 33'000 kWh |
| • | COP domestic water: | 4.0 | |
| • | Air-heat-exchanger: | 40 kW (ENV 1048) | COPh = 5.5 rt = 67.5 mm |
| • | Weather data set: | Zürich SMA | COP we 4.0 Bu = 87 mm $T_m = 9.8^{\circ}C$ 20 m $T_m = 9.8^{\circ}C$ $R = 40 \text{ mm}$ $h = 1.6 \text{ W/mK}$ $m = 2.0 \text{ W/mK}$ |
| • | Offset weather data: | 7h | E Projekt laden |
| • | Radius borehole r1: | 67.5mm | g g g |
| • | Shank spacing Bu: | 87mm | 160 m λ=2.5 WmK 9 m |
| • | Outer radius borehole pipe rs: | 40mm | |
| • | neat conduct. borehole filling: | ∠ w/mK | / / 4 x 180 m, 40mm-Duplex // ↓ (50a (50 Jahre / 50 years / 50 ans / 50 anni / 50 afos) |
| | | | |

5 Calculations

Edition Windows Info 32 🏓 Programm EWS - Berechnung Inpu Inlet Temp. TMin = -10.6°C Calculation Temp. [*C] December Fluid temp. Calculation January 15 TMax = -0.8°C February Year = 3 March 12 Open April May 9 June Save 6 July August 3 Results September October 0 November December -3 Extrac.rate [kW] -6 Fluid temp. Inlet Temp. 33 -9 Cooling system -12 Air temp Days Сору -15 Print 0 3 6 9 12 16 19 22 Probeversion mit Prog EWS © Huber Energietechnik, Zürich . 16 19 25 28 3 Close

5.1 Diagram of the inlet and outlet temperature of the borehole fluid

Fig. 5.1: Diagram of the inlet and outlet temperature of the fluid in December.

32. If all fields are completed correctly, the simulation is executed and illustrated by clicking on the button "Calculation".

The red line (outlet temperature) and the blue line (inlet temperature) in the diagram give the fluid temperature of the corresponding month. The two extreme values given in the right, upper corner represent the minimal and the maximal temperature (T_{min} and T_{max}) during the entire simulation period.

33. The results for each month can be viewed, printed or copied (e.g. into a Word file) by clicking on the required month.

5.2 The diagram of the heat extraction rate



Fig. 5.2: The diagram of the heat extraction rate.

Huber Energietechnik AG

- 34. The heat extraction rate of the boreholes during each month can be viewed by clicking the button "Extrac. rate". If the sign of the heat extraction rate is positive, the heat energy is extracted from the boreholes. A negative sign means that heat is injected in the borehole.
- 35. The averaged heat extraction rate over one day is shown by clicking on the button "24h average".
- 36. The cooling and the heating energies of the selected month are shown in the diagram "Extrac. rate". All input parameters can be saved and opened for a new session by clicking on the button "Open project".

5.3 Temperature course over entire simulation period

💋 Eingabedaten EWS

Instead of monthly visualizations also the entire final year of the simulation period or the entire simulation period can be displayed. For this the option "Results" in the main menu bar must be clicked and then "graph of complete simulation" (Or double click the monthly visualization).



The course over the entire simulation period appears. Depending on the choice, one can visualize the monthly maximum temperature (red), minimum temperature (blue) or the average temperature (green) of the borehole inlet temperature (TSink = Borehole inlet temp.), such as the sole temperature TBrine (pink, average temperature of borehole inlet and outlet, TBrine=(TSink+TSource)/2).



Fig. 5.3: Graphical visualization of the sole temperature over the entire simulation period. In this example the monthly maximum (red), average (green) and minimum (blue) of the borehole inlet are represented.

71



5.4 Visualization of yearly course (last simulation year)

Fig. 5.4: Graphical visualization of the sole temperature over the entire last year of the simulation period. Left: effective course of the borehole temperatures (Without still stand time); Right: Daily extrema.

5.5 Display monthly graphs

Due to insufficient computing power, it may happen, that during a calculation the displayed graph disappears or only shows an hour glass or a blue circle. Usually it is sufficient to wait until the computing has completed (it may take a few minutes). After the computing a grey display appears or the graph has disappeared completely.

| Programm EW |
|-------------------------------|
| |
| Berechnun |
| Januar |
| Februar |
| März |
| April |
| Mai |
| Juni |
| Jui |
| August |
| Septembe |
| Oktober |
| Novembe |
| Dezembe |
| Leistung |
| Sondenrückl |
| Sonden-Ter |
| Solar-/Kälter |
| |
| Luft - Tem |
| Luft - Tem Copy |
| Luft - Tem Copy Drucken |
| Luft - Tem |

Fig. 5.5: Grey display after a computation with insufficient computing power.

The graph can be opened (without calculation) from the menu: "Results" and selection "graph of complete simulation". The monthly graphs as well as the yearly course can be displayed this way.

| - 🌽 E | ingabeo | daten EW | S | | | | | | |
|-------|---------|----------|----------|----------------------------|----------|----------|------|----------------------|---------|
| File | Input | Import | Results | Windows | Info | example | Maps | Offset weather data | |
| | | | Res | sults | | | | | |
| | | B | gra | ph of comp | lete sin | nulation | | Info Parameter Kolle | ektoren |
| | Input | N | umber of | mber of horizontal layers: | | | - | External earth data | E |
| | | | | | | 1. | | SwEW/S | Ċ |

Fig. 5.6: Display of graphical results without recomputing from the menu "Results"

F
5.6 The sheet "Results"

Instead of viewing the results in a diagram, the results can be shown in a table, too. The sheet "Results" is opened by selecting it from the pull-down field "Windows" in the menu bar. Here there is an overview of several results from calculations, such as the coverage of Freecooling.

| Case description: | | | | Graph | |
|--|------------|--------------|--|---------------------------------------|-----|
| Projekt Erdwaermesonden | | | | Modify | |
| Programm EWS, Ver | 3.9 mit D(| efault-Werte | n | Calculate | |
| | | | | Close | |
| | | | | | |
| Input data: | | | Results: | | - |
| Heat conductivity of the earth = | 2.4 | W/mK | Energy injected in earth = | 0 | kWh |
| Number of boreholes = | 1 | | Energy extracted out of earth = | 2416 | kWh |
| Borehole depth = | 20.0 | m | Cooling demand of TABS = | | kWh |
| Borehole distance = | | m | Cooling demand of building = | i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | kWh |
| Outer pipe diameter = | 32 | mm | Coverage of the cooling demand by the boreholes = | | % |
| Heat extraction rate in heating condition = | 1.0 | kW | Min. inlet temperature to the borehole = | -10.6 | °C |
| Heat injection rate in cooling condition = | 1.0 | kW | Max. inlet temperature to the borehole = | -0.8 | °C |
| Number of days of peak load in February = | 4 | Tage | Max. cooling rate of boreholes = | 0.0 | kW |
| Heat extraction rate in peak load = | 1.0 | kW | Max. heating rate of boreholes = | 1.0 | kW |
| Max. needed cooling rate = | 0.0 | kW | Medium borehole load in July and August = | 0.0 | W/m |
| Max. needed heating rate = | 0.0 | kW | Number of hours above cooling temperature limit = | 0 | h |
| DT Supply Air Ventilator = | 0.0 | °C | Cooling energy produced by chiller = | 0 | kWh |
| Eta heat recovery system of the supply air = | 0.00 | | Energy gain of heat recovery system = | 0 | kWh |
| El. power consumption of borehole pump = | | W | Total heat demand = | 2416 | kWh |
| Power of supplementary heating system = | | kW | Not coverd by heat pump = | 0 | kWh |
| COP of heat pump at -5°C = | | | - covered by supplementary heating = | | kWh |
| COP of heat pump at 0°C = | | | Electrical power consumption of heat pump = | 0 | kWh |
| COP of heat pump at 5°C = | | | Electrical power consumption of circulation pump = | i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i | kWh |
| COP of heat pump at 10°C = | | | Average COP of heat pump = | 0.00 | - |
| COP of heat pump at 15°C = | | | Seasonal performance factor of heat pump = | 0.00 | |
| Annual running time of heat pump = | 2416 | h | Pressure drop in borehole = | 610 | Pa |

Fig. 5.7: The sheet "Results".

The following points must be taken into account:

- The indicated pressure loss for the designed mass flow rate considers only the borehole heat exchanger (without the pressure loss in the supply pipe and in the vaporizer). The pressure loss of the whole borehole heat exchanger loop and information about laminar or turbulent flow in the borehole can be found in the sheet "Pressure" (chapter 3.12). Additionally, the result file shows hourly pressure loss values.
- The total heat demand: If the load was defined with the sheet "Extraction" (chapter 3.7) this field shows the sum of the heat extraction of the borehole during the last year. If the load was defined with the sheet "Load" (chapter 3.8) the field "total heat demand" indicates the heat demand of the building.

5.7 Report Set Up (Windows 8, 8.1, 10)

To set up a report (only available in Windows 8, 8.1 or 10), the information about the project must be filled in according to chapter 3.5. After that a representative image, e.g. the borehole field, needs to be copied into the clipboard, according to chapter 3.5, and using button 5.6, must be inserted in the sheet Info. In the full version the image from the "Borehole Configuration" can be copied into the clipboard, by checking the box at the top left.



Fig. 5.8: Hiding the button and copying of the image into the clipboard in the sheet "Field of Boreholes"



Fig. 5.9: Making the Operation Buttons visible again and leaving the sheet "Borehole Configuration".

To set up the report, one can simply press on the Menu bar: File -> Print. Alternatively, on the sheet "Info", button 5.7 "Print" can be pressed.



Fig. 5.10: Create report by selecting Menu Info -> Print

After selecting the menu "Print", the project is calculated again and a print menu appears, with the printer choice. To create a PDF, a PDF printer must be chosen, e.g. "Microsoft Print to PD F".

| Drucken | × |
|------------------------------|---------------------|
| Drucker | |
| Name: Microsoft Print to PDF | |
| Status: Bereit | |
| Typ: Microsoft Print To PDF | |
| Standort: PORTPROMPT: | |
| Kommentar: | |
| Druckbereich | Exemplare |
| Alles | Angahl Exemplare: 1 |
| C Seiten von: bis: | |
| C Markierung | 1 2 3 3 Sorberen |
| | |
| | OK Abbrechen |

Fig. 5.11: Create PDF Report by choosing a PDF printer, e.g. "Microsoft Print to PDF"

```
Huber Energietechnik AG
```

Hint: If there is an error message showing up during the printing process, there is possibly not enough virtual memory allocated in the system settings of windows.

The report consists of 2 pages. On the first page, initially the project description and the chosen representation image. As next, the most important data for the simulation is shown (incl. load profile). The temperature in the undisturbed earth refers to the average temperature over the whole borehole length before the simulation started.

On the second page the temperature trend of the borehole-inlet (entering the boreholes) is shown over the whole simulation period. The second image shows the borehole temperature in the borehole outlet (Source temp., red) and borehole return flow (Entrance in Borehole, blue) during the last year of the simulation.



Fig. 5.12: Report Printout on 2 pages (left: page 1, right: page 2).

Hint: The pictures on the second page only show up, if a picture in the sheet "Info" is imported (Button 5.5 or 5.6)

If the simulation period is set to 50 years (Enter in Field 10.15), the program checks the compliance with SIA Norm 384/6:2010 (or the base requirement R1 of the SIA Norm 384/6:2019) and displays the compliance with these norms in the header of the report. It must be pointed out, that for the compliance with these norms, a minimal uninterrupted-run-time (Field 10.7) of 1 day is necessary. By entering an own hourly demand load profile a correct verification of the norm is not possible.

Huber Energietechnik AG

6 ANNEX A: Description of the model

Extractions of the models in the EWS Program are given in the following. However, only the parts are shown which are required for the comprehension of the input parameters. A more complete model description can be found in [5], [6] and [9].

6.1 Simulation area

The vertical heat conduction close to the borehole (< 3m distance to the borehole) only has a marginal influence on the ground temperature in this area, when the borehole depth is more than 50 m. Therefore, for this area the calculations neglects the vertical heat conduction. As a consequence, the heat equation in cylindrical coordinates can be solved one-dimensionally for each layer. Thus, it is possible to define different layer properties. This allows to calculate the common case in which the ground consists of various layers with different properties.



The Crank-Nicholson-method is used for the simulation of the ground temperatures close to the boreholes (1.5 - 3m).

The averaged sole temperature of the corresponding layer is taken as an inner boundary condition. The sole is simulated unsteadily with an explicit time step procedure. Thus, it is possible to calculate the start-up behavior of the borehole.

The outer boundary condition is calculated with the dimensionless thermal response factor (g-functions, see 6.3.3). There is the option to choose between the methods of Carslaw & Jaeger [1] or the one of Eskilson [3]. The problem of the inconstant heat extraction rate and the regeneration of the earth can be solved by the superposition of an optional number of constant heat extraction rate extraction rates which start at different times.

The chosen method allows us to use different time steps within the program: The shortest time step is used for the unsteady calculation of the fluid, while the

Crank-Nicholson calculation in the simulation area is done with a larger time step. Even a time step of one week is sufficient for the calculation of the ground with the g-functions outside of the simulation area. The different time steps are plausible because of the following reasons: The smallest time step is needed close to the boreholes since temperature disturbances always come from the boreholes. Farther from the boreholes only averaged heat extractions or inputs are observed. The use of different time steps allows us to simulate the boreholes with less computing time (compared to other methods) and without a loss of accuracy.



6.1.1 The simulation of the time step

Basically, there are two operation modes for boreholes:

- Cooling of the borehole outlet temperature with a given heat extraction (Q_{Outlet}, [kW]) of a heat pump.
- Heating or cooling of the borehole to a given temperature (T_{Inlet}) during a process (e.g. use of the borehole for the cooling of a building).

The program EWS provides both operation modes. The iteration goes towards the extraction rate if the input parameter "heat extraction rate given" is set to "yes" (field 6.2). No intern iteration is done if "no" is selected in the field 6.2. In this case the borehole outlet temperature (T_{Outlet}) is calculated for a given borehole inlet temperature (T_{Inlet}). Therefore, the input of the borehole inlet temperature is necessary. The entered borehole inlet temperature is only used as a first approximation for the start of the iteration, if field 6.2 is set to "yes".

6.2 Calculation grid



The calculations are done in an axially symmetric grid. The ground is divided in the axial direction into equal segments of the length *dl*.

The grid is variable in the radial direction. The grid is defined by the grid factor f:

Grid Factor
$$f = \frac{r_{j+1} - r_j}{r_j - r_{j-1}}$$
 eq. 6.1

The grid can be calculated as given in eq. 6.2 to eq. 6.4 if the simulation area is set to the maximal calculation radius r_m , whereof m represents the number of calculation points in the radial direction:

Fig. 6.1: The simulation grid of the borehole.

$$r_0 = \frac{D_i}{2}$$
 eq. 6.2

$$r_{\rm l} = \frac{D_b}{2} = \frac{borehole_diameter}{2}$$
 eq. 6.3

for
$$j \ge 2$$
: $r_j = r_{j-1} + (r_m - r_1) \frac{1 - f}{1 - f^{m-1}} f^{j-2}$ eq. 6.4



A grid factor of 2 doubles the difference of the radius between two calculation volumes.

The mass balance point, which is important for the determination of the thermal resistance, can be calculated as showed below:

Def:
$$rz_j = \sqrt{\frac{(r_j^2 + r_{j-1}^2)}{2}}$$
 eq. 6.5

Fig. 6.2 The calculation grid of the borehole.

6.3 Heat Equation and the thermal response g

6.3.1 Heat Equation

For the following considerations, it is assumed that the dominant heat transport mechanism in the earth is the heat conductivity. Hence, the convective heat transport by water flows in the earth is negligible. The problem of the heat conductivity of the earth around a borehole is axially symmetric. The heat equation in radial direction around a borehole can be written in axial coordinates as:

$$\frac{1}{a} \cdot \frac{\partial T_{Earth}}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial^2 T_{Earth}}{\partial r^2} + \frac{1}{r} \cdot \frac{\partial T_{Earth}}{\partial r}$$
eq. 6.6

whereby the thermal diffusivity a is defined with

Def:
$$a = \frac{\lambda}{c p_{\text{Earth}} \cdot \rho_{\text{Earth}}}$$
 eq. 6.7

The heat equation is linear. Hence, single boreholes as well as borehole fields with geometric similarity, have similar thermal responses. The similarity is for the temperatures in the earth for all radiuses r around the boreholes and for all times t.

Thus, the heat extraction rate from a borehole causes a temperature drop ΔT_{Earth} in the earth around the borehole compared to the unaffected earth (= temperature funnel). This funnel grows radially with the ongoing extraction. The temperature drop ΔT_{Earth} can be made dimensionless by using the specific extraction rate \dot{q} and the heat conductivity λ_{Earth} .

Def:
$$g(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}) = \frac{\Delta T_{\text{Earth}}(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{t}) 2\pi \lambda_{\text{Earth}}}{\dot{q}}$$
 eq. 6.8

6.3.2 The radial temperature funnel

In the steady case the radial heat flow in the borehole close-up range is constant and the following equation can be used:

$$\frac{\dot{q}}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot r} = \frac{\partial T_{Earth}}{\partial r} \cdot \lambda_{Earth} = \frac{\partial g}{\partial r} \cdot \frac{\dot{q}}{2 \cdot \pi}$$
eq. 6.9

The integration from r to r_1 results in:

$$g(r) = g(r_1) - \ln\left(\frac{r}{r_1}\right)$$
 eq. 6.10

This relation allows us to estimate the temperature behavior of the borehole with a single thermal response. Additionally, if the thermal response g on the point r_1 is known, the thermal response g on point r can be concluded on. But please note that the assumption of the steady case can produce major deviations for small time steps.

6.3.3 The dimensionless thermal response g

Carslaw & Jaeger [1] solved the heat equation for infinite line sources analytically and found the following relation for g:

$$g = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left[-\gamma - \ln\left(\frac{r^2}{4 \cdot t \cdot a}\right) - \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\left(\frac{r^2}{4 \cdot a \cdot t}\right)^n}{n \cdot n!} \right] \cong \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left[\ln\left(\frac{4 \cdot t \cdot a}{r^2}\right) - \gamma \right]$$
eq. 6.11

in which γ =0.5772.. is the Euler constant.

Werner, A.; Bigler, R.; Niederhauser, A. et. al. [20] got an identical solution using an analogy from the water well equation. In the program EWS, eq. 6.11 is implemented. This equation can be used for an outer boundary condition of the simulation area as an alternative to the g-function by Eskilson.

The approach by Carslaw and Jaeger leads to a continuous growth of the temperature funnel since for an infinite line source neither the inflow of heat from the top nor from the bottom is possible (due to symmetrical reasons). No equilibrium condition can be reached with the approach by Carslaw and Jaeger. The University of Lund developed an approach for boreholes with a finite borehole length H. This, because shallow boreholes use primarily the heat which is stored in the earth through the surface.

According to Claesson and Eskilson [2] the boreholes have a time constant t_s , with which the temporal behavior of the ground around the borehole can be made dimensionless:

$$t_s = \frac{H^2}{9a}$$
 eq. 6.12

Thus, the dimensionless Eskilson number Es

$$Es = \frac{t}{t_s} = \frac{9a}{H^2}t$$
 eq. 6.13

can be treated as a dimensionless time for single boreholes and fields of boreholes. Further information on this topic can be found e.g. in Loose [21].

Especially for unbalanced, annual heat extraction balances the knowledge of the time constant t is fundamental. Until the time Es = 0.1 one must consider strong cooling or heating of the earth. After this only small temperature changes occur. The equilibrium condition between heat extraction and heat inflow from the surrounding earth is reached after approximately Es = 10.

For a single borehole such as for field of boreholes, the dimensionless thermal response g (= "g-function") by Eskilson (1987) is only a function of the dimensionless time Es and the dimensionless borehole distance r_b/H . This is based on the assumption of a constant, specific heat extraction rate per borehole length (\dot{q}).

For single boreholes within a range of $5r_1^2/a < t < t_s$ the g-function can be approached with a maximal deviation of 7% by

$$g(t, r_1) = \ln(\frac{H}{2r_1}) + 0.5 \ln(Es)$$
 eq. 6.14

For time periods longer than t_s , the single borehole converges to the following equilibrium condition:

$$g(r_1) = \ln(\frac{H}{2 \cdot r_1})$$
 eq. 6.15

As an example, the g-function of two boreholes with a distance B between the boreholes is shown in Fig. 6.3. As a comparison, the g-function of a single borehole is illustrated with a dashed line. Other thermal responses for borehole fields can be found in Fig. 6.4.



Fig. 6.3 The dimensionless thermal response g for 2 boreholes with a distance B by [3].

6.3.4 The comparison of the models

In Fig. 6.4 the approach by Carslaw & Jaeger for an infinitively deep borehole is compared to the approach by Eskilson for a borehole with a depth of 10m, 100m and 500m respectively. There is almost no deviation observed of the models until the time constant t_s is reached.



Fig. 6.4The dimensionless thermal response g by Carslaw & Jaeger [1] and Eskilson [3]Bed_EWS55_Eng.doc82Huber Energietechnik AG

6.4 The calculation of the g-function with the principle of superposition

Normally, each borehole in a field of boreholes is fed with a fluid of the same borehole inlet temperature by a manifold. Hence, the load is attached parallel to all boreholes. In this case the g-function of a borehole field can be approached by the superposition of various single boreholes. We do not have to think about a deviation for shorter time steps (unsteady effects) since the program EWS only uses the g-functions as an outer boundary condition which usually is calculated in time steps of one week. Thus, the accuracy of the steady equation is sufficient to approximate the influence of the borehole field on a single borehole x. The stationary equation 6.10 can thus be used to estimate the influence of a borehole x on borehole y with sufficient accuracy. The borehole distance A_{xy} between the borehole x and the borehole y is used instead of r_1 :

$$g_{x}(r) = g(r_{1}) - \ln\left(\frac{r}{r_{1}}\right) + \sum_{y=1}^{y=n/x \Leftrightarrow y} \left(g(r_{1}) - \ln\left(\frac{A_{xy}}{r_{1}}\right)\right)$$
eq. 6.16

With a parallel operation of the boreholes, the g-function of the whole borehole field can be calculated with the average value of all n boreholes:

$$g(\mathbf{r}) = g(\mathbf{r}_{1}) - \ln\left(\frac{r}{r_{1}}\right) + \frac{1}{n} \cdot \sum_{x=1}^{x=n} \left[\sum_{y=1}^{y=n/x < y} \left(g(\mathbf{r}_{1}) - \ln\left(\frac{A_{xy}}{r_{1}}\right)\right)\right]$$
eq. 6.17

6.5 The consideration of neighboring boreholes

In the Pro version of the program EWS there is the new possibility to consider neighboring boreholes. Hereby the program assumes that neighboring boreholes have the same thermal load as the boreholes of the present project, such as the same depth. Under these assumptions the g-function g(r) that considers neighboring boreholes becomes:

$$g(\mathbf{r}) = g(\mathbf{r}_1) - \ln\left(\frac{r}{r_1}\right) + \frac{1}{n-m} \cdot \sum_{x=1}^{x=n/x \neq Neighbor} \left[\sum_{y=1}^{y=n/x \Rightarrow y} \left(g(\mathbf{r}_1) - \ln\left(\frac{A_{xy}}{r_1}\right)\right)\right]$$
eq. 6.18

Where n is the total number of boreholes (project boreholes + neighboring boreholes) and m the amount of neighboring boreholes (that do not belong to the present project). This means the g-functions of the single boreholes under consideration of all the boreholes (Project boreholes and neighboring borehoes) is calculated like a large borehole field according to equations in chapter 6.4 and is then averaged for all boreholes of the present project.

This concept of consideration of neighboring boreholes is indeed quite simplifying. Yet experience often shows that neighboring boreholes are designed with the same criteria as the present project boreholes, due to the same norms and legal conditions serving as base for the design/dimensioning. The time sequence of the borehole projects leads to the fact that older projects do not anticipate the following projects and the borehole depth tends to be too low. Considering this, the results of eq. 6.18 lead to optimistic results. This equation is well suited for regional planning and for the calculation of future legal requirements for the consideration of neighboring boreholes over the property borders.

6.6 Geothermal heat flux and temperature gradient

The heat equation, written in form of the Fourier law, looks like the following, for the geothermal heat flux \dot{q}_{eeo} from the interior of the earth in stationary conditions:

$$\dot{q}_{geo} = \lambda \cdot \Delta T_{geo}$$
 [W/m²] eq. 6.19

Where ΔT_{geo} is the temperature gradient in the depth and λ is the thermal conductivity of the earth layer. In the outer earth crust in flat terrain and stationary condition the geothermal heat flux in the depth is approximately constant, but the temperature gradient fluctuates with the thermal conductivity of the stone layers. A higher thermal conductivity leads to a lower geothermal gradient. Groundwater flows and topography (mountains, valleys) can lead to \dot{q}_{geo} not being constant in the depth [14].

6.7 The borehole temperature T_b and the fluid temperature T_f

The thermal response ΔT has to be subtracted from the undisturbed earth temperature at the beginning T_m to get the temperature in the earth (principle of superposition). The temperature on the border of the borehole $T_{Earth}(r_1)$ (=borehole temperature T_b) can be calculated from g and T_m with:

$$T_b(z) = T_m(z) - R_g \cdot \dot{q} = T_m(z) - \frac{\dot{q}}{2 \pi \lambda_{Earth}} g(t, r_1)$$
 eq. 6.20

 T_m is the average earth temperature in the depth z under undisturbed conditions. This is calculated with the averaged, annual surface temperature of the earth T_{mo} and the temperature gradient ΔT_{Grad} .

The specific heat extraction rate \dot{q} is defined in the program EWS by the total heat extraction from the boreholes $\dot{Q}_{\text{Boreholes}}$, minus possible following heat fluxes from groundwater \dot{Q}_{GW} or the building influence $\dot{Q}_{\text{Building}}$, divided by the borehole depth H and the amount of boreholes n.

$$\dot{q} = \frac{\dot{Q}_{\text{sonden}} - \dot{Q}_{\text{GW}} - \dot{Q}_{\text{Building}}}{n \cdot H} \quad \text{eq. 6.21}$$

The influence of groundwater \dot{Q}_{GW} is calculated based on eq. 6.42.

The averaged, annual surface temperature is equal to the averaged air temperature plus a mean surface warming which usually is between 0.8 and 2°C. The temperature gradient ΔT_{Grad} typically ranges from 0.025 to 0.045 K/m in Switzerland.

The mean borehole temperature over the borehole depth $\overline{T_{_b}}\,$ is defined as

Def
$$\overline{T_b} = \frac{1}{H} \cdot \int_0^H T_b(z) \cdot dz$$
 eq. 6.22

In the case of a constant heat extraction rate per borehole length (\dot{q}) it is possible to calculate the mean borehole temperature over the borehole depth $\overline{T_{b}}$ with

$$\overline{T_b} = \overline{T_m} - R_g \cdot \dot{q} = \overline{T_m} - \frac{\dot{q}}{2\pi \lambda_{Earth}} g(t, r_1)$$
eq. 6.23

whereby

$$\overline{T_{m}} = T_{mo} - \Delta T_{Grad} \cdot \frac{H}{2}$$
 eq. 6.24

6.7.1 The fluid temperature T_f

The mean fluid temperature T_f is defined as the arithmetic mean of the upward and downward flowing borehole fluid.

Def:
$$T_f(z) = \frac{T_{up}(z) + T_{down}(z)}{2}$$
 eq. 6.25

Hence, the fluid temperature T_f is a function of the depth z in the borehole. The mean fluid temperature $\overline{T_{\ell}}$ is defined as

Def:
$$\overline{T_f} = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left(T_{Outlet} + T_{Inlet} \right)$$
 eq. 6.26

Thermal resistances Ra und Rb in the double-U-pipe 6.8

Fig. 6.5 The nomenclature on the double-U-pipe.

The eccentricity parameter b is defined by the pipe distance Bu ("shank spacing") (see Fig. 6.5). The geometrically maximal limit of the eccentricity b_{Max} is:

 $b = \frac{Bu}{2 \cdot r_1}$

eccentricity parameter b.

$$b_{Max} = \frac{2 \cdot r_1 - 2 \cdot r_s}{2 \cdot r_1} = 1 - \frac{r_s}{r_1}$$
 eq. 6.28

The geometrically minimal limit of the eccentricity (for a not centered borehole pipe) is:

$$b_{Min} = \frac{r_s}{r_1}$$
 eq. 6.29

The conductivity parameter σ is defined as a pure substance property by:

$$\sigma = \frac{\lambda_{Fill} - \lambda_{Earth}}{\lambda_{Fill} + \lambda_{Earth}}$$
 eq. 6.30

The intern thermal borehole resistance R_a [Km/W] is a characteristic value for the thermal losses Δq_i [W/m] (related to the length) of the upward flowing fluid to the downward flowing fluid. R_a is independent from the depth of the borehole:

Def:
$$R_a = \frac{T_{up}(z) - T_{down}(z)}{\Delta q_i(z)}$$
 eq. 6.31





eq. 6.27

the

An idealized double-U-pipe with the borehole radius r_1 and 4 borehole pipes (with an inner radius r_0 and an outer radius r_s) is shown in the picture on the left. In two borehole pipes the borehole fluid is flowing downward while in the other pipes the fluid flows upward. The heat conductivity of the filling is λ_{Fill} , the

one of the borehole λ_s and the surrounding earth's

heat conductivity is λ_{Earth} . The exact position of the 4 borehole pipes can be described with

The thermal borehole resistance R_b is defined by the mean fluid temperature T_f in the borehole and the borehole temperature T_b :

Def:
$$R_{b} = \frac{T_{b}(z) - T_{f}(z)}{\dot{q}}$$
 eq. 6.32

The borehole resistance R_b is independent from the borehole depth and consists of the resistance of the borehole filling R_c and the resistance of the heat transfer from the filling to the borehole fluid R_{α} :

$$R_{b} = R_{a} + R_{c}$$
 eq. 6.33

The resistance of the heat transfer R_{α} can be calculated for double-U-pipes with

$$R_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{8 \cdot \pi \cdot \alpha \cdot r_{o}}$$
 eq. 6.34

6.8.1 The internal borehole resistance R_a by Hellström [4]

According Hellström [4] (1991, P. 147, formula 9.149) the internal borehole resistance R_a for double-U-pipes with a symmetric configuration of the pipes can be calculated with:

$$\mathbf{R}_{a} = \frac{1}{\pi \cdot \lambda_{\text{Fill}}} \left[\ln \left(\frac{\sqrt{2} \cdot \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{1}}{\mathbf{r}_{o}} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \ln \left(\frac{2 \cdot \mathbf{b} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{1}}{\mathbf{r}_{o}} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \cdot \sigma \cdot \ln \left(\frac{1 - \mathbf{b}^{4}}{1 + \mathbf{b}^{4}} \right) \right] + \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \mathbf{r}_{o} \cdot \alpha} + \mathbf{R}_{s} \quad \text{eq. 6.35}$$

in which the thermal resistance R_s of the pipe wall is calculated with:

$$\mathbf{R}_{s} = \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \lambda_{s}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{s}}{\mathbf{r}_{o}}\right)$$
 eq. 6.36

6.8.2 The borehole resistance R_b by Hellström [4]

The borehole resistance for a double-U-pipe can be calculated by Hellström [4] (P. 89, eq. 8.69) with:

$$\mathbf{R}_{b} = \frac{1}{8 \cdot \pi \cdot \lambda_{Fill}} \cdot \left[\beta + \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{1}}{\mathbf{r}_{o}}\right) + \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{1}}{Bu}\right) + \sigma \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{1}^{4}}{\mathbf{r}_{1}^{4} - \frac{\mathbf{B}u^{4}}{\mathbf{16}}}\right) - \frac{\frac{\mathbf{r}_{o}^{2}}{Bu^{2}} \left[1 - \sigma \cdot \frac{\frac{1}{4}Bu^{4}}{(\mathbf{r}_{1}^{4} - \frac{\mathbf{B}u^{4}}{\mathbf{16}})\right]^{2}}{\left\{\frac{1 + \beta}{1 - \beta} + \frac{\mathbf{r}_{o}^{2}}{Bu^{2}} \left[1 + \sigma \cdot \frac{Bu^{4} \cdot \mathbf{r}_{1}^{4}}{\left(\mathbf{r}_{1}^{4} - \frac{\mathbf{B}u^{4}}{\mathbf{16}}\right)^{2}}\right]\right\}}\right]$$
eq. 6.37

and

$$\beta = 2 \cdot \pi \cdot \lambda_{\text{Fill}} \cdot \left[\mathbf{R}_{\alpha} + \mathbf{R}_{w} \right] = \lambda_{\text{Fill}} \cdot \left[\frac{1}{\mathbf{r}_{o} \cdot \alpha} + \frac{1}{\lambda_{s}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{s}}{\mathbf{r}_{o}}\right) \right]$$
eq. 6.38



6.9 Thermal resistances R_a / R_b of a coaxial borehole

Fig. 6.6 Nomenclature of a coaxial borehole.

Nomenclature of a coaxial borehole

The idealized coaxial borehole is shown in Fig. 6.6. The borehole with the borehole radius r_1 is colored in gray.

The filling has the heat conductivity λ_{Fill} , the inner borehole pipe λ_w , the outer borehole pipe λ_s and the earth λ_{Earth} .

The inner and the outer radiuses of the inner borehole pipe are r_i and r_a . The inner and the outer radiuses of the outer borehole pipe are r_o and r_s .

6.9.1 Modeling of the internal borehole resistance R_a

The definition of the internal borehole resistance R_a in eq. 6.31 is valid for the coaxial borehole, as well. Hence, the thermal resistance is the sum of the heat transfer resistances of the upward flowing fluid to the inner borehole pipe (1st term), of the thermal resistance of the inner borehole pipe (2nd term) and of the heat transfer resistance from the inner borehole pipe to the downward flowing fluid (3rd term):

$$\mathbf{R}_{a} = \left[\frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \mathbf{r}_{i} \cdot \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{i}} + \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \boldsymbol{\lambda}_{w}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{a}}{\mathbf{r}_{i}}\right) + \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \mathbf{r}_{a} \cdot \boldsymbol{\alpha}_{a}}\right]$$
eq. 6.39

6.9.2 Modeling of the borehole resistance R_b

In the case of a coaxial borehole, R_b is defined as the thermal resistance of the outer borehole fluid (normally the downward flowing fluid) to the wall of the borehole (at the radius r_1):

$$\mathbf{R}_{\mathrm{b}} = \left[\frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{o}} \cdot \mathbf{\alpha}_{\mathrm{o}}} + \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \lambda_{\mathrm{s}}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{s}}}{\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{o}}}\right) + \frac{1}{2 \cdot \pi \cdot \lambda_{\mathrm{Fill}}} \cdot \ln\left(\frac{\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{l}}}{\mathbf{r}_{\mathrm{s}}}\right)\right]$$
eq. 6.40

6.10 Heat load of groundwater flow

According to the Darcy-law the specific flow rate v_f (=Darcy speed) is the product of the hydraulic conductivity k_f and the pressure gradient *i* of the groundwater:

$$v_f = k_f \cdot i$$
 eq. 6.41

Assuming the flowing groundwater has the same temperature as the untouched ground layer it flows in, the delivered heat load by groundwater over the flow cross section A_{GW} out of the temperature funnel (cooling of ground temperature compared to untouched ground, due to the borehole) can be defined as:

$$\dot{Q}_{GW} = v_f \cdot A_{GW} \cdot cp_{Water} \cdot \rho_{Water} \cdot \Delta T$$
 eq. 6.42

6.11 The analytical borehole equation

6.11.1 The concept of thermal resistances

The concept of thermal resistances is based on a "steady" condition and postulates a linear relationship between the temperature gradient and the specific heat loss:

$$T_{User} - T_{Heatsource} \equiv \sum R \cdot \dot{q}$$
 eq. 6.43

The thermal resistance of the borehole heat exchanger systems can be split up as follows:



6.11.2 Thermal resistance R_f (evaporator)

In a steady condition, the heat balance of the evaporator and the earth can be written as:

$$(T_{Outlet} - T_{Inlet}) \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid} = \dot{Q}_{Vaporizer} = \dot{Q}_{Borehole} = H \cdot \dot{q}$$
 eq. 6.44

Considering eq. 6.26 the following equation for the **thermal resistance of the evaporator** R_f can be defined as:

$$T_{Outlet} = \overline{T}_f + \frac{H}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}} \dot{q} \equiv \overline{T}_f + R_f \cdot \dot{q} \qquad \text{eq. 6.45}$$

$$T_{Inlet} = \overline{T}_f - \frac{H}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}} \dot{q} \equiv \overline{T}_f - R_f \cdot \dot{q} \qquad \text{eq. 6.46}$$

6.11.3 Thermal resistance R_m (temperature loss along the borehole)

In the heat extraction case the highest average fluid temperature T_f is at the bottom of the borehole heat exchanger. During the transport of the fluid from the bottom of the borehole, the fluid yields a part of its heat energy to the downward flowing fluid and sometimes also to the upper earth layers. Assuming that there is a constant specific heat extraction rate for the entire borehole length \dot{q} (which is a reasonable assumption for most boreholes), the following relationship for the fluid temperature results [9]:

$$T_{up}(z) = T_{mo} + \Delta T_{Grad} \cdot \frac{H}{2} - \left[\frac{g(t,H)}{2\pi \lambda_{Earth}} + R_b + \frac{1}{R_a} \cdot \frac{\frac{H^2}{3} - z \cdot H + \frac{z^2}{2}}{\dot{m}^2 \cdot cp_{Fluid}^2} - \frac{H - z}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}} \right] \dot{q} \qquad \text{eq. 6.47}$$

$$T_{down}(z) = T_{mo} + \Delta T_{Grad} \cdot \frac{H}{2} - \left[\frac{g(t,H)}{2\pi \lambda_{Earth}} + R_b + \frac{1}{R_a} \cdot \frac{\frac{H^2}{3} - z \cdot H + \frac{z^2}{2}}{\dot{m}^2 \cdot cp_{Fluid}^2} + \frac{H - z}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}} \right] \dot{q} \qquad \text{eq. 6.48}$$



Fig. 6.8: Temperature profile of the fluid according to [9].

Thus, the **thermal transport resistance** R_m can be defined as:

$$T_f\left(z = \frac{H}{2}\right) - \overline{T}_f \equiv R_m \cdot \dot{q} = \left(\frac{1}{3 \cdot R_a} \cdot \frac{H^2}{\dot{m}^2 \cdot cp_{Fluid}}\right) \cdot \dot{q} \qquad \text{eq. 6.49}$$

6.11.4 Thermal resistance of the earth R_g

The thermal resistance of the earth R_g follows from the temperature difference between the borehole surface temperature and the temperature level of the undisturbed earth on the same depth. The definition of R_g follows from the definition of the g-function (eq. 6.8):

$$T_m - T_b = \Delta T(r = r_b, t) = \frac{\dot{q}}{2\pi\lambda} \cdot g(r_b, t) = R_g \cdot \dot{q}$$
 eq. 6.50

The particularity of the thermal resistance R_g is that it is a function of the time and that it is permanently increasing under a constant heat extraction rate (see chapter 6.3).

6.11.5 The analytical borehole equation

,

The analytical borehole equation follows from the combination of the different thermal resistances of the borehole and its surroundings:

$$T_{Outlet} = T_m - (R_g + R_b + R_m - R_f) \cdot \dot{q}$$
 eq. 6.51

$$T_{Inlet} = T_m - (R_g + R_b + R_m + R_f) \cdot \dot{q}$$
 eq. 6.52

Replacing T_m with eq. 6.24, R_g with eq. 6.50, R_m with eq. 6.49 and R_f with eq. 6.45 in the analytical borehole equation:

$$T_{Outlet} = T_{mo} + \Delta T_{Grad} \cdot \frac{H}{2} - \left[\frac{g(t, r_1)}{2\pi \lambda_{Earth}} + R_b + \frac{1}{3} \cdot \frac{1}{R_a} \cdot \frac{H^2}{\dot{m}^2 \cdot cp_{Fluid}}^2 - \frac{H}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}}\right] \dot{q} \quad \text{eq. 6.53}$$

and

$$T_{Inlet} = T_{mo} + \Delta T_{Grad} \cdot \frac{H}{2} - \left[\frac{g(t, r_1)}{2\pi \lambda_{Earth}} + R_b + \frac{1}{3} \cdot \frac{1}{R_a} \cdot \frac{H^2}{\dot{m}^2 \cdot cp_{Fluid}}^2 + \frac{H}{2 \cdot \dot{m} \cdot cp_{Fluid}}\right] \dot{q} \quad \text{eq. 6.54}$$



Fig. 6.9

Thermal resistance of a borehole heat exchanger.

The analytical borehole equation is suited perfectly as a tool to assess the dimension of a result or to check the plausibility of a result.

7 ANNEX B: Input of a particular g-function

7.1 Example 1: The input of a g-function by the values of the function

The g-function published by Eskilson [3] with 9 boreholes in a quadratic configuration (see Fig. 7.1) and B/H = 0.10 shall be entered as unique g function. The borehole length H is 100 m.



Fig. 7.1: Example of a published g-function (from [3]) and the reading of the function value on the supporting point ln(t/ts) = 2.

Select the last option in the field 1.11 which is "special input". Then, select "yes" in the fields 1.10 and 1.13. The function values of the g-function are read from the graph in Fig. 7.1 on the supporting points $\ln(t/ts) = -4$, -2, 0, +2, +3. The values are: $g[\ln(t/ts)=-4)] = 5.09$, $g[\ln(t/ts)=-2)] = 7.00$, $g[\ln(t/ts)=0)] = 10.86$, $g[\ln(t/ts)=+2)] = 14.68$, $g[\ln(t/ts)=+3)] = 14.91$. These function values are to be entered in the fields 1.15 to 1.19. The borehole distance must be adjusted in field 1.20 in a way that the B/H ratio in field 1.21 is equal to 0.1. This means that the input in field 1.20 must be 10m since the length of the borehole H is given (100m).

| 🏓 Eingabedatei | n EWS | | |
|---------------------------------|--|--|-------------|
| File In <u>p</u> ut <u>I</u> mp | oort Edition <u>W</u> indows I <u>n</u> fo | | |
| | | | |
| Input | foreholes 2Fluid 3Earth 4ktraction 5 Info | | |
| Calculation | Borehole configuration 1.7 Ou 1.1 32 mm double-U-pipe 18 W | ter pipe diameter [m] Il thickness of nine [m] | 0.0320 |
| Open | 1.2 Typ C coaxial © U-pipe 1.9 He | at conductivity of pipe [W/mK] | 0.40 |
| Save | 1.3 Number of boreholes 9 | | |
| Results | 1.4 Borehole depth 100.0 1.5 Borehole diameter 0.120 | | |
| | 1.6 Borehole distance 10.00 B/H eff: 0.100 1.6 | a | |
| | Dimensionless thermal response (g-function) | 1.14 | /b/H=0.0005 |
| | 1.10 Boundary conditions with g-functions © Yes C No | 1.15 In(t/ts) = -4 | 5.09 |
| | 1.11 g-function: Not defined | 1.16 in(t/ts) = -2 1.17 in(t/ts) = 0 | 7.00 |
| | Graph of g-function 1.12 Graph of g-function | 1.18 ln(t/ts) = +2 1.19 ln(t/ts) = +3 | 14.68 |
| | Input g-function 1.13 © Yes © No | 1.20 Borehole distance of g-function | 10.00 |
| Close | | 1.21 в/н | 0.100 |
| | | | |
| | Programm EWS, Lizenz für Huber | | |

Fig. 7.2: The sheet "Boreholes", example of a particular g-function for a 3 x 3 borehole field with a quadratic configuration and B/H = 0.10.

The entered g-function, respectively the spline-interpolation which is used by the program, can be checked visually and quantitatively by clicking on the field 1.12. It is necessary to adjust the B/H_{eff} ratio (field 1.6) to the B/H ratio of the g-function (field 1.20) if the B/H_{eff} ratio (field 1.6a) differs from the B/H ratio of the g-function (field 1.21). The g-function would be extrapolated from the B/H_{eff} ratio if the adjustment is not done. The graph of the entered g-function is showed in Fig. 7.3.



Fig. 7.3: The graph of the particularly entered g-function from Fig. 7.2.

The program EWS uses an automatically extrapolated g-function if the effective ratio B/H_{eff} (field 1.6a) differs from 0.1. This extrapolated g-function can be shown by clicking on the field 1.12. This means for the above example that if the effective borehole distance B is 8 m, this value has to be entered in the field 1.6. Hence, the effective B/H_{eff} ratio is 0.08. The extrapolated g-function (using the value in field 1.12) is shown in Fig. 7.4.



Fig. 7.4: The graph of the g-function in Fig. 7.2 extrapolated from $B/H_{eff} = 0.08$.

8 Table of symbols

8.1 Latin symbols

| а | thermal diffusivity | [m2/s] |
|-----------------------|---|-----------|
| Agw | flow cross section of the groundwater in the area of the boreholes | [m2] |
| b | eccentricity parameter of a double-U-pipe | [-] |
| В | distance between different boreholes | [m] |
| Bu | shank spacing between the pipes of the upward and the downward flowing fluid | [m] |
| CP Sole | specific heat capacity of the fluid | [J/(kgK)] |
| CP Wasser | specific heat capacity of the groundwater | [J/(kgK)] |
| Di | inner diameter of the borehole pipe | [m] |
| DimAxi | number of calculation nodes in axial direction | [-] |
| DimRad | number of calculation nodes in radial direction | [-] |
| Es | Eskilson number, dimensionless time | [-] |
| f | grid factor for the calculation grid in radial direction | [-] |
| g | g-function, dimensionless thermal response of the earth by Eskilson | [-] |
| Н | borehole length, borehole depth | [m] |
| i | pressure gradient of groundwater | [m/m] |
| k f | hydraulic conductivity = coefficient of permeability | [m/s] |
| 'n | mass flow rate, mass flow rate in the boreholes | [kg/s] |
| m | number of calculation nodes in the radial direction (=DimRad) | [-] |
| m | number of neighboring boreholes (do not belong to present project) | [-] |
| n | number of boreholes in a field of boreholes (including neighboring boreholes) | [-] |
| Nu | Nusselt number | [-] |
| Pr | Prandtl number | [-] |
| ∆p | pressure drop | [Pa] |
| ģ | specific heat extraction rate of the borehole per length | [W/m] |
| $\dot{q}_{ m geo}$ | natural, undisturbed geothermal heat flow | [W/m2] |
| Δq_i | heat loss of the upward flowing fluid to the downward flowing fluid | [W/m] |
| Ż | extraction rate, injection rate, power | [W] |
| $\dot{Q}_{_{GW}}$ | heat output of grouondwater flow | [W] |
| $\dot{Q}_{Building}$ | heat input into earth through building floor or earth poles | [W] |
| Re | Reynolds number | [-] |
| <i>r</i> ₀ | inner radius of the borehole pipe | [m] |
| rs | outer radius of the borehole pipe | [m] |
| <i>r</i> _i | inner radius of the inner coaxial borehole pipe | [m] |
| r _a | outer radius of the inner coaxial borehole pipe | [m] |
| ľ 1 | borehole radius | [m] |
| <i>r</i> _b | radial distance from the borehole axis (variable) | [m] |
| Rα | heat transfer resistance from the fluid to the wall of the borehole pipe | [Km/W] |
| Ra | internal borehole resistance (from the upward to the downward flowing fluid) | [Km/W] |
| Rb | thermal borehole resistance (from the fluid to the borehole radius) | [Km/W] |
| Rc | thermal borehole resistance (from the borehole pipe to the borehole radius), $R_c = R_b - R_{\alpha}$ | [Km/W] |
| R _d | thermal contact resistance (from borehole radius to the filling material) | [Km/W] |
| Rf | thermal resistance of the evaporator, ($T_{	ext{source}} - \overline{T_{_f}}$) / $\dot{m{q}}$ | [Km/W] |
| Rm | thermal transportation resistance in the fluid between the depth H/2 and the earth surface | [Km/W] |

| St | Stanton number | [-] |
|----------------------|--|-------|
| TRT | Thermal Response Test | |
| ta | period duration of the seasonal fluctuation(= 1 year = 8760 h * 3600 s/h) | [s] |
| $\Delta T(r)$ | cooling of the earth around a borehole, compared to untouched conditions | [K] |
| ΔT_{Grad} | vertical temperature gradient in the undisturbed earth | [K/m] |
| Tb | borehole temperature in the depth z (on the radius r_1) | [°C] |
| $\overline{T_{b}}$ | borehole temperature averaged over the borehole depth (on the radius $r_1) \\$ | [°C] |
| Tf | mean fluid temperature in the depth z | [°C] |
| $\overline{T_f}$ | averaged fluid temperature, $\frac{1}{2}$ ($T_{outlet} + T_{inlet}$) | [°C] |
| T _{down} | temperature of the downward flowing fluid in the depth z | [°C] |
| $\overline{T_{Air}}$ | longtime mean temperature of the outer air | [°C] |
| T _m | mean temperature of the undisturbed earth | [°C] |
| T _{mo} | averaged, annual temperature on the earth's surface | [°C] |
| Toutlet | outlet temperature (temperature of the out streaming borehole fluid) | [°C] |
| T _{inlet} | inlet temperature (temperature of the inflowing borehole fluid) | [°C] |
| T _{up} | temperature of the upward flowing fluid on the depth z | [°C] |
| ts | borehole time constant | [s] |
| V | flow velocity | [m/s] |
| Vf | Darcy-velocity = specific percolation = filter velocity | [m/s] |
| w | wall thickness of the inner pipe of a coaxial borehole $(r_a - r_i)$ | [m] |
| Z | depth in the earth, measured from the earth's surface | [m] |

8.2 Greek symbols

| α | heat transfer coefficient of the borehole fluid | [W/(m ³ K)] |
|--------------------------|---|------------------------|
| β | dimensionless thermal resistance from the borehole pipe to the fluid | [-] |
| ξ | dimensionless pressure loss coefficient (pipe friction number, often $\lambda)$ | [-] |
| γ | Euler constant, 0.5772 | [-] |
| V | kinematic viscosity of the borehole fluid | [m²/s] |
| λ_{Earth} | heat conductivity of the earth | [W/(mK)] |
| λ_{eff} | Heat conductivity of the earth with groundwater influence (from TRT) | [W/(mK)] |
| λ_{real} | Heat conductivity of the earth without groundwater influence | [W/(mK)] |
| λFill | heat conductivity of the borehole filling | [W/(mK)] |
| λisol | heat conductivity of the isolated borehole pipe | [W/(mK)] |
| λ_s | heat conductivity of the borehole pipe | [W/(mK)] |
| λω | heat conductivity of the inner pipe of a coaxial borehole | [W/(mK)] |
| hoWasser | groundwater density | [kg/m³] |
| σ | conductivity parameter of the borehole filling | [-] |

9 Literature

- [1] Carslaw, H.S.; Jaeger, J.C. (1959): Conduction of heat in solids. 2nd ed., Oxford Univers. Press, London.
- [2] Claesson, J.; Eskilson, P. (1987): Conductive Heat Extraction by a Deep Borehole. Analytical Studies. Dep. of Mathematical Physics, University of Lund.
- [3] Eskilson, P. (1987): Thermal Analysis of Heat Extraction Boreholes. Department of Mathematical Physics, Lund Institute of Technology, Lund, Sweden. ISBN 91-7900-298-6
- [4] Hellström, G. (1991): Ground Heat Storage. Thermal Analyses of Duct Storage Systems. Theory. Dep. of Mathematical Physics, University of Lund, Sweden. ISBN 91-628-0290-9
- [5] Huber, A.; Schuler, O. (1997): Berechnungsmodul für Erdwärmesonden. Forschungsprogramm Umgebungs- und Abwärme, Wärmekraftkopplung. Bundesamt für Energie, Bern. www.hetag.ch.
- [6] Huber, A.; Pahud, D. (1999b): Erweiterung des Programms EWS für Erdwärmesondenfelder. Schlussbericht. Bundesamt für Energie (BFE), Bern. www.hetag.ch.
- [7] Huber, A. (1999): Hydraulische Auslegung von Erdwärmesondenkreisläufen. Schlussbericht. Bundesamt für Energie (BFE), Bern. <u>www.hetag.ch</u>.
- [8] Huber, A.; Good, J.; Widmer, P.; Nussbaumer, T.; Trüssel, D.; Schmid, C. (2001): Gekoppelte Kälte- und Wärmeerzeugung mit Erdwärmesonden. Bundesamt für Energie (BFE), Bern. <u>www.hetag.ch</u>.
- [9] Huber, A. (2005): Erdwärmesonden für Direktheizung. Phase 1: Modellbildung und Simulation. Schlussbericht. Bundesamt für Energie (BFE), Bern. www.hetag.ch.
- [10] Huber, A.; Stalder, M. (2020): Rechenmethode WPesti. Handbuch mit Beispielen Version 8.3. EWZ / Energieinstitut Vorarlberg / AWEL / FWS / Verein MINERGIE. www.endk.ch und www.hetag.ch.
- [11] Huber, A. (2006): **Planung von gekoppelten Kälte- und Wärme-Erzeugungsanlagen mit Erdwärmesonden.** Weiterbildungskurs 235, Hochschule für Technik+Architektur, Luzern. www.hetag.ch.
- [12] Huber, A.; Ochs, M. (2007): Hydraulische Auslegung von Erdwärmesondenkreisläufen mit der Software "EWSDruck" Vers.
 2.0. Bundesamt für Energie, Bern. www.hetag.ch.
- [13] Huber, A. (2010): Forschungsprojekt Erdsondenoptimierung: Einfluss der Sondenhinterfüllung. Bundesamt für Energie (BFE), Bern. www.hetag.ch.
- [14] Huber, A. (2014): Bodentemperaturen und geothermischer Wärmefluss in der Schweiz. Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich, www.hetag.ch.
- [15] Huber, A.; Eberle, S.; Chamberlin, M. (2018): Saisonspeicherung von Sonnenenergie in einem Erdwärmesondenfeld. Schlussbericht zum Pilotprojekt. Kanton Zürich, Baudirektion, AWEL (<u>www.zh.ch</u>) und Huber Energietechnik AG, Zürich, <u>www.hetag.ch</u>
- [16] Leu, W.; Keller, G.; Mégel, Th.; Schärli, U.; Rybach, L. (1999): Programm SwEWS-99. Berechnungsprogramm für geothermische Eigenschaften der Schweizer Molasse (0-500m). Schlussbericht. Bundesamt für Energie, Bern.
- [17] Leu, W.; Keller, G.; Matter, A.; Schärli, U.; Rybach, L. (1999): Geothermische Eigenschaften Schweizer Molassebecken (Tiefenbereich 0-500m). Bundesamt für Energie, Bern.
- [18] Merker, G. (1987): Konvektive Wärmeübertragung. Springer-Verlag.
- [19] Remund, J.; Kunz, S.; Schilter, Ch. (2008): METEONORM, Version 6.0. Handbook Part I: Software. Software version 6.1 of December 15th 2008. METEOTEST, Fabrikstrasse 14, CH-3012 Bern, Switzerland.
- [20] Werner, A.; Bigler, R.; Niederhauser, A. et. al. (1996): Grundlagen f
 ür die Nutzung von W
 ärme aus Boden und Grundwasser im Kanton Bern. Thermoprogramm Erdw
 ärmesonden, Burgdorf. Schlussbericht. Wasser- und Energiewirtschaftsamt des Kt. Bern (WEA).
- [21] Schärli, U.; Rohner, E.; Signorelli, S.; Wagner, R. (2007): Thermische Leitfähigkeit: Eichung von in-situ Messungen (d.h. "kabellose Temperatursonde") mit Laborbestimmungen als Grundlage für die geothermische Kartierung des Kanton ZH und der umliegenden Kantone. Bundesamt für Energie, Bern.
- [22] Loose, P. (2009): Erdwärmenutzung. Versorgungstechnische Planung und Berechnung. 3. überarbeitete Auflage. ISBN 978-3-7880-7831-7.
- [23] Norm SIA 384/6 (2010): Erdwärmesonden. SIA Zürich.
- [24] Norm SIA 384/6 (2021): Erdwärmesonden. SIA Zürich.
- [25] Stober, I.; Bucher, K. (2020): Geothermie. 3. Auflage. Springer-Verlag GmbH. ISBN 978-3-662-60939-2.
- [26] Koenigsdorff, R. (2011): Oberflächennahe Geothermie für Gebäude. Grundlagen und Anwendungen zukunftsfähiger Heizung und Kühlung. Fraunhofer IRB Verlag. ISBN 978-3-8167-8271-1.
- [27] Vela Solaris AG (2019): Polysun Software. Benutzerhandbuch. www.velasolaris.com
- [28] Wagner, R. (2021): Erdwärmesonden. Theorie, Planung, Ausführung. Faktor Verlag, Zürich.